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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

To Shareholders,

| hereby present to you the report of annual results of China
Merchants Land Limited (“China Merchants Land” or the
“Company”, Stock Code: 00978) and its subsidiaries (together as the
“Group” or “We") for the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the period under review, turnover of the Group
increased by approximately 63% over last year to approximately
RMB19,453,295,000, and profit attributable to the owners of
the parent company rose by approximately 48% over last year
to approximately RMB1,794,470,000. Profit attributable to the
shareholders per share was approximately RMB36.58 cents (2018:
RMB24.79 cents). The Group continues to maintain steady increase
in cash return for the shareholders. The Board proposes payment of
final dividends for the year ended 31 December 2019 of HK$0.14 per
share.

Not only did the year of 2019 representing the 70th anniversary of
the founding of the new China, but also a critical year of building
a well-off society in an all-round way. The PRC has transformed
from a country of poverty to the world’s second largest economy.
Through integration of the nation’s strength, the country has made an
impressive historical step.

But at the moment, China’s economy is also undergoing a sea change:
uncertainties such as the US-China trade dispute and the Brexit
continue to plague global markets. China’s real estate sector, which is
closely related to the macro economy, is facing unpredictable changes
in the external environment, resulting in increased downward pressure
on the internal economy, tightening of the financing environment
and cooling of the land market. During the period under review, new
home prices in the 100 cities (China Residential House Price Index (HPI-
100)) continued to rise in a low range.

2019 was a key year to our development. As the era of China’s
real estate stock trading bringing prosperous prospect and growth
potential to the asset management business, we had continued the
promotion and implementation of our strategic transformation.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE

We had further amended and restated non-competition deed
with China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd.
("CMSK™), our controlling shareholder, to synergize with CMSK and
its heavy asset development business, to improve the operating results
of the properties held in Beijing and Shanghai with our professional
asset management capability, as well as to obtain stable management
fee income from real estate management related business. Besides,
we are allowed to involve in qualified development projects through
minority investment so as to enjoy high return from investment.

In addition, the successful listing on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) of the
China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“CMC
REIT”), of which China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(“CMLAM" or the “REIT Manager”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
China Merchants Land, in December 2019, has enabled us to take
an important step forward in developing our light asset real estate
business. Backed by CMSK's extensive property and land reserves,
China Merchants Land’s specialized property finance and asset
management businesses will be able to rapidly replicate and develop
to unlock significant growth potential.

Property Development

During the year under review, we had seized the right time to grasp
the opportunities brought by industry integration and adjustment,
which showcased our outstanding marketing capability albeit
downward situation. In 2019, the aggregate contracted sales amount
of the Group was approximately RMB37,633,312,000, while the
aggregate contracted sales area was approximately 2,116,012 sq.m.,
representing increases of approximately 9% and approximately 21%
as compared to those of 2018, respectively. Moreover, we had made
our first ever extension to the large scale residential development
project in Hong Kong during the period, and, by partnering with the
developers in Hong Kong, won the bid for the development right of
the Tseung Kwan O project. To achieve the sustainable and qualified
growth, we will continue to strengthen our ability to implement the
project in various aspects including progress, quality, safety, customer
services, costs and marketing, etc.

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

Land Bank

We actively responded to city-specific policies, and conducted
appropriate expansion of our business scale in other cities with sound
investment strategies and deepened collaborative development. During
the year under review, we continued to focus on and develop the
cities with high quality and newly acquired 10 pieces of land with a
total capacity area of approximately 1,479,667 sq.m. at a total land
cost of approximately RMB11,955,620,000. As at 31 December 2019,
the Group had land bank of approximately 5,954,429 sg.m. The
management believes that the existing land bank is sufficient to fulfill
the needs of the Company s project development for the next 3 years.

Capital and Finance

China Merchants Land robust capital structure is conducive to our
resilience to economic cycles. At the end of 2019, our net gearing ratio
was approximately 43%, which is at a healthy level in the property
industry. The bank balances and cash amounted to approximately
RMB8,957,799,000 and the balance of the interest-bearing
debts excluding lease liabilities was amounted to approximately
RMB21,961,032,000. The weighted average cost of the capital was
approximately 4.99% of the annualised interest rate in 2019. At
the same time, the Group placed great efforts in improving the cash
collection of sales proceeds, hence achieving an annual cash collection
of sales proceeds of approximately RMB34,049,904,000 and a cash
collection rate of approximately 90.3%. The capital turnover remains
stable and safe. In respect of management of foreign exchange risks,
we will closely monitor the changes in foreign exchange market, so as
to make swift response.

Outlook and Prospect

Looking forward to the year of 2020, although the Sino-U.S. trade
conflict has temporarily cooled down due to the agreement on the
"phase one” trade deal between the two countries, the global wave
of interest rate cuts has reflected a further uncertainty in the outlook
of the economic development of the world. The central government
will follow out the overall principle of seeking progress while ensuring
stability by implementing proactive fiscal policies and prudent
monetary policies and maintaining a good balance between short-
term growth and long-term development, so as to achieve steady
growth, make structural adjustments, improve people’s livelihood,
promote reform and avert risks. In terms of real estate control policies,
the central government will continue to insist on not considering real
estate as a short-term measures to stimulate the economy. At the
same time, the government will moderately maintain the room and
flexibility for improvement of monetary policies in accordance with the
basic principle of city-specific policies, maximizing the countercyclical
adjustments in its macroeconomic policy. In this context, the real
estate market is expected to achieve stable performance despite
adversity in 2020.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE

In January 2020, the epidemic has spread across the world and all
sectors are affected. We carefully address the current situation of
the epidemic of novel coronavirus to reduce the risks relating to our
business operations and continue to adopt precautionary measures
to protect the safety of all the staff members and working partners
as necessary. While ensuring a high degree of business continuity, we
strive to support the community in fighting the epidemic and ride out
the storm together. We sincerely hope that the epidemic will soon be
over.

We have been taking the responsibilities of implementing the
Group’s overseas strategy, seeking overseas development and
achieving industrial synergy. We will maintain stable and cautious
financial strategies and optimise our financial structure. Adhering
to the principle of “sustained intensive engagement and innovative
development”, we will seize opportunities of shifting from production
to stocking up in terms of the real estate market and promote the
strategic transformation of the Group proactively. We will fully
capitalise on the advantages of overseas listing to explore a larger
market, and always use our best endeavors to create values for
shareholders.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express our
sincere gratitude to all of our dedicated staff for their diligence and
contribution, as well as our shareholders and business partners for
their endless support and confidence in the Group.

XU Yongjun
Chairman
27 March 2020
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEAEBE

The Directors’ updated information is set out below, save as disclosed
below, there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among the Directors. The change of directors’
information pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) since the Company’s last published interim report is
set out in the section “Change of Information relating to Directors”:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. XU Yongjun, aged 56, non-executive director of the Company,
the chairman of the Board and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. XU joined China Merchants Logistics Holdings Co., Ltd.” since
May 2001 and held various positions as chief marketing director,
deputy general manager, executive deputy general manager and
general manager until January 2016. On 30 December 2015, he was
appointed as the director and general manager of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK"), an intermediate
controlling shareholder of the Company, and is currently being the
chairman of the Board of CMSK.

Mr. XU graduated from Fuyang Normal University" in Anhui province
in July 1984. He graduated from Applied Chemistry Department of
Northwest Institute of Light Industry” (currently renamed as Shanxi
University of Science & Technology®) with a Master’s Degree in
Engineering in November 1987.

Mr. HUANG Junlong, aged 54, non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. HUANG is currently the chief financial officer of CMSK. He joined
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone" as deputy supervisor of the
finance department in 1988 and holds various positions as deputy
in charge of finance department of China Merchants Group®, chief
financial officer of China Merchants Logistics Group Co., Ltd.", chief
financial officer of China Merchants Port Service Co., Ltd", chief
financial officer of Shenzhen China Merchants Petrochemical Co.,
Ltd.” and the financial controller of finance department of China
Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone™.

*  For identification purpose only

EZVRHENER T - B IXHEEN EE2
MBEEN T - 255 - RIRREMER HEBE - &
ANABREHEZFRRER  REESBSHAR S
BRATES EMARA(I EmARA])FE13.51B1KE
FEEREHHEN [FREFEN &8 | —&

FHUTES
HRERE  BFES6HR R-E-AF=A+N\H
BETAFAANFHTES EFREHERFDAR
EERRER -

FEER_ZEE—FRANMABERYRERBRA
RIFEETISAE « BlAKE - FEIIREERAEE
BT RNF-A -RZT—HF+-_A=+HEZ
EARARMEEERRRBE DD TERIERRKRN
ERAB([HREKD ) 2ESEREKE BARRK
AZ&EER-

FEER-N\OFLAEERLRYE RGBS
B —hANEF T+ ARALETEERRERS
PREARHX AR ) BB EE - TR -

BEHESRLE  RESAm R_FT-ARE=ATN\H
BEERRAFIFFATEERARAFMEE SN
g .

BARERABEARAZMBEE - BR— N/ \F
ABEREATXREBRV B EME - RREER
FREEMGAEAE ARRYREEBER QAR
BHRE - HMEEBRNERARMBRAE - FIIHER
AEBERARMBRERFBHBEN TXEY KA

BE o
o

* (EHES

“ENFFR BEAREHERAR

9



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EEREHREEAEEBE

He was appointed as a non-executive director and the chairman of
the Board of the REIT Manager of the China Merchants Commercial
Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock Code: 1503), which is listed on the
Stock Exchange, since 11 July 2019.

In July 1988, Mr. HUANG graduated from Changsha Institute of
Communications” with a Bachelor’s Degree in Finance and Accounting
Profession. He graduated from China Europe International Business
School” with a Master of Business Administration Degree in September
2008.

Ms. LIU Ning, aged 51, non-executive Director appointed on 2 June
2012. Ms. LIU is a member of the audit committee of the Board.

Ms. Liu has over 16 years experience in the securities industry and has
been the secretary of the board of directors of CMSK since December
2015. She was appointed as the representative of securities affairs
of China Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd (“"CMPD") (a
company merged with CMSK in December 2016) in October 2001,
and the head of the secretariat of the board of directors of CMPD
in July 2004, and the secretary of the board of directors of CMPD
from 2008 to 2015. Ms. Liu has been a member of the 9th Listing
Committee of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from September 2016
to September 2018 and a pre-vetting specialist for the 2nd Corporate
Bond Listing of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from May 2017 to May
2019. She has been appointed as a non-executive director of the REIT
Manager of the China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment
Trust (Stock Code: 1503), which is listed on the Stock Exchange,
since 11 July 2019. For relationship between the Company and CMC
REIT, please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report.

Ms. Liu obtained her MBA degree from the Macau University of
Science and Technology after completing her postgraduate studies
in Business Administration at the School of International Business,
Nankai University in 2000.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEAEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. SO Shu Fai, aged 68, executive Director and chairman of the
executive committee appointed on 11 December 2010 and was
elected chairman of the Company on 31 December 2010. Dr. SO
resigned from his position as the chairman of the Board and his
board committee position on 23 June 2012 and remains an executive
Director.

Dr. SO is the vice-chairman, an executive director and CEO of SIM
Holdings Limited, which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He is a
director of Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A. which is listed on Euronext Lisbon
and the chairman of the board of directors of MACAUPORT -
Sociedade de Administracdo de Portos, S.A.

Dr. SO was a member of the 9th, 10th, 11th and 12th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
("CPPCC"). He is presently the honorary consul of the Republic of
Portugal in the Hong Kong SAR and a consultant of the Economic
Development Council of the Macau SAR Government. Dr. SO is the
president of Clube Militar de Macau, a member of the board of
directors of The University of Hong Kong Foundation for Educational
Development and Research, as well as a member of the 10th National
Committee of China Federation of Literary and Arts Circles.

Dr. SO was awarded the Honorary University Fellowship by The
University of Hong Kong in 2005, the Medal of Merit — Culture by the
Macau SAR Government in 2009 and the Doctor of Social Sciences
honoris causa by the University of Macau in 2012. He was conferred
as Commendador Order of Merit by the Portuguese Government in
2014.

Dr. SO is a Chartered Secretary and a Fellow member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators. He is a fellow member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. He graduated with a Bachelor of Science
Degree from The University of Hong Kong in 1973, and received a
Doctoral Degree in Management Studies from IMC/Southern Cross
University in 2001.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EEREHREEAEEBE

Mr. YU Zhiliang, aged 41, joined the Company as an executive
Director since 2 June 2012. He served as a general manager of the
Company since 18 August 2016. He was the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer during the period from 29 June 2012 to 17 August
2016. Mr. YU has served as a director of Champion Apex Limited since
January 2013 and a director of Harvest Allied Investments Limited
since April 2013. Mr. YU is responsible for strategic development, and
to facilitate and implement the operational plans of the Group.

Mr. YU has served as the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd.” (B B E (EF) R A ) and
Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd." (42 & A B 5%
EE R BR AT since 2010. Mr. YU is a director of certain
major subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed
as a non-executive Director of the REIT Manager of the China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock
Code: 1503), which is listed on the Stock Exchange, since 11 July
2019. For relationship between the Company and CMC REIT, please
refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in
this annual report.

He obtains a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting from Xiamen University”
(FEF9K2) and obtains an MBA Degree with a concentration in
finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. YU is an
accountant of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Mr. WONG King Yuen, aged 52, executive director of the Company
appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. WONG has over 20 years of experience in real estate industry. He
served as assistant property manager in property agency department
in China Merchants Properties Development Limited in February 1995
and subsequently he was promoted as deputy manager, manager,
deputy general manager and the current position of director and
general manager. From January 1999, he acted as general manager
assistant in China Merchants Property Agency Limited and later he
was promoted to the position of deputy general manager and the
current position of director and general manager. From September
2001 to December 2002, he served as director and general manager
in China Merchants Property Management (Hong Kong) Limited and
from September 2017, he also acted as director and general manager
in China Merchants Property Management (Overseas) Limited.

Mr. WONG graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration (Honours) majoring in
finance in November 1990. He obtained a Master’s Degree of Science
in real estate from the University of Hong Kong in December 2006. In
1999, he obtained estate agents license (individual) from Hong Kong
Estate Agents Authority. In 2010, he was awarded the membership of
Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEAEBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, aged 68, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. WONG is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Dr. WONG currently holds the following
positions in other listed companies:

e independent non-executive director of China VAST Industrial
Urban Development Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6166);

e independent non-executive director of APAC Resources Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1104);

e independent non-executive director of Solargiga Energy Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
7STE

e independent non-executive director of China Wan Tong Yuan
(Holdings) Limited, (its shares have transferred of listing from
GEM to main board with stock code 6966 since 17 December
2019);

e  independent non-executive director of Capital Finance Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
8239);

e independent non-executive director of China Medical &
HealthCare Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 383); and

e independent non-executive director of Dexin China Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 2019).

In addition, Dr. WONG served as the managing director of Charise
Financial Planning Limited, a private professional consulting firm in
Hong Kong since October 2005 to 2 January 2014 and served as
Principal Consultant of KND & Co., CPA Limited, a private professional
auditing firm in Hong Kong since 2 January 2014 to 2017. Dr. WONG
was appointed as the Principal Consultant by KND Associates CPA
Limited, Hong Kong on 2 January 2018. Dr. WONG was elected or
admitted:

e a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in September 2002;

e 3 fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries in
February 2002;
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EEREHREEAEEBE

e afellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in January 1999;

e a member of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute
in November 2012;

e 3 fellow member of Association of International Accountants in
September 2005;

e afellow member of The Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Ireland in August 2000;

e amember of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in May 2002;
and

e 3 Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong for the year 2013 by the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Dr. WONG received a Doctoral Degree in Business Administration
from Bulacan State University, Republic of the Philippines in December
2010 and a Bachelor’s Degree in commerce from a joint program held
by Shenzhen University and Clayton University, Missouri, USA in May
1990. He also received a Bachelor’s Degree and a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from Nottingham Trent University, UK in
December 2005 and December 2007, respectively.

Ms. CHEN Yanping, aged 61, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012.

Ms. CHEN had attended a “China Management Training Program”
in University of California, Los Angeles from November 2003 to
November 2004. Ms. CHEN received a Bachelor’s Degree and a
Master’s Degree in urban planning profession from the Faculty of
Architecture of Tongji University in January 1982 and November 1984,
respectively. Ms. CHEN was qualified as a senior engineer in December
1993 and subsequently qualified as a registered planner of the PRC in
October 2000.

Ms. CHEN had been an independent director of CMPD from
October 2007 to November 2011. Ms. CHEN is the chairlady of the
remuneration committee and a member of the nomination committee
of the Company. Ms. CHEN is a professor of Architecture and Urban
Planning School in Shenzhen University from December 2000.

14  CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

s —NNANF-ABRRTEBBES

B4 & =} 5
SEREE

ERERBEFM

KREZE

il AH

——F+—HABE

% ||

\
A

« CTERFAAERAOREHHASERE
E .

. TR \ARBRAEEREMeHHHE
ZREE

AN
==

EE_FHAARBERRERFHFRER

m o
el

s T C-HFREREFEVBREEERBTBEIMURY
EhER

FETRZE-TF+_ANFREBELYHR T KRE
ESInERBTE2MUER—NANEER AR
KB K B 2% B Clayton UniversityB & T8 B 515 2
TE - FHDBR —_EEAF+ AR TTLF
+ = A& % ENottingham Trent University T &
BEA BN RIBTEA] -

BRESEZLT WF6Im EZZE—ZFAZHAM
ARRBBBILIERNITES -

Bzt E —_TE=F+—AE_TTNF+—AZR
DN ARE SRR EEPRERELEEE] - 5%

DR =N ZF—AR—NN\HF+— AEBRE
ARBREZPMREEXE T ML - LR
—NMN=ZF T ARSHIRMER  RER-ZT
TE+ARPEEMREEMELR o

H-ZTEF+AZ_T——F+—H BRLLAR
BHEBVES - MALA/ERAFMEZESERER
REZEENE - RETB _ZETZF+_ARAK/R
YIR B2 EEER TR BB HUX -



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEAEBE

Dr. SHI Xinping, aged 61, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. SHI had been an
independent director of CMPD from July 2001 to October 2007.
Dr. SHI'is a member of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company.

Dr. SHI was an associate professor of the Department of Finance and
Decision Sciences in Hong Kong Baptist University before retirement.
He is also an independent non-executive director of Renewable Energy
Trade Board Corporation (formerly known as “China Technology
Development Group Corporation”), a company listed on Nasdag.

Dr. SHI received a Bachelor’s Degree from North-western Polytechnic
University in July 1982, an MBA Degree from Lancaster University, UK
in December 1990 and a PhD Degree from Middlesex University, UK in
July 1995.

Mr. HE Qi, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 1 November 2013. Mr. HE currently is
an independent non-executive director of China Evergrande Group,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3333) since 14
October 2009. Since 10 September 2014, Mr. HE has been serving
as the independent non-executive director of Orient Victory Travel
Group Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock code: 265), and also the secretary of the Distribution Services
and Leasing Committee of the China Real Estate Association. Mr. He
had been serving as the deputy secretary of the China Real Estate
Association until June 2016. He was an executive of the Development
Centre of the China Real Estate Association from 1995 to 1999.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEkEREERAEERE

CHANGE OF INFORMATION RELATING TO TRESERZEH

DIRECTORS

Changes in directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuantto  RI% EfARBIE13.51BMEREETFTHREEHES
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below: ERES) 2 EREEEHT| T ¢

Name of director

EEns

Details of change

SEFE

Mr. Xu Yongjun
FFKESSELE

Mr. Huang Junlong
"R E

Ms. LIU Ning
FEL L

Mr. YU Zhiliang
RERKE

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert
FoxEBE+

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from &ARAG{EL EREEHTEEEER  BARE]
Directors, save as otherwise set out in this Report, there are no  ZEHFAEFIIESN - BARRA B HE TEE 2 hERE%R

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. XU was appointed as chairman of the
Board of CMSK, and no longer act as General Manager of CMSK.
HE_Z-NET_A=1T—HLLFE HFEEEZERBERAZESRATIBEERES
I M2 HARTE o

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. HUANG was appointed as non-executive
director and chairman of REIT Manager of CMC REIT (listed on the Stock Exchange with
Stock Code:1503).

BHE_Z-NF+A=1+T—BHLFE SEEREZERERARETEES(RERM L
M RS : 1503) Bt EBANZIERNTESRER ©

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Ms. LIU was appointed as Non-Executive
Director of REIT Manager of CMC REIT (listed on the Stock Exchange with Stock
Code:1503).

HE_Z-NF+A=1+—BHLFE Bt BEZEREAREREES (RBRM L
M RS - 1503)BrE BB AZ JENITES -

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. YU received annual emoluments
of RMB2,279,201 which were determined by reference to his experience and
responsibilities, the Company’s performance and remuneration policy and the prevailing
market conditions. He was appointed as non-executive director of REIT Manager of CMC
REIT (listed on the Stock Exchange with Stock Code:1503).
BE-Z-NFT_A=T"HILFE  RELUBMFEMHS ARKE2,279,2017T - BFE
e HE2ER2EBRBE AR ZRARFWBEURRITIAMEE © #KIFE
ZERBEBRERER(RERM LT » BHAR - 1503)FABEAZIFRITES -

During the year ended 31 December 2019, China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited, in
which Dr. Wong acts as an independent non-executive director, has completed transfer of
listing from GEM to the main board of the Stock Exchange with new stock code 6966.
HE_Z-NF+-_A=+—HUEFE IBIEEBIIFVTESCHRERE(F
B BR A E 2 IR 1D 7oK B3 Bl AR 8RB X T ERENE - FTAR( R 5% 526966 °

L1

other changes in the directors’ information required to be disclosed — #i#EiRIE FMEBIE13.51B)EBETHREABES
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the Company’s &k} 7 H fib 5

last published interim report.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEAEBE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Zhang Tao, aged 51, is responsible for managing real estate
development projects.

Mr. Zhang joined of CMPD Operation Management Center as deputy
general manager in December 2012, and later became general
manager of Dalian Company in March 2013, general manager of
Qingdao Company in January 2015, and general manager of Sunan
Company in March 2016. Since 2019, Mr. Zhang has been the Deputy
General Manager (in charge of work) of Jiangnan Region (south of
the Yangtze River) and the General Manager of Sunan Company and
Nanjing Company.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Changchun Institute of Technology in July
1990 and Peking University in July 2000 with a master’s degree in
political economics.

Mr. HUANG Qinghao, aged 44, is responsible for the management
of property development projects.

Mr. HUANG joined the Construction Management Center of CMPD in
May 2005 as a structural engineer and was subsequently redesignated
to Foshan Company in February 2008. He initially served as a manager
of design and engineering department and was subsequently
promoted as general manager assistant and deputy general manager.
In January 2014, he was promoted as the general manager of Foshan
Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. HUANG worked in Shenzhen General
Institute of Architectural Design & Research Third Institute (R
FREARETIFE 48T = 3F) from October 2001 and October 2003 as a
structural engineer. From October 2003 to May 2005, Mr. HUANG
worked in Arch Engineers Design Co. Ltd" (Z%= T2t 7)) as a
structural engineer.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Central South University” and was
awarded a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial and Civil Construction in
June 1997. Mr. HUANG was qualified as an engineer in September
2001 and subsequently was qualified as a first-class qualified structural
engineer in October 2005. He was awarded a Master's Degree in Civil
Engineering Profession from Shenzhen University” in June 2006 and
qualified as an architectural construction senior engineer in December
2007.

*  For Identification Purpose Only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EEREHREEAEEBE

Mr. LI Zhaohui, aged 49, is responsible for the management of
property development projects.

Mr. LI joined the Project Department of CMPD as an engineer in
March 2002 and subsequently, he worked as a senior project manager
for Construction Management Center in February 2005 and was
promoted to deputy technical director in December 2005. In April
2007, he was redesignated to Chongging Company as general
manager assistant and was subsequently promoted to deputy general
manager of Chongging Company in February 2009. He was further
promoted to deputy general manager of Chongging Company
(monitoring works) in July 2015.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. LI worked in Zhenjiang Construction
and Design Institute” in Jiangsu Province from July 1992 to March
2002.

Mr. LI graduated from the Faculty of Water Supply and Drainage
Engineering of Urban Construction in Chongging Construction
Engineering University* in July 1992 and subsequently obtained the
qualification as a water supply and drainage professional engineer in
November 1998.

Mr. HE JunlLi, aged 42, is responsible for the management of the
property development projects.

Mr. HE joined CMPD in April 2003 as a planning manager for
the Huangjintai project, later was promoted as senior manager in
December 2005. He was a vice development director of Chongging
(Chengdu) in May 2008 and was promoted as assistant to general
manager of Chongging Company in February 2011. In June 2016,
he was further promoted as vice general manager of Chongging
Company and also took up the position of a general manager of
Chongging China Merchants Jinshan Yiku Business Management
Company* (EERH <L BENEEEAF]). He was redesignated
as a general manager of Xi'an Company in September 2017.

Before joining the Group, Mr. He worked in the property department
of Vanke as engineer trainee from August 2001 to April 2002, and
joined Sinolink (Shenzhen) as property development manager from
April 2002 to April 2003.

Mr. HE graduated from Southeast University” in June 2001 with a
bachelor degree in professional architectural engineering.

*  For Identification Purpose Only
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EERSREEAEBE

Ms. CHEN Yan, aged 42, appointed as the financial controller of
the Company since January 2018. She has served in various roles at
CMSK, a controlling shareholder of the Company. She joined CMSK
in October 2009, and served as a senior manager of the financial
department until July 2016. Meanwhile, she was appointed as a senior
directing finance manager from July 2016 to May 2017. She had been
a vice-financial controller of the Company during the period from
May 2017 up to January 2018 and served as internal auditor of REIT
manager of CMC REIT since December 2019. For relationship between
the Company and CMC REIT, please refer to the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual report.

Ms. CHEN Yan was graduated from Sun Yat-Sen University Business
School with a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Business Studies in
2002. She was qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC in
2002.

Mr. NG Ho, aged 32, appointed as Company Secretary of the
Company since 31 May 2019. Mr. Ng holds a Master of Business
degree from Monash University in Australia and is an associate of both
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He has over 6 years of
experience in compliance and listed company secretarial practice.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWRE DM

MARKET REVIEW

In 2019, the global economic growth was the weakest since the
global financial crisis ten years ago, reflecting the common factors
affecting various countries and country-specific factors. During the
year, the addition of trade barriers and relevant uncertainties adversely
affected global business confidence and economic activities. In some
economies including China, existing periodic and structural slowdown
was intensified by such uncertainty. In terms of the growth rate of
other economies worldwide during the year, China was still ranked
among the highest. The gross domestic product (GDP) of China in
2019 was RMB99.0865 trillion, representing an increase of 6.1%
as compared with that of last year, with the GDP per capita passing
the threshold of US$10,000 and reaching US$10,276 at the average
exchange rate of the year.

For the real estate industry in China, being one of the pillars of
domestic economic growth, the National Real Estate Climate Index
in 2019 remained at moderate level, and the industry maintained
a generally high growth rate. In 2019, investment in real estate
development in the PRC was RMB13.2194 trillion, representing
an increase of 9.9% as compared with that of last year, and a
growth of 0.4 percentage point compared to last year. Among
which, investment in residential buildings was RMB9,707.1 billion,
representing an increase of 13.9%, and a growth of 0.5 percentage
point compared to last year.

In 2019, the area of commercial houses sold was 1,715.58 million
square metres, representing a decrease of 0.1% as compared with
that of last year, where the growth from January to November was
0.2%, compared to the growth of 1.3% last year. Among which,
the area of residential properties sold increased by 1.5%, the area of
office buildings sold decreased by 14.7%, and the area of commercial
business properties sold decreased by 15.0%. The sales of commercial
houses was RMB15,972.5 billion, representing an increase of 6.5%,
where the growth rate down by 0.8 percentage point from January to
November, and down by 5.7 percentage point from last year. Among
which, the sales of residential properties increased by 10.3%, the sales
of office buildings decreased by 15.1%, and the sales of commercial
business properties decreased by 16.5%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year of 2019, profit amounted to RMB2,699,736,000
(2018: RMB2,205,512,000), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 22%. The profit attributable to the owners of the
Company was RMB1,794,470,000 (2018: RMB1,216,132,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 48%. Basic
earnings per share was RMB36.58 cents (2018: RMB24.79 cents),
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 48%.

Equity attributable to owners of the Company was RMB9,505,741,000
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB8,117,893,000), representing an
increase of approximately 17% as compared with that of the end of last
year.

The Group, together with its associates and joint ventures, achieved
aggregate contracted sales of RMB37,633,312,000 (2018:
RMB34,431,766,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 9%. Aggregate contracted sales area was 2,116,012
sg.m. (2018: 1,741,931 sg.m.), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 21%. The average selling price was approximately
RMB17,785 per sg.m. (2018: RMB19,766 per sq.m.), representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 10%.

i 7% Bl R

RZZE—NEFER - &mHAEARM2699736,000
(=2 — N4 2 AR ES 2,205,512,000 7% ) -
B LLIE MK 22% - A RFEB AEMHLERNAB
AR 1,794,470000c (ZFE—N\F : ARK
1,216,132,0007T ) * R LEIBIN4I48% - FRRE AR
BN ABARK3658D (ZF—/\F : AR¥24.79
7)) - FILLIEINAI48% ©

RZZE—NF+_A=+—8 ' XQARHEEAE(hE
#H A ARY9,505,741,000 (T — N\F : ARK
8,117,893,0007T) * HAFFEAFL EFA4I17% o

AEBEBERAEBENARAECEERARHEESR
35 AR%37,633,312,000( —E—\F : AR
34,431,766,0007T) * AILIERAII% - ARIHEE R
EEA2,116,012F K (ZZT— N\ : 1,741,931F
FK) o RLIEEL21% - FHEBHOBEFEH KA
R#&17,78570(ZF—N\F : §FHKARKKE 19,766
JL) - RLEADEI10% o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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TURNOVER

In 2019, the Group recorded turnover of RMB19,453,295,000
(2018: RMB11,955,899,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 63%. This was mainly due to the increase in the total
gross floor area completed and delivered in 2019. In 2019, projects
in Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongging, Nanjing and Jurong and Xi‘an
accounted for approximately 18%, 25%, 18%, 28%, and 11%,
respectively, of the total revenue of the Group.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit amounted to RMB6,329,628,000 (2018: RMB3,988,020,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 59%. This was
mainly due to the increase in the total gross floor area completed and
delivered in 2019. The gross profit margin was approximately 33%
(2018: 33%), which was at previous year’s level.

SHARE OF PROFITS OF ASSOCIATES

Share of profits of associates was RMB433,017,000 (2018:
RMB326,002,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 33%, which was mainly attributable to the completion
of the projects by Guangzhou Lianzhou Real Estate Company Limited
(BMESNEMEAGR A7) in 2019 and carrying forward of the
revenue thereof.

SHARE OF PROFITS OF JOINT VENTURES

Share of profits of joint ventures was RMB40,423,000 (2018:
RMB386,509,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 90%, was mainly due to the completion of a project of
a joint venture Nanjing Zhaoyang Real Estate Development Company
Limited (B RSB EHEREZEFRAE]) (“"Nanjing Zhaoyang”) in
2018 and contributed share of profits amounted to approximately
RMB364 million. In 2019, the project of Nanjing Zhaoyang
contributed share of profits amounted to approximately RMB9 million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Development Business

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s portfolio of property
development projects consisted of 33 projects in Guangzhou, Foshan,
Chonggqing, Xi‘an, Nanjing and Jurong, with a primary focus on
the development of residential properties, as well as residential and
commercial complex properties, types of products include apartments,
villas, offices and retail shops, etc.

A breakdown of land bank by cities and a map showing the
geographical locations and the land bank of the projects of the
Group in the PRC are set out below. The saleable gross floor area of
properties which had not been sold or presold as at 31 December
2019 (“Land Bank”) was 5,954,429 square metres.

e C)-

FEiE R B

R-B-NE+-_A=+—8 xEEEEM - #
WBEE % ERRkOSHA3IEEMERNZ
HE  I2ETHRBEEEVEAREETREERES
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o

ki

TEZIR T E D 2 TR R A EBIAR £
TRZWBEMNER T FEE R_T-AF+ A
=t+—H REXREEZVEEB 2 EREEE
(T Libffif 1) 45,954,429 F 75K o

Land Bank by cities
BRI 8l 2 L
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46%

Xi‘an
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) X EIRE )
Property Development Business (continued) EiER R ER (&)

A map showing the geographical location and land bank of the projects of
the Group in the PRC as at 31 December 2019
TEERAEER-_Z—NE+-A=+—HEFTEZEEZHENVER T HE

il MREAE

HERRAIEEERE (FHK) Nanjing and Jurong

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sg.m.) Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)
Ehonoging R T T B KA 6 R 1R (F7K)
30,098
T8 B AR AT E R EEEE (F77K) Evian Qujiang ’ ek
Project Saleable GFA in the future (sg.m.) SR —— gﬁrﬁ%@ngrongfu 171,596
RRE 851777 Zhenguanfu ' o
Changjiahui t'ﬁﬁl‘fi%DKﬂ . 257.135 Ve 209,582
g%ﬁiﬁer . 202,880 Main Urban Site DK1 T 48,993
y B EHDK2 524,175 Xijiang Ruifu '
AEAE Main Urban Site DK2
Central Avenue EASATY s REAT 101,651
flr:'*l 1,016,863 Dongwangfu '
REE/\E GLE] =
Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu 10222 f}“ﬁ"‘ﬁ . 215,650
‘ongningfu
FEH .
Yongjingcheng A5 250 g@;%‘_‘ﬁf 90,403
vian Huafu
LN SBAIE
Yundi Xiao Qu TRt RILEATER 8,535
The Orchid Ravine
BEEEH y
Chongging Ideal City ISEHTE Eﬁﬁfaowan 49,235
T rban Site ESEED HREBUIRE 62,529
China Merchants Intemational E City ~*
Bt ~
Total AT ol 948,104
Total

Bl
Foshan

TH B RRAIEZEER (FF5K)
Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)

A

BB O J
China Merchants Land Centre e Ejﬁlngzhou
- 7,244 1A R AT £ AT R (T K)
China Merchants Zhenyuan Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)
REW 166,402 A
Evian Xi'an e J%S”ﬁ]ﬁ] Valley 113,731
Bt
China Merchants Yuefu D ﬁfmbo 340
IRRHEE 246,806 2
China Merchants Yueyuan ! %I;ﬁ%’?\/% R 49,212
g (RUER [ =R 375 MMt )
HEERE i 24,392 China Merchants Yongjing Wan
China Merchants Xiyuan (formerly known as
T “Sino-Singapore Guangzhou
BRI TH Knowledge City”
China Merchants Anzhitinglan sl TR iy
HRAEAE 73.015 ﬁil 163,283
Times Merchants Tianxi !
BEREERT
China Merchants Tianpufu 238
@t
Total 1,049,195
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Note: The following table shows the address, existing use, and actual or expected earliest
full or phased completion date of the Group’s property development projects as at
31 December 2019.

¥ OE )

it E R R ()

Wit TREFARER-F-AF+-A=+-AZHERRER
Zit - B AR RE RS BT 2 2855 WA R
H o

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
ﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁ‘
Project Existing usage -3
b= Address I hE BHEAR (E/E)
Foshan 1L
Evian Tianhui Qiandenghu Park, Nanping Road, Residential and September 2013
IKERE Nanhai District, ﬁ?é%ﬂﬁﬁ commercial —T—=%ANA
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, FEREE
The PRC ﬁiﬁkﬂmﬁ
Evian Xicheng No. 3 Keji North Road, 2] Residential and June 2013
IRERE Shishan Town, BERALUT commercial —ZT—=FXA
Nanhai District, E2hs] FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, 1L 87
The PRC RHAE L 35%
Park 1872 Northern side of Xingye Road and =2 Residential and February 2016
~E 1872 eastern side of Longpan West Road, BERA#ILT commercial —E—~F=A
Desheng Business District, B & TEREE
Shunde New Town, JIEfE
Shunde District, EEEmEE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, 2 R R £
The PRC BERTHRE IR A
China Merchants Western side of a planning road, FE Commercial November 2016
Land Centre eastern side of Guilan Road, BRAMLT % T X —
BEE AL northern side of a planning road, [eapis] A
and southern side of Haiqgi Road, WA EA27 R
A27 Block of Guicheng Street, —REN A -
Nanhai District, R A
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, — R BB R A EL
The PRC R yeak il
Evian Yongjmgwan Northern side of Jihua Bridge, i[5 Residential and March 2016
KEESE western side of Tung Ping River, BRAMLT commercial —E—X¥F=A
Chancheng District, = TEREZE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, FERFILA
The PRC A Al
Evian Huafu “Xinyou Innovative # Residential and December 2015
IREZERT Technology Industrial Park”, Beihu 1st Road, [EE & @11 commercial —E—hE+=A
Luocun Management Office, B8R FEREE
Shishan Town, Nanhai District, WL EE N EIRE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, b —B [MfEREXE ]
The PRC HER
Ewan Gon guan Dazheng Road, [ Residential and December 2015
g Jiujiang Town, BRAMLT commercial E—hF+=A
Nanhai District, [E2hd FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, JULEE
The PRC K IEBE B
China Merchants Zhenyuan Eastern side of Wenhua Road and, 22l Residential and November 2016
BE%RE northern side of Caihong Road, BRA#HLT commercial —E—XE+—A
Chancheng District, 2o FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, XE R
The PRC R B AL A
China Merchants Xi‘an South Jititang Road in the east to Foshan, 5 Residential and January 2019
B 1st Ring in the west, from Tanzhou Water EEREM LT commercial —Z—hF—A
Channel in the south to Fochen Road g Eﬁﬁf FEREE
in the north, %faﬁ'@%ﬁ‘ﬂﬁﬂ
Southern side of South Jinchang Road, BEBERK -
Chencun Town, Shunde District, ﬁlﬂ*iﬁ ’
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, f‘ﬁ EINKE
The PRC b ZE R B
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ SO
EiERRER (F)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
L YEr e
Project Existing usage A A H
bi=f| Address 3y 3k BERE (&/R)
China Merchants Yuefu Nan Jin Village Committee Lot, i Residential and October 2019
BIGLIT Sha Long Road, ERAMILT commercial —Z=—nE+A
Jiujiang Town, [Ezps FERBEHE
Nanhai District, JUTH
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, IEERR
The PRC e EEHR
China Merchants Yueyuan Plot 1, the western side of Jianshe Yilu, AR Residential and January 2020
REE Xinan Street, BRE LT commercial —E-TF—H
Sanshui District, =K@ FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, EfﬁmL
The PRC —BEA Al —
China Merchants Xiyuan West of South Cangjiang Road, FE Residential and June 2019
BrEkRE North of Sanjiang Road, BERAEFLT commercial —E—AENA
Hecheng Street, =R FEREE
Gaoming District, A
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, BT RIBELATE
The PRC =T ASE
Time Merchants Tianxi Taiping Industrial District Lot, & Residential and November 2020
BREELE Taiping Avenue, BRAMILT commercial —ZETE+—R
Dali Town, E2pE FEREE
Nanhai District, AIEH
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, KFERE
The PRC AP TREMBE
China Merchants Tianfu Shuitou Industrial District Lot, i Residential and July 2021
B RERT Dali Town, BREAFILT commercial T
Nanhai District, [E2i] EEREHE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, AIESE
The PRC IKEE TR BB
China Merchants Anzhitinglan ~ The northern side of Jiangwan 2nd Road, B Residential and June 2020
BEEIETHE and western side of Wugang Road, @%m rh commercial TE-TEXNA
Chancheng District, B FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, /I/% LAl -
The PRC B
Guangzhou &M
Jinshan Valley Fei E Ling, & Residential and December 2020
EIIESY Donghuan Street, BRA commercial —ETEFE+Z
Panyu District, BT FEREE
Guangzhou City, HEE
Guangdong Province, RIRERIGEE
The PRC
Huambo Huambo Business District, i Commercial September 2016
wis Nancun Town, Fﬁé 5 —E—X
Panyu District, BT
Guangzhou City, HBE
Guangdong Province, LN
The PRC B
China Merchants Yongjing Wan The northern side of No. KS3-2 Gui Hua Road A1 [ Residential and

AR

and eastern side of the northern extension
lane of No. KS4-4 Road, Sino-Singapore
Guangzhou Knowledge City Southern

Start-up Area, The PRC

3 B S

HEAFREKS3-255 5 21 3%

PAJE - KS4-45% 3K 16
FEARIAR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ OE )
it B RS ()

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
G Y4rED
Project Existing usage ER B
bi=g| Address 3 31k BHERE (&/R)
Chongqing EE
Changjiahui Danzishi Nan‘an District, B Residential and August 2021
EEE Chongging City, BET commercial —E=—%N\A
The PRC FFREFA EEREHE
Evian River Bay Eastern side of Babin Road 22l Residential and July 2021
fREST and northern side of Neihuan Expressway, EE™ commercial —E-—F+
Banan District, ERE FEREE
Chongging City, EE R R A
The PRC IR R R AL
Central Avenue Standard Sub-zone F, 2] Residential and August 2024
NEAE Lianglu Zone, EFAEFE commercial —ZHWFENA
Yubei District, pid i TEREE
Chonggqjing City, AR AEFZES &
The PRC
Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu Eastern side of Yu Ao Avenue 2] Residential and July 2017
HEE/ R and western side of Jian Bei Si Zhi Lu, -4 commercial —F—+F+tA
Jiang Bei District, b FEREE
Chongging City, ARAEREA
The PRC jeslqubgyifill
Yongjingcheng Sub-zone J, [ Residential and March 2020
3871 Lianglu Zone, Liangjiang New District, EEM commercial R -TEZA
Chongging City, T HT [ FEREE
The PRC M AR E ) D[
Yundi Xiao Qu Nanping Business Centre, R Residential and September 2020
=3 PN Nan’an District, BEM commercial —E-TFNA
Chonggqjing City, FER FEREE
The PRC METEE
Main Urban Site Guanyin Bridge Business Centre, =2} Residential and April 2021
PAE=S: Jiang Bei District, EEN commercial —ZET-—FMmA
Chonggqing City, IibE TEREE
The PRC BERRE
Ideal City Xiyong Area, 22l Residential and September 2021
B Shapingba District, BEEM commercial —E-—FhA
Chonggqjing City, DIEE FEREE
The PRC A&
Nanjing B
Z|J|nshan No. 1 Northeast corner of Zhongshanmen Avenue Residential and November 2013
el — and Taiyangcheng Road, LERE R commercial —E—=F+—A
Qixia District, = FEREE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, EP L PR TR
The PRC KGRI B
China Metchants Eastern side of Baosi Road, F Commercial and December 2021
International E City southern side of Jingjiu Road, IBE AN residential —E-—F+=A
R BIFRES Baohua Town, EEFE IR PEREE
Jurong City, Jiangsu Province, N BEr Al
The PRC
Evian Huafu Western side of Jing 5th Road in phrase 2 FE Residential and November 2019
IREERT Maigaogjiao Street, TERA AT commercial —Z—h&F+—A
Qixia District, BB FEREE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, ERBEHEK
The PRC T~ BT A
The Orchid Ravine East of Xing Huo Bei Lu [ Residential and September 2018
KEEATER and south of Yong Xin Lu, IEEERT commercial —ZE-NFNA
Pukou Gaoxin Zone, A O == FEREE
Nanijing City, Jiangsu Province, B NIEBR AR
The PRC TR AR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ SO
EiERRER (F)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
Y4 ED
Project Existing usage &L H H
bi=f| Address 3y 3k BERE (&/R)
Century Taoyuan Jiangjiayuan in the east to Chaha’er Road A Residential and August 2021
HEt A in the south to South Rehe Road ABEmRmeER commercial —E2=-—%N\A
in the west to Nanjing No.52 REZREA FERBEHE
Middle School in the north, FAERBMRE
Gulou Street, Nanjing City, [EES O]
Jiangsu Province, The PRC ERMEA+=F2B
Dongwangfu Junction between Hedong Road Residential and August 2021
E3=E)S and Siwang Road, commercial —T=—F)\AR
Qilin Street Jiuxiang, Jiangning District, FEREE
Nanjing City, Jiangning District
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, J%E‘ziﬁ\@‘iﬁﬁkxi
The PRC
Xijiang Ruifu (G35) Xiangxian Road in the east to Yuanten Road in & Residential and March 2022
P HmfF(G35) the south to a planning road in the west to L& & g R iR K& commercial T F=
Zi Chuang Road in the north, DRAERERUAR - EEREE
02 Land Parcel, north of Zi Chuang Road and  RAI3% ARG 023458
east of Jiangpu Street and Puyun Road, ERER - @mE
Pukou District, Nanjing City, B - AERE
Jiangsu Province, Bt ERAIK
The PRC
Mingzhu (G52) a piece of land, 23] Residential June 2021
B E5(G52) east of Rungi Road and south of Tianhuan I#EmAmaER F%E —E=—%X<A
Road, Dongshan Street, Jiangning District, TEERILAE
Gulou District, Nanjing City, R AR - RIREE
Jiangsu Province, VARG 3 35
The PRC
Nanjing Shuimu Yongrongfu a piece of land, EF' Residential May 2022
fJﬁ R RKORZESE T eastern side of Bisheng Road, TERAmM M F= ZZE--FHA
Xijiang Street, Qixia District, m EEAMEE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, AR A7
The PRC
Yongningfu Yushan Xi Road in the east to Jianshe Road i Residential October 2021
EELT in the south to an existing in the west to TERA MR F=E —ZET-—#+HA
Guangdian Road in the north, AR TEEE
Pujiang Street, Pukou District, REMLPGE -
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, FERERE  AZ
The PRC Wik iti B
Xi‘an (%)
Evian Qujiang South of Jinyang Road, i Residential and December 2019
REMT east of Xinkaimen South Road, PRPEA LT commercial —E— =
north of Chuangyi Avenue and, HTH7E FEREE
west of Xikang Highway, S FH AR
West Fudao, A PIR RS AR
Qujiang New District, BIZRE AL
Xi'an City Shaanxi Province, FaRE = R P R 8 AT
The PRC
Zhenguanfu Northeast of the junction between AR = Residential and April 2023
EET Tiangu 1st Road and Yunshui 1st Road, F—EEA commercial —T-=FmA
Gaoxin Zone, Xi‘an, ER—E+FRIEA FEREE
China Merchants South of freight line and east of iilzgei] ey 1 Residential and March 2023
Main Urban Site west Gangwu Road, HiEZAR commercial Y
BRI TS Xi'an International Port District ST BE AR FEREHE
Xi'an Merchants Silk Road Center South of freight line and east of itkege] A zad Commercial March 2023
LR L west Gangwu Road, BiEZLE - % —ZZT=%=R
Xi'an International Port District TS PR AR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Contracted sales

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group together with its
associates and joint ventures, achieved aggregate contracted sales of
approximately RMB37,633,312,000 and aggregate contracted sales
area was approximately 2,116,012 sg.m.

¥ E @)

EthERBER &)

ERHE

HE=E= e = B = =Elle Z4EE - ZREEE
HEREBREARAREGELANESAREERENE
AR #37,633,312,0007C © MAREEREELD S
2,116,012F 75K »

Contracted sales area by region in 2019 (sq.m.) Contracted sales amount by region in 2019 (RMB million)

“E-NERBBESEHEEER(TEXK)

Foshan Nanjing & Jurong

L iyt
21% (437,867) ARRAOR
31% (674,053)

Xi'an

(i
6% (129,042)
Guangzhou
BN
14% (288,350)
Chongging
-

28% (586,700)

Newly Acquired Land Bank
The newly acquired lands over which the Group has a majority control
for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

4% (1,601) .

Guangzhou
M
17% (6,446)

“E-NFRUESRHEESE(ARBEET)

Foshan

B

14% (5.197) Nanjing & Jurong

AREAE
Xi'an 45% (16,799)

(EES

Chongging
BE
20% (7,590)

i 4 s AR
BE_Z-NFT-A=+—"BILZFE - Fx&EE#H
WEABA T BRIz LT

Total Average

Total land Total site permissible land

Projects HH consideration area area premium
TihEE LS B AEE FigihE

(RMB million) (sg.m.) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)

(ANR#T/

(AREBET) (FFF2K) (FRK) FFK)

Nanjing Mingzhu ARG E 670 21,683 54,207 12,360
Nanjing Shuimu Yongrongfu B RN SR I 3,140 79,884 175,744 17,867
Nanjing Xijiang Ruifu BRI In T 2,990 78,892 122,505 24,407
Xi'an Merchants Zhenguanfu AL HREZEENT 1,188 59,104 165,491 7.179
Xi’an Main Urban Site DK1 AR5 8 595 79,201 192,053 3,098
Xi'an Main Urban Site DK2 PHZ T 452 50 1,211 8,664 402,460 3,009
Xi'an Merchants Silk Road Center 7% 85 #4250 141 20,288 88,337 1,596
Foshan Merchants Tianpufu #8118 B R EENT 309 12,688 31,719 9,742
Foshan Times Merchants Tianxi  # LB K& 988 43,518 115,221 8,575
Chonggqing Ideal City EE B AR 723 74,723 131,930 5,479
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Foshan

In 2019, contracted sales amount in Foshan was approximately
RMBS5,197 million and contracted sales area was 437,867 sq.m. As
at 31 December 2019, total GFA of the Group’s projects in Foshan
reached 3,699,057 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 1,049,195 sg.m.

In 2019, sales of the Group’s projects in Foshan mainly comprised of
China Merchants Xi’‘an (R k=) and Times Merchants Tianxi (B
HBERE):

- Located in the northern part of Shunde, Foshan China
Merchants Xi‘an is situated at the bridgehead of Guangzhou-
Foshan border and commands a 1,100,000 sg.m. landscape
along Binjiang Hua'an in Chencun. The area where the
project is located in enjoys a comprehensive “6 vertical and
4 horizontal” transportation network, is easily accessible to
popular locations ranging from Changui, Foshan to Panyu,
Guangzhou and central Guangzhou within 30 minutes. The
project occupied a site area of approximately 69,000 sg.m.
with a gross floor area of approximately 230,000 sg.m., and
structures a distinctive phoenix-themed garden.

EX G- 1E )

EihERBER &)

1L

ZE-NF - BLZARHESENAARES, 197
BET AREEEEAE437867FHK - R_F
—hWE+-A=1+—8  AEERGILNTEE BRE
E16#3,699,057 F 50K - KRR Al &L EE RIS E
1,049,195F J5 2 o

—ToNF AKREEGLUEENREIZEHER
FREBRARRE

= GLUBRBRFEARIERIL R - WEEBRR
WESEE - LZRN 0BT REIERER
Bw - HEMERSRIAEGZZM [ 4D
&I BHEEEE 300 EBBHLESE &
M B AR EMN RO E SRR - 1BE
1B M6 98 F I K - BEEEEXN23EFT
K BARBEETBEMNEE -

Photo of Foshan China Merchants Xi'an Photo of Foshan China Merchants Xi‘an
BHLBEE=ERE FHILBEEEERE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) E3 3018 ))

Property Development Business (continued) B ERRER (&)

Foshan (continued) L (4E)

= Located in Dali area, Nanhai District, Foshan, “Times — BB A EME LT ES R AER IR
Merchants Tianxi” enjoys the “three vertical and three BEZFE=S® BEHRES[=—R=4I78

RBME - WEBMBE IS ERIA BET
B o BREE B HEURLERKRE
HWEERA

horizontal” multi-dimensional transportation network,
including Guangsan Expressway, Guangfo Road, etc., bring
excellent accessibility to various locations, i.e. reaching
Qiandeng Lake in 15 minutes. Further, it offers well-developed
facilities in business, transportation, education and ecology in
the surrounding area.

Computerised photo of Times Merchants Tianxi Computerised photo of Times Merchants Tianxi
BRI REARRE R RERRE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Guangzhou

In 2019, contracted sales amount in Guangzhou was approximately
RMB6,446 million and contracted sales area was 288,350 sq.m., As at
31 December 2019, total GFA of the Group's projects in Guangzhou
reached 1,795,399 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 163,283 sg.m.

In 2019, sales of the Group's project in Guangzhou comprised of
China Merchants Yongjing Wan:

Guangzhou China Merchants Yongjing Wan is located at
Sino-Singapore Guangzhou Knowledge City, Huangpu District,
Guangzhou, with a site area of 179,000 sq.m, GFA of 395,000 sg.m.
and plot ratio of 1.49. The project is adjacent to Metro Line 21, four
top hospitals, eight business centres and more than 20 schools,
creating a comprehensive and quality living area.

EX G- 1E )

EihERBER &)

BM

ZE-NF - BMNZAREESBENAARYG 446
BEL AREEAEEA288350F K - HE-T
—NWE+ZA=1+—8  A5EREMNTHIEL B
SEHEIEE,795,399F 5K ' ARAJEEEEES A
163,283F K o

TNE AREREMNZHERE BRBRESR

aE |

BINEEESEGHmE1798F K BREEE
3958F K BERAE1.49  BURENTEHR
[EMFFAEN ] - AERER215ER - 4KIE
MERPT - SATIER DOFI208RFTER » FTIERREATE
K o

Computerised photo of Guangzhou China Merchants Yongjing Wan
B 2 =% R E
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Chongqing

In 2019, contracted sales amount in Chongging was approximately
RMB7,590 million and contracted sales area was 586,700 sq.m.. As at
31 December 2019, total GFA of the Group’s projects in Chongging
reached 5,029,566 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 2,776,984 sq.m.

In 2019, sales of the Group's projects in Chongging mainly comprised
of Yongjingcheng:

- Chongging Yongjingcheng is located in the heart of the
central area of northern district and only 31-meter away
from Lianhua Station of Metro Line 3, which is “achievable”
product in Airport New Town. Such project aims to construct
an ideal, low-density and eco-friendly residential area through
ingenious mansions which restore the sense of ritual of living
by gardens in Yong's style. It possesses with one ring road, two
railways and various arteries with great access to main business
circles, providing convenient living style.

Computerised photo of Chongging Merchants Yongjingcheng
EERHEERMRE

¥KOE#)

EihERBER &)

Y]

ZE-NF EEZARHESHEONAARET,590
BB AREEHEEAS86,700F 5K« HE-T
—NF+ZA=+—H8 AEEREETHIEEBE
ZMIEES,029,566F 5K + RARAIEREEERG A
2,776,984F 53K o

—ToNEF AEEREEZHERE BRERM

- EERAERALNEEPHRETRLY
F - BB3SRAREILUAIEI UK - RIEZE B
(KL R IEE - EEBREREMERLERE
B EOATED - ITER R E T
TR - —RE[RZHE FREZERIA
e HEEELEE -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Nanjing and Jurong

In 2019, contracted sales amount in Nanjing and Jurong was
approximately RMB16,799 million and contracted sales area was
674,053 sq.m.. As at 31 December 2019, total saleable GFA of the
Group's projects in Nanjing and Jurong reached 2,783,454 sq.m. and
the saleable GFA in the future will amount to 948,104 sq.m.

In 2019, strong sales of the Group’s projects in Nanjing and Jurong
mainly comprised of Nanjing Yongningfu and Dongwangfu:

- Nanjing Yongningfu, a flagship product by the brand name
of China Merchants in Nanjing market, is located in the heart
of Yushan Road, Jiangbei National New District and situated
opposite to Hexi CBD. It is approximately 200 metres away
from Yushan Road metro station and 1 kilometre away from
Fifth Yangtze Bridge, which will be completed by the end of
the year of 2020. It is in proximity to comprehensive facilities
such as Wonder City (under construction), Pukou Citizen's
Centre, G31 plot for business complex (under planning) and
Hankai Academy, and is around 1 kilometer away from Lanxi
Wetland Park.

HEES

Ml

TR

Computerised photo of Nanjing Yongningfu
FREENBRE

36 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

EX G- 1E )
EihERRER &)
ERERRAR
—NF  ERRAUBZAEREESENAARE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) E3 3018 ))

Property Development Business (continued) B ERRER (&)

Nanjing and Jurong (continued) MERAR(H)

- Nanjing Dongwangfu is located at Jiangning district, Nanjing,  — HREENMRERMTIER  BREERZ
the core district of Zidong area. The core district of Zidong area DERBE  SEELEER—D - mEm -
follows the structure of “one centre, two axes, three cores, =% AR IBREIERE - BB BAIRAER
five areas” in planning. The project is in vicinity of prestigious W ANXIBIEEE - R RENHEAEE
Xianlin University Town with rich academic atmosphere. It is BERMEINE - EHBAK UHESE - B
merely 1 kilometre away from Dongliu Station of Metro Line ER S AEEBE - ATEEH o

4 (opened). Nonetheless, the three main commercial areas,
namely Xueze Road, Xianlin Jingying and Wan Da Mao, bring
great convenience for residents.

Computerised photo of Nanjing Dongwangfu
MRREMNERE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Xi'an

In 2019, contracted sales amount in Xi‘an was approximately
RMB1,601 million and contracted sales area was 129,042 sq.m., As at
31 December 2019, total GFA of the Group’s projects in Xi‘an reached
1,565,177 sq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will amount to
1,016,863 sg.m..

In 2019, the major sales of the Group’s project in Xi'an comprised of
Evian Qujiang:

As the first project by China Merchants Land to enter Xi‘an, Evian
Qujiang is located in the Qujiang phase Il planning block in the
southeast of Xi‘an City District, about 10 kilometers from the
landmark clock tower in downtown Xi‘an.

The planned gross site area for construction is 135,638 sq.m.,
and total planned GFA is 537,026 sq.m. By introducing renowned
kindergartens in addition to the planned public secondary and primary
schools on the south side, demands from various owners for housing,
education, shopping and leisure could be fully satisfied.

Photo of Xi'an Evian Qujiang
ARKREHTIERE
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EX G- 1E )

EihERBER &)

AR

REZZ—NF BOZHEREEENAARE,601
BET MAREEMEES129,002F K - RN=F
—NE+-A=+—H8 AEEEALTHIERDERE
EFEEE1,565,177F 5K » MARA EREmMBER
71,016,863 F 53K ©

—TNEF AREURAL T BHERE BKE
BT
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Computerised photo of Xi‘an Evian Qujiang
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Asset Management Business

Upon the listing of the CMC REIT on the Stock Exchange on 10
December 2019, the Company has commenced its REIT management
business through China Merchants Land Asset Management Co.,
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the REIT
manager of the CMC REIT.

Trading Business

The Group did not conduct business in the trading segment in 2019
and decided to concentrate its strength on developing other principal
businesses.

Financial and Treasury Management Principles

As at 31 December 2019, the net assets attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB9,505,741,000 (2018:
RMBS8,117,893,000).

On 18 December 2018, the Company completed the issuance
of senior bonds due 2021 in the aggregate principal amount of
RMB1.9 billion bearing coupon rate of 4.6% per annum.

As at 31 December 2019, bank balances and cash was
RMB8,957,799,000 (2018: RMB6,866,261,000). In terms of
currency denomination, bank balances and cash can be divided
into RMB8,955,386,000 in Renminbi, RMB976,000 in US$ and
RMB1,437,000 in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$").

¥ O

EETEEK

PRABESESN -T—hE+=A+AEBRIFH
ik AATRBREREMEEARAT(AAT
2EWBATRAERERESNETESEE)MH
BEEMEREETEERER -

BERE%
AEER_FT-NFAELLEF D MEBLR AN
SPBENEREMIEER -

BERESEERE
RZTB—hEFE+-_A=+—H  AREHEAAEEE
EEEAARYO,505741,000L (=T —N\F : A
R#8,117,893,000 7T) °

RZZB-NF+-A+NB » RARTRETEALHE
BRARBI1BIZ_ZT_—F3HEBLES  F
FEERA6% °

RZZT—NAF+_A=+—8" ROLHEERE
B ARG 957,799,000t (ZZE—\F : ARK
6,866,261,0007T) - AE®ME - RITHEHR LA S
Al D A AREES|E ARES,955,386,0007T * LA
TLHEAR976,000 T M AEEE ([BE DIEAR
#1,437,0007T °
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Financial and Treasury Management Principles (continued)
As at 31 December 2019, total interest-bearing debt of the
Group excluding lease liabilities was RMB21,961,032,000 (2018:
RMB18,648,136,000). In terms of maturity, the outstanding total
interest-bearing debt can be divided into RMB5,124,136,000
repayable within one year, RMB8,110,510,000 repayable after one
year but within two years and RMB8,726,386,000 repayable after
two years but within five years. In terms of currency denomination,
the outstanding total interest-bearing debt can be divided into
RMB21,260,119,000 in Renminbi and RMB700,913,000 in US$.

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s net interest-bearing debt
excluding lease liabilities (total interest-bearing debt minus bank
balances and cash) to equity of shareholders (including non-
controlling interests) ratio (the “Net Gearing Ratio”) was 45% (2018:
50%). Although the financial position of the Group is stable and the
potential financing capacity is strong, the Group will continue to take
the relatively stable financial policies and to control the net gearing
ratio at the industry average level. The capital cost of the Group
still remained at industry-low level. As at 31 December 2019, the
weighted average finance costs is 4.99%.

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried and conducted in RMB, US$ and HK$.
The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its foreign exchange
risk management, where foreign exchange risks are minimised via
balancing the monetary assets versus monetary liabilities.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED

To minimise actual and potential competition, the Group and China
Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd.* (B @b E %A% {5
FR/AE]) (“CMPD") (a company later merged with CMSK (as defined
below) in December 2015) entered into a non-competition deed on
19 June 2013 as amended and supplemented on 4 October 2013 (the
“Non-Competition Deed”). On 30 December 2015, the Company,
CMPD and China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co.,
Ltd. (BEREATEXRIZERRHBRAF]) ("CMSK”) Nt T had
entered into a deed of amendment and novation (“Novation Deed”)
pursuant to which all the obligations, undertakings, interests and
benefits of CMPD under the Non-Competition Deed were novated to
and undertaken by CMSK in replacement of CMPD as if CMSK has
been a party to the Non-Competition Deed in substitution of CMPD
with effective from 30 December 2015. Other than that, all the other
terms of the Non-Competition Deed shall remain unchanged Nt 2,
On 17 December 2018, the Company and CMSK entered into an
amended and restated non-competition deed which supersede and
replace in its entirety the Non-Competition Deed (the “Amended and
Restated Non-Competition Deed”), and subsequently entered into a
re-amended and restated non-competition deed (the “Re-amended
and Restated Non-Competition Deed”) on 21 October 2019, which
supersedes and replaces in its entirely the Amended and Restated
Non-Competition Deed.

Notes:

1. According to the announcements published by CMSK and CMPD on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, on 30 December 2015, CMSK and CMPD had completed the
major asset restructuring and integration exercise pursuant to which, among
other things, all assets, liabilities, businesses, employees, contracts and all others
rights and obligations of CMPD have been taken up and assumed by CMSK in
replacement of CMPD, CMPD was delisted from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and
the shares of CMSK became listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, all with effect
from 30 December 2015.

2. In the above paragraph under the heading of “Non-competition Deed”, for the
avoidance of doubt, references to CMSK should be construed as referring to CMPD
in the context of any time before 30 December 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR DM

NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed, (i)
CMSK and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) (“CMSK Group”)
will not compete with the Group in the cities of Foshan, Guangzhou,
Nanjing and Jurong (the “Four CML Cities”) except for certain
operation transitional assets (“Operation Transitional Assets”) located
in Foshan which would be retained by CMSK Group but managed by
the Group under certain operation agreement entered into between
the Group and CMSK; (i) with respect to Chongging and Xi‘an, the
Company is considering to cease to conduct Property Business (other
than participating in property-related investments on a minority basis
across the PRC (the “Non-Controlling Investment Arrangement”)) in
and exit from such two cities in due course, depending on the results
of an annual review process; (iii) CMSK Group will not compete
with the Group in the cities of Chongging and Xi‘an unless the
Group ceases to conduct Property Business (other than the Non-
Controlling Investment Arrangement) in such city; (iv) the Group will
not compete with CMSK in 46 other cities in the PRC (“CMSK Cities")
except the Group will have the rights to participate in the Non-
Controlling Investment Arrangement across the PRC (including the
CMSK Cities); (v) the Group will also be entitled to conduct the Asset
Management Business for office premises in Beijing and Shanghai
exclusively, subject to the duly transfer of all equity interest of CMSK
Group in Asset Management Business for office premises in Beijing
and Shanghai to the Group (the “Proposed Transfer 1”); and (vi) the
Company will no longer have the perpetual right of first refusal to
conduct Property Business (the “Right of First Refusal”) for other
cities in the PRC in which neither the Group nor the CMSK Group
has an Property Business as at the date of the Non-Competition Deed
("Unoccupied Cities").

Pursuant to the Re-amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed,
the Group will have the rights to participate in the REIT Management
Business for REITs with underlying properties permitted to be situated
in or come from all over the PRC on an exclusive basis. In return, the
Company (by itself or through its subsidiaries) are entitled to receive
cash and/or units in the REITs. Other than the inclusion of the REIT
Management Business and the updates to the terms with respect to
the Asset Management Business for Office Premises in Beijing and
Shanghai in order to reflect the situation at the time of the completion
of the Proposed Transfer I, the other terms with respect to the (a) Non-
Controlling Investment Arrangement; (b) Asset Management Business
for Office Premises in CML Cities plus Beijing and Shanghai; and (c)
Property Business of the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed remain unchanged compared to the Amended and Restated
Non-Competition Deed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

For details of the Non-Competition Deed and Operation Transitional
Assets, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with the
Controlling Shareholders” in the circular of the Company dated 10
October 2013.

For details of the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed,
the Four CML Cities, Property Business, Non-Controlling Investment
Arrangement, the CMSK Cities, Asset Management Business, the
Proposed Transfer |, the Right of First Refusal and the Unoccupied
Cities, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 10 January
2019.

For the details of the Re-amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, REIT Management Business and REITs, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 21 October 2019.

The independent board committee comprising all the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, had (i) reviewed the
quarterly reports prepared by the Company’s management containing
latest information on the respective property projects portfolios
of CMSK Group and the Group; (ii) carried out a review on the
implementation of and compliance with the Amended and Restated
Non-Competition Deed and/or Re-amended and Restated Non-
Competition Deed by CMSK Group and the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2019; and (iii) confirmed that the terms of the
Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed and/or Re-amended
and Restated Non-Competition Deed had been complied with by
CMSK Group and the Group during the year ended 31 December
2019.

The Group will gradually transform into an asset-light property
operator, while continue to operate its traditional property
development business in Guangzhou, Foshan, Nanjing, Jurong,
Chongging and Xi'an (subject to the Company’s plan to exit from
Chongging and Xi‘an). Upon the annual review of the portfolio of
the Group's Property Business for the year ended 31 December 2019,
taking into account the financial resources available to the Group
at the relevant time and the relevant market conditions, the Group
decides to continue its Property Business in Chongging and Xi‘an for
the time being.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR DM

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking forward to the year of 2020, global economy will under the
influence of risks arising from various factors such as the outbreak
of novel coronavirus (COVID-19), political and economy conditions.
It is expected that the economy will slow down in the first half of
the year, but may bottom-out in the second half of the year. The
growth rate for the year may be slightly declined in comparing to
2019, where the characteristics of global economy will mainly consist
of high financialisation, high liquidity, low growth rate, low inflation
rate and huge bubble. At the same time, risks and challenges that
the PRC economy is exposed to have increased due to the uncertainty
on whether the trade tariff between the U.S. and the PRC will be
cancelled or increased. With respect to the pre-judgement on the PRC
economy, based on the achievement of the top three goals: “doubling
GDP and income of urban and rural residents”, building a moderately
prosperous society in all respects and overcoming “middle-income
trap”, it is expected that the macro policies in 2020 will adhere to
the bottom-line concept and aim to strengthen the risk awareness, as
well as set stabilizing growth as the core of macroeconomic control
measures.

For the real estate industry in PRC, on top of the overarching themes
of “houses are for living not for speculation” and “carrying out city-
specific policies” in the past years, it is expected that, in 2020, the
first priority of the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
of the PRC is to stable land prices, housing prices and market
expectations, and improve housing security system across cities and
towns, in order to strengthen the housing security for the needs across
cities; planning and developing leased residential properties to resolve
the housing problems of new citizens; and enhancing the quality of
cities and living environment to build” beautiful city” and serve cities
as “living organism”, thereby facilitating the high quality development
of cities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

The Group will continue to carry out asset management business
to create a new income sources for the shareholders of the Group
and continue to strengthen its governance capabilities, including a
results-oriented plan incorporating a detailed completion timeline
and individual accountability will be made by the REIT Manager with
the onshore operations team. It is expected that the completion of
asset enhancement initiatives together with the approaching launch
of Shenzhen Metro Line 12 in 2022 will promote the overall rental
level of the properties year by year. Leases are managed effectively
and proactively, improving the degree of refinement in tenant
composition and professionalism of value-added services. For the
acquisition of new assets, the REIT Manager will search for special
investment opportunities in addition to actively screening the assets of
China Merchants Group for suitable injections into China Merchants
Commercial REIT. Increasing operational income is essential to the
revenue of the asset management business and the interest of
shareholders of the Group.

The Group will continue to adhere to the principle of “sustaining
intensive engagement and innovative development” by leveraging
on the abundant inventory resources of CMG and CMSK and actively
grasp market investment opportunities.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND RELATIONS

The Group remunerates the employees by reference to their
qualifications, experience, responsibilities, profitability of the Group
and current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 872 (2018: 808) employees
in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group determines its staff remuneration based on various factors
such as qualifications, years of experience, market conditions and
performance of the individual employees. A share option scheme was
adopted at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27
September 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who have
contributed to the success of the Group’s operations. No grants under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme were made during the year ended 31
December 2019.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RS - BERRKRE

This report covers the environmental, policies and performance
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019. The
Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Report prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) will be published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange in due course.

GREEN CONSTRUCTION

We have combined the community and environment requirements
into the construction process and conducted investigations in depth
with our cooperative partners to improve construction management
and innovate construction technology. We would consider using
materials available from the neighborhood as much as possible and
to reduce the consumption of materials, energy and water in the
course of construction for creating a clear, clean, comfortable and safe
construction environment. Besides, we also launched a “Harmonious
Neighborhood Scheme” to extensively collect the opinions from the
residents who live nearby with an aim to doing our best to reduce the
effects of construction works on the surrounding natural, cultural and
social environments.

GREEN OFFICE

We have formulated the “Green action guide for employee” to
strengthen the daily management of energy saving and emission
reduction and carry out the education in every corner and to every
employee, making the idea of green development deeply rooted in
their mind to develop the habits of saving energy, water, papers, oil
and gas.

CO-OPERATION WITH INTERNATIONAL
ORGANISATIONS

We build up close ties and co-operative connections with international
organisations like UNEP, UNEP-SBCI, UNEP GI-REC, WWF to combine
each other’s edges to promote the sustainable development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RS - BERRERHE

SAFE AND CIVILISED CONSTRUCTION

The Company has set up a Safety Management Committee.
Each project has established its own safety management team to
proactively promote the standardised management of safe and
civilised construction so as to protect the health and safety of every
front line construction workers and back office staff with best efforts.

REINFORCEMENT OF SAFE AND CIVILISED
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT

We have strengthened the measures to achieve a safe and
standardised construction. We have organised and updated
management requirements and practices for safe and civilised
construction with a precise goal of safe and civilised construction
management. We have strengthened the investigation standard
for hidden dangers on-site. We carry out regular safety check and
introduce the assessment system for subcontractors in order to ensure
the worry-free construction. No fire accident, major equipment safety
and casualty accidents occurred during the year.

PURSUIT OF “ZERO"” ENERGY WASTAGE IN
CONSTRUCTION

Following the consolidation process and with many years of
experience, we have gradually forged an ecological and high
efficient green technology system. The development model for green
construction was also upgraded into a comprehensive model with
combination of “Green Planning”, “Technique Application” and
“Energy Saving through Action”. As early as in 2015, the Company
built up a green research and development and application system
named “Green Life+" and issued the “Green Ranking Guide” and
“Energy Efficiency Management Guide” in order to continuously
promote the innovation and breakthrough of the green technology.

PROTECTING THE BIO-DIVERSITY

We have implemented the idea of protecting the bio-diversity
throughout the core process of our development and operation and
pay attention to protecting the original natural vegetation and the
habitats in the development zone during the process of planning
and project construction. Through these efforts, we systematically
repair the eco-system which is degenerated or damaged by project
development. In addition, by building the landscape water system and
seedling transplantation according to location and situations, we can
reduce the effects of project development on local environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND
R - BRRKRR

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT AND DIVERSITY

Our recruitment principles are on the basis of fairness, justice and
transparency. We provide every employee an equal employment
opportunity. No employee will face differential treatment for their
gender, age, ethnicity or cultural background. We try our best effort
to provide an ideal career environment for their development.

RIGHT PROTECTION OF CONSTRUCTION
WORKERS

The Company is highly concerned about the right protection of
the front line construction workers. It has incorporated a system
to evaluate the performance of potential suppliers in safeguarding
construction worker’s rights. In selecting partners, we have taken
into account the protective measures with our standard evaluation
system. We conduct regular checks and monitor contractors to ensure
they have complied with protective measures and have adequately
implemented the policies, with a view to safeguard the rights of
construction workers.

Wages Guarantee
TERRE

PERFORMANCE
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Safety Guarantee
ZRRE

Require the general contractor to open a specialised
account for depositing of workers' wages and deposit
the wages in advance
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Implement real-name system management for workers,
establish an alert mechanism for worker’s wage and
inspect regularly on the payment of worker’s wage by
the construction cooperation units
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Require the general contractor to pay the wages
of its own workers in priority and consider this as a
compulsory check item in the annual review of qualified
suppliers
ERpTEADEBEINBIALE @ WHEE
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Deploy facilities for safety production and industrial
diseases protection pursuant to the requirements and
provide compliant protective equipment for workers
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Construction unit must execute their works according
to construction practice guidelines on site, and simple
medical facility must be equipped on site
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Strictly implement the Company’s three-tier safety
education system and prevent the occurrence of workers
attending for work without receiving the three-tier
safety education
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RS - BERRERHE

BUILDING UP RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN

As the Company regards supply chain competitiveness as one of the
core corporate competitiveness, we have maintained supply chain
management strategy of balancing between quality and efficiency.
Through the standardised and specialised suppliers’ closed-loop
management system and open communication sharing mechanism
between suppliers, we strived to build up a responsible supply chain,
to facilitate and strengthen for mutual interests with the enterprises in
the supply chain.

SAFEGUARD THE INTERESTS OF SUPPLIERS

We have maintained a concept of purchasing under a transparent
and open regime, and hence we have strengthened tendering process
and enhanced the standardisation and specialisation of tendering.
We have strived to explore new paths for purchasing information and
have stringently complied with the contracts, and have safeguarded
the basic rights of suppliers with fairness, justice and openness.

ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW OF SUPPLIERS

We highly recognised a long-term cooperation relationship with our
suppliers and has built up a positive cycle of general purchasing,
annual cooperation and strategic purchasing. We have enhanced the
comprehensiveness and closed-loop management for certification,
selection, examination and assessment towards suppliers from
different levels and types. We have identified and fostered possible
strategic relation with our suppliers through the ERP Purchasing
Management Platform.

UPGRADE OF SUPPLIERS’ CAPABILITIES

The stable operation of the Company and long-term development
are supported by the high-quality supply chain, which also favors
the core concept of our corporation and implementation of our
social responsibilities. We will help the suppliers to enhance their
competitiveness, achieve a mutual development with suppliers and
create a continuous win-win approach and development through
various measures and activities. From unilateral examination to
bilateral examination, we invite professional consultant agency
to conduct satisfaction research to suppliers from engineering,
marketing, design and properties and put their feedback into the
evaluation of the project management. We also build a monthly report
system for key suppliers and have senior management conducting
on-site visit for key suppliers and regularly invite outstanding
partners to share their sophisticated experience in order to mutually
improve the ability to perform both parties’ duties. Meanwhile, we
endeavor to cultivate strategic suppliers with high quality for long-
term cooperation. For those suppliers with high quality, they will be
registered in our selected unit automatically and entitled to higher
percentage of payments upon goods delivered and awarded with
public recognition. For existing issues, we will sort out corresponding
solutions one by one.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RS - BERRKRE

REMUNERATION BENEFITS

While ensuring the market competitiveness of our employees’
remunerations, we implement the remuneration system closely
linked with performance to further create an environment where
the interests of the Company and employees are aligned. Under
the principles of complying with the requirements of the laws and
regulations and providing our employees with assurance, we build a
comprehensive benefit system with multiple levels to ensure a stable
growth and development for our employees.

Subject to shareholders’ approval at general meeting, the emoluments
are determined by the Board of Directors of the Company by reference
to the qualification, experience, job duties, responsibilities and
performance and results of the Group and market conditions. Details
of Directors’ and Chief Executive’s and Employee’s Emoluments are
set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We embrace the core values of the Company to build an
appropriate talent development strategy and talent promotion path,
comprehensively promote a multi-level employees training system,
strive to provide a broad platform for employee’s development and
achieve the goal of enterprise development on the basis of employee’s
development.

EMPLOYEES' DEVELOPMENT PATH

We emphasise the professional and occupational growth of
the employees, and we provide the employees with two major
development paths of managerial talent and professional technical
talent. Employees can choose the development path according to
their own career development direction incorporated with the position
requirement of the Company to realise a win-win situation on both
the Company’s development and the employee’s development.

STAFF TRAINING

We have been maximising the inputs on staff training and accelerating
the optimisation of staff training system. After years of fulfillment,
optimisation and innovation, we have developed a staff training
system with three main elements, which are leadership, professional
capability and general performance, in order to provide a favorable
platform for staff’s development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RS - BERRERHE

COMMUNICATION WITH EMPLOYEES

With a view to enhance communication between the staff and the
management, the Group requires every project company to organise
different types of face-to-face communication seminar regularly
throughout the year. Our staff can share their ideas and needs to
the management directly while they can get an instant responses.
Furthermore, it was a brilliant time for the management to point out
their objective and vision to their staff. These seminars can strengthen
both parties” mutual understandings and break any barriers between
them.

SHAREHOLDERS’ AND INVESTORS’
RELATIONSHIPS

Shareholders’ and investors’ relationships are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 83 to 107 of this
annual report.

OPERATION IN COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

The Company strictly complies with the national laws and regulations,
international practices and business ethics, and fulfills the theme
of the central government and China Merchants Group — “Three-
Strictness and Three-Solidness (=& =&)" to strengthen the practice
of building and establishing the implementation of responsibility
and promote the culture of corruption-free and prevention and
punishment system comprehensively. We will consciously accept the
supervision from relevant authorities and strive to become a good
example of operating in compliance with the law and with honesty
and integrity.

The Company is concerned about the establishment of a corporate
legal advising system and has strengthened the legal culture and
research development. The Company has promoted the compliance
works and integration of operation management, so as to enable the
operation of the Company to be in compliance with the applicable law
requirements and contemporary corporate governance requirements
and interests from relevant parties.

We have introduced specific training programmes that meet with
industry’s requirement, with a view to enhance the legal awareness of
our employees, in particular the frontline staff.

We will introduce two-rounds of on-site inspections and promote the
legal risk awareness while building up the precaution mechanism of
legal disputes and achieving an efficient and in advance control of
legal risks.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

RS - BERRKRE

STRENGTHENING RISK CONTROL

With a view to achieve strategic targets, we have developed a risk
management system on the basis of forward-looking and systematised
comprehensiveness, which can also serve as a platform connecting to
the risk management system of the professional departments covering
operating level and business level. Meanwhile, we will gradually
incorporate the non-financial risks management systems, including
environmental protection and anti-corruption, into the comprehensive
risk management system and these can further reduce the potential
risks in the operation processes of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) are pleased to present to the shareholders
their report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for year ended 31 December 2019 (the
“Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
subsidiaries are engaged in the following principal activities:

(i) development, sale, lease, investment and management of
properties;

(i) assets management; and

(iii) investment holding.

SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set
out in note 44 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at that date are set out in the financial
statements on page 118.

The Board recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.14
(equivalent to approximately RMBO0.13) per share in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2019, representing a total payment of
HK$686,736,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB624,930,000).
The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the relevant
resolution at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held, the final dividend is expected to be paid on or
about 30 June 2020 to shareholders.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year, which
includes an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 20 to 45 of this annual report.
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. The
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may face, particulars
of important events affecting the Company that have occurred
since the end of the financial year, and an indication of likely future
development in the Company’s business are set out in the section
headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 5 to 8 of this annual report.
A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and relationships
with its key stakeholders and investors are set out in the sections
headed “Environmental, Policies and Performance” on page 46 to
page 52 of this annual report. The compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Group is set out in
this Directors’ report. The reviews form part of this statement.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 47 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

The Directors consider that the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to RMB4,237,106,000 (2018:
RMB4,800,077,000). Under Chapter 22 of the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is
available for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject
to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during year of 2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of total purchases.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers
were less than 30% of total turnover.

As far as the Directors are aware of, neither the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules™)),
nor any shareholders which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital, had any interest
in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and restated as appropriate, is set out on page 272. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group has contingent liabilities amounted to R\VIB4,467,492,000
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB4,172,353,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, land located in Chongqging, Foshan,
Nanjing and Jurong with carrying values of approximately
RMB6,348,122,000 (2018: RMB4,549,627,000) have been pledged
to secure bank borrowings amounting to RMB1,501,276,000 (2018:
RMB1,216,586,000) granted to the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BONDS

Details of the bonds of the Group are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement scheme of the Group are set out in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of
this report were:

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. XU Yongjun

Mr. HUANG Junlong

Ms. LIU Ning

Executive Directors:
Dr. SO Shu Fai

Mr. YU Zhiliang

Mr. WONG King Yuen

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. SHI Xinping

Mr. HE Qi

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. YU Zhiliang, Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, Ms.
CHEN Yanping and Mr. HE Qi shall retire at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting (“AGM") to be held on 20 May 2020. All the above
retiring Directors, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election
at the AGM. The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from each of the independent non- executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT
IMPACT ON THE COMPANY

Throughout the Year, to the best of their knowledge, information and
belief, the Directors were not aware of any non-compliance by the
Company with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant
impact on the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Insurance cover in respect of liability against the Directors arising from
their offices and execution of their powers, duties and responsibilities
has been arranged and in force during the Year.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had not made any donation.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executives of the Company in the shares or
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571) of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
“SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions in which he was deemed or taken to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company KAREBRRZHR
Percentage of
the Company'’s
Number of issued
ordinary share capital
Name of director Nature of interest shares held HEATE
BEEpR s FREEREE BOTRETESHL
SO Shu Fai Through controlled corporations (Note) 32,054,066 0.65%

ERfaE Bz 2RISR (K:7)

Note: These shares were directly held by Skill China Limited (“Skill China”), which is
owned as to 90% by Dr. SO Shu Fai, an executive Director of the Company, and
10% by Mr. SO Man Cho, the son of Dr. SO Shu Fai. By virtue of Part XV of the
SFO, Dr. SO Shu Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Skill China. Skill
China is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Long positions in underlying shares of associated
corporation

EERERITHRAERALQ AN E TR
ZEZBRG - MEROREFZERR

RE (&)

HEEEMERRD 2FR

Approximately

Number of percentage (%)

underlying in the

Shares associated

involved®°® corporation

Name of director Nature of interest XL RARESEE >

EEHR ERME B EE i) BMABE D (%)

XU Yongjun Beneficial owner 469,334! 0.00%

FTKE EmEA A 124,800? 0.00%

HUANG Junlong Beneficial owner 248,000 0.00%
=E EEEEA

LIU Ning Beneficial owner 248,000’ 0.00%

2= EmEA A 24,6012 0.00%

YU Zhiliang Beneficial owner 133,334! 0.00%
RER EEBEAA

Notel: These are the underlying shares involved in the share options granted by CMSK
(an intermediate controlling shareholder indirectly holding 3,646,889,329
shares, representing approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital of the
Company) to Mr. XU Yongjun, Mr. HUANG Junlong, Ms. LIU Ning and Mr. YU
Zhiliang.

Note 2: These are interests in associated corporation, CMSK, an indirect controlling
shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including the interests and short positions in
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the
Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Apart from the information as disclosed under the heading
“DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS", at no
time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiary corporations or fellow subsidiary
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the following interests of 5% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO:

RHAEBRERORES 2L H

BRI EZERERITBABNARRREBEEE 2K
o~ BB REFZEEAR IREZERMI
FAEAEEREREAESSES A 2B ARK
FFARHBEBBEARARNAEFEFNR 2 E
A WETRBETEEMAREEN  AQR - HiZkR
NSRS B =N AT = NI D) 1 RV
FEFRHEEE ZEBIAKNFEFRREFAEMBAR
EEESHRENZEMRZH -

FERRREMATRAEQF KRG RE
RO zEDZIAE

RZZ-AF+-A=1+—8  TIRERREDET
PR AR 5% 3k A R B RSN RIBE 5 R B &AI
FEI36EARNFRAFE 2 RAECMA

Percentage of

the Company'’s
Number of ordinary shares held issued share
Capacity and nature FREEREA capital
Name of interest Long position Short position  {EERAFE BT
g BORERME 35} wE RAEBDE
China Merchants Group Ltd. (“CMG") Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
BEREBAERAR([BERER]) BEEH 2 ARHE
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK")
BERE O I XEERRHERAR g /N ]
([BEwal)
Eureka Investment Company Limited Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
("Eureka”)
hRREEEERAR([HE]) g /N EE Y ]
Success Well Investments Limited Beneficial interest 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

("Success Well")
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, approximately 74.35% of the issued share
capital of the Company is directly held by Success Well. Success Well is
20% and 80% owned by Good Ease Holdings Limited (“Good Ease”)
and Eureka respectively. Good Ease was wholly-owned by Eureka,
which was in turn wholly-owned by CMSK. CMG directly or indirectly
owned more than 63% of the issued share capital of CMSK, and CMG
is owned and controlled by the SASAC of the PRC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no person other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section “INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
OF THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS" above, had registered an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required
to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND
DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
its holding company or any of its subsidiary corporations was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received
or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made
by the Company or a related company with the Director or with a firm
of which he is a shareholder or with a company in which he has a
substantial financial interest.
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BEEGHRSE

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” (except for connected transactions at the subsidiary
level), “CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” and “NON-
COMPETITION DEED” in this report, there were no contract of
significance between any member of the Group and the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or contract of significance for the provision of
services to any member of the Group by a controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries subsisted as at the end of the Year or during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, all Directors declared that they do not have interests
in the businesses, which compete or are likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The 2011 Share Option Scheme was adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 September 2011 for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who have
contributed to the success of the Group’s operations. No grants under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme were made during the year ended
31 December 2019. Since the adoption of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme on 27 September 2011 (“Adoption Date”) and up to and
including 31 December 2019, no share option has ever been granted
under it.

A brief summary of the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is set
out below:

1. Purpose of the scheme
The purpose of the scheme is to enable the Group to grant share
options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2.

Participants of the scheme

The Directors may within a period of ten (10) years commencing
from the 2011 Share Option Scheme make offer for the grant of
options to subscribe for Shares to eligible participants, namely,
(a) any full time employee, executive or executive director of the
Company, its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member
of the Group holds any equity interest; (b) any non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the
Company, any subsidiary or any entity in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”); (c) any
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (d) any customer of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any
holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise)
or consultant to any area of business or business development
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any
other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
the Group, and, for the purposes of the scheme, the offer may
be made to any company wholly owned by one or more eligible
participants mentioned above.

Total number of securities available for issue under
the scheme and percentage

According to the scheme mandate limit approved by the
shareholders on the Adoption Date, the Directors are authorised
to grant share options to subscribe up to 106,846,886 Shares,
representing 10% of the total number of issued shares as at
the Adoption Date. As no offer for grant of share options has
ever been made under the scheme, the total number of Shares
underlying the share options available for grant is 106,846,886
Shares, representing approximately 2% of the total number of
issued shares as at the date of this annual report. As there are
no options granted under the scheme and hence there are no
outstanding options under the scheme, the total number of
Shares available for issued under the scheme is zero.

B8 ()

2.

AtEzBRE

EENE T —FEREFSBHNET10)F
HEAREHBREABEROAEERSHE
FEREED  B@ARA  HBAFAHAE

BEMKEARREFREEAREZEMNE
EQZEHEH“MEE\ TTBRABSEBITES : (b)

ARE] - AEAMERRRAKEEMKE AT
E/\EEP%E%EH%\ ZEMER(TRERR])
ZIEMGFATER(BRBILFATES) (0
AASEEMKE AR SEMRERRERHRE
R  EAHEER  (DARBEMKER
AIREMREERZERMETPS © e)MAKEE
Ak B AR HEMKREEREHMT - FHEX
Hp R ek 2 ERALRER - (HAREBEM

ﬁk%@ﬁ?‘i&ﬂ&é‘aﬁz&ﬂﬁﬁ HAE
BEMKEARSEMREERETZEME
HFZIERBEA (g )K%EEHEXE\ A ME

MREBEEZEMNEEREREREE M
BE(EXRIEMTEH) LBHKER - R(h)FEd
BEME EBBBEXEMEBLEMERA
REEAEEZERMREELDRER 2 EAEMAE
BIEER28E  SAREME  BHOART
EXFrit—R2RZRAER2RERERA 2
(EREPNC]

FFEIE TR T RFEMR B

BERERRABESPIEZTERELR - &
FERER D EREURERZ106,846,886/%
B BERRABSHEETROEERI0% -
ARBRERBTEMRE FERERLEY 7
B BERR A 2 BR () 428105 106,846,886 X A% 17
FHERAFEREPHEBRITROBEL2% - AR
FTEIE TR L B AR - AT EITE T I 4
RITHE 2 BERE - EEEE TN BT 2R M
BEAT -

—NFFHR BERBRLERARA 63



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BEEGHRSE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

4,

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the Options and the options granted
under any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each Grantee in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company for the time being.

Period within which Shares must be taken up under
an option

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the option
is granted.

Minimum period before an option can be exercised
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance and period within
which payment must be made

HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the option within 21 days
from its date of grant.

Basis for determining exercise price

The exercise price in respect of any option shall, subject to any
adjustments made pursuant to the terms of scheme, be at the
discretion of the Directors, provided that it shall be at least the
highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more
board lots of the Shares on the date of grant;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(c) the nominal value of a Share.

Life of the scheme

The scheme has a life of 10 years commencing from the
Adoption Date and will expire on the 10th anniversary of the
Adoption Date, namely, 27 September 2021.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

W)

On 17 December 2018, an amended and restated non-
competition deed was entered into between the Group and
CMSK Group pursuant to which, among other things, (i) CMSK
and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) (“CMSK Group”) will
not compete with the Group in the cities of Foshan, Guangzhou,
Nanjing, and Jurong (the “Four CML Cities”) except for certain
operation transitional assets (“Operation Transitional Assets”)
located in Foshan which would be retained by CMSK Group
but managed by the Group under certain operation agreement
entered into between the Group and CMSK; (i) with respect to
Chongging and Xi'an, the Company is considering to cease to
conduct Property Business (other than participating in property
related investments on a minority basis across the PRC (the
“Non-Controlling Investment Arrangement”)) in and exit from
such two cities in due course, depending on the results of
an annual review process; (i) CMSK Group will not compete
with the Group in the cities of Chongging and Xi‘an unless
the Group ceases to conduct Property Business (other than the
Non-Controlling Investment Arrangement) in such cities; (iv)
the Group will not compete with CMSK in 46 other cities in
the PRC ("CMSK Cities”) except the Group will have the rights
to participate in the Non-Controlling Investment Arrangement
across the PRC (including the CMSK Cities); (v) the Group will
also be entitled to conduct the Asset Management Business
for office premises in Beijing and Shanghai exclusively, subject
to the duly transfer of all equity interest of CMSK Group in
Asset Management Business for office premises in Beijing and
Shanghai to the Group (the “Proposed Transfer I”); and (vi) the
Company will no longer have the perpetual right of first refusal
to conduct Property Business (the “Right of First Refusal”)
for other cities in the PRC in which neither the Group nor the
CMSK Group has a Property Business as at the date of the Non-
Competition Deed (“Unoccupied Cities”).

As at 17 December 2018, CMSK held approximately 74.35%
of the Company’s issued shares and is therefore a controlling
shareholder and connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. According, entering into the amended and restated
non-competition deed constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details,
please refer to the relevant paragraphs under the heading of
“NON-COMPETITION DEED" in this report, the announcement of
the Company dated 17 December 2018 and the circular of the
Company dated 10 January 2019.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

@)

On 15 March 2019, Converge Holdings Limited (“Converge”)
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), China
Merchants and SPF Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd
(the “General Partner”) and Poly Field Holdings Limited (“Poly
Field”) entered into an Interest Transfer Agreement (“Interest
Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to which Poly Field has
conditionally agreed to transfer and assign to Converge, and
Converge has conditionally agreed to accept the transfer and
assignment from Poly Field, the partnership interest in the
Super Alliance Real Estate Partners L.P. (“Partnership”), at the
consideration of approximately RMB369,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$432,256,000). On 15 March 2019, Cosmos
Boom Investment Limited (“Cosmos Boom”) (a directly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Poly Field entered
into a sale and purchase agreement (“Sales and Purchase
Agreement”), pursuant to which Poly Field shall sell and Cosmos
Boom shall purchase 51% of the issued share capital of the
Grand Synergy Asset Management Limited (“Target Company”)
which is engaged in asset management business at an initial
consideration of approximately RMB234,100 (equivalent to
approximately HK$274,000).

Poly Field is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMSK. CMSK is the
controlling shareholder of the Company indirectly holding
approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital of the
Company and hence a connected person of the Company. Poly
Field, as an associate of CMSK, is a connected person of the
Company. The General partner is held directly by Poly Field as
to 33%, and hence, an associate of CMSK and a connected
person of the Company. Therefore, the entering into the
Interest Transfer Agreement and the transactions contemplated
therein also constitute a connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. For details of the above-mentioned
transactions, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 15 March 2019 and the circular dated 17 May 2019 of the
Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

3)

On 30 May 2019, Wealth Active Holdings Limited (“Wealth
Active”) as the purchaser entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with DGW Jurong Investment Alpha SP (“DGW
Jurong”) as vendor and Torch Investment Company Limited
(“Torch Investment”), pursuant to which Wealth Active
has conditionally agreed to acquire, and DGW Jurong has
conditionally agreed to sell 30% of the total issued share
capital of Torch Investment, and a sale loan (the “Sale
Loan”), representing the shareholder’s loan owed by Torch
Investment to DGW Jurong, for an aggregate consideration of
approximately RMB154,969,700 (equivalent to approximately
HK$181,423,000).

DGW Jurong holds 30% of the total issued share capital of
Torch Investment, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. Accordingly, DGW Jurong, being a substantial
shareholder of Torch Investment, is a connected person of
the Company at the subsidiary level. Therefore, the entering
into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details of the above-mentioned transactions, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 30 May 2019.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(4) On 20 July 2019, Guangzhou Merchants Property Development
Limited* (“Guangzhou Merchants”, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into a cooperation
agreement (“Cooperation Agreement”) with Guangdong Poly
Property Development Limited* (“Guangdong Poly”), Jinmao
Investment (Guangdong) Limited* (“Jinmao Guangdong”),
China Railway Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. South China*(“China
Railway (South China)”) and the Guangzhou City Suiyun
Property Limited*(“Project Company”) for the development of
a piece of land situated in Guangdong Province (the “Land”)
through the Project Company. Pursuant to the Cooperation
Agreement, Guangzhou Merchants, Guangdong Poly, Jinmao
Guangdong and China Railway (South China) shall bear the
land price of RMB4,115,730,000 and the initial contribution of
RMB40,000,000 in proportion to their respective shareholdings
in the Project Company of 25%, 25%, 25% and 25%. As at
the date of the Cooperation Agreement, the registered capital
of the Project Company is RMB10,000,000. Upon completion
of the Cooperation Agreement, the registered capital of the
Project Company shall be increased to RMB40,000,000, which
shall be contributed and held by each of Guangzhou Merchants,
Guangdong Poly, Jinmao Guangdong and China Railway (South
China) according to their respective shareholdings in the Project
Company.

Poly Jiangsu Real Estate Development Co., Limited* (”Poly
Jiangsu”), a substantial shareholder of the Company’s subsidiary
Nanjing Shanjieyi Property Development Company Limited*
(“Nanjing Shanjieyi”), is a connected person of the Company at
the subsidiary level. Guangdong Poly and Poly Jiangsu are fellow
subsidiaries under the control of Poly Development Holding
Group Limited*. Guangdong Poly, therefore, is an associate
of connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level
pursuant to Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules. The Project
Company is a company to be used to develop the Land by each
of the JV Partners, and is a subsidiary of Guangdong Poly as at
the date of the Cooperation Agreement, and therefore, also an
associate of connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level pursuant to Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the entering into of the Cooperation Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

For details of the Cooperation Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 20 July 2019.

* The English name is for identification only. The official name of the entity is in
Chinese.
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EEGHRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(5)

On 21 October 2019, the Company and CMSK entered into a re-
amended and restated non-competition deed (“Re-amended and
Restated Non-competition Deed”), which has been approved
on the EGM held on 8 November 2019 by the shareholders of
the company and will supersede and replace in its entirety the
amended and restated non-competition deed entered on 17
December 2018.

Pursuant to the Re-amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, the Group will have the rights to participate in the REIT
Management Business for REITs with underlying properties
permitted to be situated in or come from all over the PRC on an
exclusive basis. In return, the Company (by itself or through its
subsidiaries) are entitled to receive cash and/or units in the REITSs.
Other than the inclusion of the REIT Management Business and
the updates to the terms with respect to the Asset Management
Business for Office Premises in Beijing and Shanghai in order
to reflect the situation at the time of the completion of the
Proposed Transfer |, the other terms with respect to the (a) Non-
Controlling Investment Arrangement; (b) Asset Management
Business for Office Premises in CML Cities plus Beijing and
Shanghai; and (c) Property Business of the Re-amended and
Restated Non-Competition Deed remain unchanged compared
to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed.

For details, please refer to the relevant paragraphs under the
heading of “NON-COMPETITION DEED" in the report, the
announcement of the Company and the circular of the Company
dated 21 October 2019.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(6)

*

On 31 December 2019, Chin Merchants Nanjing Real Estate
Co., Ltd* (“Merchants Nanjing”, an indirect non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into a cooperation
agreement (“Cooperation Agreement”) with Poly Jiangsu and
Zhangzhou Xuanyue Corporate Management Consultancy
Limited* (“Zhangzhou Xuanyue") for the development of a piece
of land situated in Jiangsu province (“Land”) through the Nanjing
Yuening Property Development Limited* (“Project Company”).
Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Merchants Nanjing,
Poly Jiangsu and Zhangzhou Xuanyue shall bear the Land
price of RMB2,040,000,000 in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in the Project Company being 33%, 33% and
34%, respectively.

As of the date of this Cooperation Agreement, the registered
capital of the Project Company is RMB50,000,000, which has
been contributed and held by Merchants Nanjing, Poly Jiangsu
and Zhangzhou Xuanyue in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in the Project Company being 33%, 33% and
34%, respectively. The Group’s share of the total investment is
approximately RMB916,690,000.

Poly Jiangsu, a substantial shareholder of the Company’s
subsidiary Nanjing Shanjieyi, is a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level. Accordingly, the entering into of
the Cooperation Agreement constitutes a connected transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details of the Cooperation Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2019.

The English name is for identification only. The official name of the entity is in
Chinese.

70 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

BEXZ @)

(6)

*

R=ZF—hhF+=-A=+—8 BEREE
R)BERATR([BERER]) (AR a A EEIE
2EHBAR) BRFTEHREEME R EEE
AR AB (EMES DTG ERZE(E
et L) - LAERIEB A R —BA NI &
Bz ([ZLH]) - REBEAERR - BEB
BAR - RAIAEEMNEFIRBZESEREE
NAEIRI IR ELL5133% ~ 33% M 34% FEAEHE A
R#2,040,000,0007T °

HEAEGERZBH BEATNEMERA
AR #50,000,0007 * EHBEBER © (RH
IERREMNE IR E S ARIBE AT MREL
Bl33% ~ 33% K34%HE KRR - NEBE G
MBI EL B AREEI16,690,0007T °

RIIHA/ARANBRARRARENENTE
PRER - WARAARR BN E DR EESEA

T o Ht c BRIELETRAE4AE G EE
WEERARRNEERS -
AEWHZFEE  M2HARA T —NF

TZA=+—RHZASE

o

RXEMESER - B2 ERABMWATX -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

W)

On 7 April 2017, Merchants Guangzhou as landlord and
Guangzhou China Merchants — Colisée Senior Care Services Co.,
Ltd. (EMBRISFEEZRBER A F]) (“Merchants — Colisée
Senior Care”) (a company established under the laws of the
PRC with limited liability, which is an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of CMSK), as tenant entered into a tenancy agreement
(the “Tenancy Agreement”) in respect of a four-storey building
located at Block 12, No. 139, Dongyi Road, Donghuan Street,
Panyu District, the Hills Ecool, Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (the “Property”), for a rental term of three
years subject to automatic renewal for three times, the cap of the
aggregate of which will be ten years.

The annual cap of the aggregate maximum amount payable by
Merchants — Colisée Senior Care to Merchants Guangzhou under
the Tenancy Agreement for each of the 11 financial years ending
31 December 2027 and the detail of the Tenancy Agreement are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 7 April 2017 for
information.

The annual cap for the transaction under the aforementioned
agreement for the year of 2019 was set at RMB6,200,040.

Merchants — Colisée Senior Care is an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of CMSK which is the intermediate holding company
of the Company. Accordingly, the Tenancy Agreement entered
into by Merchants Guangzhou and Merchants — Colisée Senior
Care, and the transaction contemplated thereby constitutes
a continuing connected transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, as the maximum
annual rental receivable under the Tenancy Agreement is not
expected to exceed 5% of the applicable percentage ratios
calculated under the Listing Rules, the transaction contemplated
under the Tenancy Agreement is only subject to the reporting,
annual review and announcement requirements but exempt
from the circular (including independent financial advice) and
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2)
of the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BEEGHRSE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

)

(continued)

Given that the terms of the Tenancy Agreement were negotiated
on an arm'’s length basis with reference to the market standard,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
consider that the terms of the Tenancy Agreement are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group, and in the interests of the
Group and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

OPERATION AGREEMENT

On 30 January 2019, the Company entered into the Operation
Agreement with CMSK pursuant to which the Group will provide
project operational support services to CMSK, including but not
limited to taking charge of land acquisition, project development
and sales, commencing from 30 January 2019 up to 31
December 2021 (both days inclusive). CMSK is the controlling
shareholder of the Company holding approximately 74.35% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Operation
Agreement was set at RMB 7 million for the year of 2019.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT MASTER AGREEMENT

On the same date, the Company also entered into the
Property Management Master Agreement with Merchants
Property Management pursuant to which Merchants Property
Management, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMSK, will provide
property management services to the Group’s PRC operating
subsidiaries, commencing from 30 January 2019 up to 31
December 2021 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transaction under the Property
Management Master Agreement was set at RMB180 million for
the year of 2019.

Details, including the annual caps, of both Operation Agreement
and Property Management Master Agreement, please refer to
the Announcement of the Company dated 30 January 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

3)

Reference is made to and as disclosed in the Offering Circular
of the CMC REIT dated 28 November 2019 that (i) CMC REIT
was constituted by the Trust Deed entered into on 15 November
2019 between CMLAM (as the REIT Manager) and the Trustee,
and (ii) following the completion of the global offering of the
units of CMC REIT, Eureka would become a holder of the units
of CMC REIT holding more than 30% of the issued units of CMC
REIT. CMLAM has been providing the REIT Management Services
to CMC REIT pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed. Since
CMSK is a connected person of the Company by virtue of being
a controlling shareholder of the Company, CMC REIT is deemed
as an associate of CMSK under the Listing Rules, the REIT
Management Services provided by CMLAM to CMC REIT under
the Trust Deed constitutes a continuing connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Trust Deed set for
the year of 2019 was RMB1.6 million.

More details, including the annual caps, are disclosed in the
Announcement dated 28 November 2019 and the supplemental
announcement dated 25 March 2020 of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions had been entered into:

(i)
(i)

(iii)

in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms or better; and
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them and

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BEEGHRSE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740, Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The Board has received an unqualified letter from the
auditors of the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules containing the auditors’ findings and conclusion on the
above continuing connected transactions of the Group, stating that
the auditors have not noticed anything that causes them to believe
that any of these continuing connected transactions: (a) have not
been approved by the Board; (b) were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group if the transactions
involving the provision of goods or services by the Group; (c) were not
entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such continuing connected transactions in all material aspects; and (d)
have exceeded the relevant annual caps for the financial year ended
31 December 2019.

Save as the aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non- exempted
connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected
transaction under the Listing Rules during the Year.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Related Party Disclosures” as disclosed
in Note 43 the consolidated financial statements for the Year
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-
exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Related Party Disclosures” constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules, the company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

MAJOR TRANSACTION

On 16 December 2019, the Company, as guarantor, entered into a
guarantee agreement in favour of the Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Limited (“Bank”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide
guarantee for the due performance of the repayment obligations
of the Sky Castle Limited, as the Borrower a company owned as to
40% by Sino Land Company Limited, 30% by K. Wah International
Holdings Limited and 30% by the Company, in respect of a facilities
up to an aggregate principal amount of HK$5,273,000,000 provided
by the Bank. For details, please refer to the announcement dated
16 December 2019 and the circular dated 12 February 2020 of the
Company.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below, the Directors are not aware of any
circumstances which would be required to disclose herein pursuant to
the requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

e On 15 May 2017, the Company as a borrower entered into a
facility agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan facility
of up to RMB600,000,000 which has a term of 36 months
commencing from the date of initial drawdown;

e On 16 January 2018, the Company as a borrower entered into a
facility agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan facility of
up to RMB660,000,000 which has a term of 3 years commencing
from the date of the first drawdown;

e On 13 June 2018, the Company as a borrower has entered
into a facility agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan
facility of up to RMB1,000,000,000 which has a term of 3 years
commencing from the date of the facility agreement;
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BEEGHRSE

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

On 15 June 2018, the Company as a borrower has entered
into a facility agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan
facility of up to RMB1,000,000,000 which has a term of 3 years
commencing from the date of the first drawdown;

On 12 December 2018, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to which the placing
agent agreed to act as placing agent, on a reasonable effort
basis, for the purposes of procuring placees to subscribe in cash
for the bonds with an aggregate principal amount of up to
RMB1.9 billion. The bonds has a term of 3 years commencing
from 18 December 2018.

On 28 March 2019, the Company has entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan facility of
RMB400,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of 3 years
commencing from the date of the first drawdown.

On 28 March 2019, the Company confirmed its acceptance of
a committed term loan facility relating to a RMB1,000,000,000
committed term loan facility with a bank. The term of 36 months
was commencing from the date of Facility Agreement.

On 16 April 2019, the Company has entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to a revolving loan facility of
up to RMB1,000,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of 3 years
commencing from the date of the Facility Agreement.

On 9 May 2019, the Company has entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to an uncommitted revolving
loan facility of up to HK$800,000,000. The Loan Facility has a
term of 180 days commencing from the date of drawdown of
each loan.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

On 10 June 2019, the Company has entered into a Facility
Agreement with a bank in relation to a committed term loan
facility up to RMB1,000,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of
3 years commencing from the date of first drawdown.

The following events (among other things) would trigger breach
of one or more of the above mentioned loan agreements:

(i) CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at
least 40% of the issued share capital of the Company;

(i)  CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at
least 50% of the issued share capital of the Company;

(i) CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at
least 51% of the issued share capital of the Company;

(iv) CMSK ceases to directly or indirectly own or hold at least
50.1% of the issued share capital of the Company;

(v) the shares of CMSK ceases for any reason to be listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor) or such listing is
suspended for more than 15 consecutive trading days due
to non-compliance with the rules of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (or its successor) or breach of any undertaking
given to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor);

(vi) China Merchants Group Limited (“CMG") ceases to be the
single largest shareholder of CMSK (beneficially owned,
directly or indirectly, the largest proportionate shareholding
or ownership interest in CMSK from time to time) and
ceases to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least
40% of the entire shareholding or ownership interest in
CMSK;

(vii) CMG ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at
least 50% of the entire shareholding or ownership interest
in CMSK;

(viii) CMG ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly)
at least 50.1% of the entire shareholding or ownership
interest in CMSK; or
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BEEGHRSE

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

(ix) CMG ceases to be controlled by The State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council of the PRC or any other similarly empowered
authorities of the PRC government.

Certain loan agreements mentioned above contain cross default
provisions so that if the Company or any of its subsidiaries
commits a default under any other loan agreement(s) to which it
is a borrower that entitles any creditor to declare any borrowed
monies under such loan agreement(s) due and payable and the
amount in aggregate exceeds US$15,000,000, or its equivalent
in other currencies it will also constitute an event of default under
those loan agreements.

Details of the above mentioned loan agreements made pursuant
to the requirements of Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules were
disclosed in the announcements of the Company and the
subsequent internal/annual report of the Company respectively.

The placing agreement dated 12 December 2018 mentioned above
contained the clause that it is an event of default if (i) any other
present or future indebtedness of the Company, CMSK or any of
their respective subsidiaries for or in respect of moneys borrowed
or raised becomes (or becomes capable of being declared) due and
payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any actual or potential
default, event of default or the like (howsoever described), or (ii)
any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be,
within any originally applicable grace period, or (iii) the Company,
CMSK or any of their respective subsidiaries fails to pay when due any
amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or
indemnity in respect of, any moneys borrowed or raised provided that
the aggregate amount of the relevant indebtedness, guarantees and
indemnities mentioned above in this condition have occurred equals
or exceeds RMB100 million or its equivalent. Ihere are also certain
events of default under the terms and conditions of the bonds which
may be triggered by, amongst other things, the Company, CMSK or
their principal subsidiaries becoming insolvent, bankrupt, or dissolved.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
12 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate outstanding principal

of loans owed by the Group under the above agreements were
RMB7,560,000,000.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Year, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosure in this report, the Company has not entered into
any equity-linked agreements for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three members, two of whom
are independent non-executive Directors and one of whom is non-
executive Director. During the Year and at the date of this report, the
Audit Committee comprises the following members:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Ms. LIU Ning
Dr. SHI Xinping

The Audit Committee carries out its functions in accordance with and
the Listing Rules, including the following:

(i) reviews the audit plans of the internal and external auditors
of the Company, and reviews the internal auditor’s evaluation
of the adequacy of the Company’s and the Group’s system of
internal accounting controls and the assistance given by the
Company’s management to the external and internal auditors;

(i) reviews the annual financial statements of the Company and
of the Group before their submission to the Directors of the
Company and the external auditor’s report thereon;

(iiiy reviews the half year results announcements on the financial
performance and financial position of the Group before their
submission to the Board;

(iv) makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
external and internal auditors;

(v) meets with the external auditor, other committees and
management in separate executive sessions to discuss any
matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately
with the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee convened
three meetings during the Year. The Audit Committee has also
met with the Company’s external auditor, without the presence
of the Company’s management, at least once a year. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board the nomination of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for reappointment as independent
auditor of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company is committed to maintaining a sound system of internal
controls. Corporate Governance Details of the corporate governance
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”in
this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu audited the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2018, while SHINEWING audited the Group's consolidated
financial statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2017
and 2016.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the auditors
of the Company during the past three years.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has expressed its willingness to accept
re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment
as auditor shall be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BEEGHRSE

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT EHABRERE

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and  RIEAR R AR AISER RIEE EHAE - RARE
with the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained HE @ ARR—E#FARREHERHITK AT D
sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s total issued  25% < B A RIEHRE

share capital as at the date of this report.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD RERESS

XU Yongjun FE

Chairman FFKE

Hong Kong B

27 March 2020 —E-EF=ZA-++HA
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

The Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)) are pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year”).

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board considers that a good corporate governance of the
Company is the core to safeguarding the interests of the shareholders
of the Group and enhancing the performance of the Group. The
Board reviews its corporate governance practices from time to time in
order to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and to fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

During the Year, the Company has adopted, for corporate governance
purposes, the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
"HK CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (collectively, the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has complied with the HK CG Code (to the extent
that such provisions are applicable) except for below deviations from
code provisions A.4.1, A.6.7 and E.1.2 of the HK CG Code which are
explained in the relevant paragraphs of this report. The Company will
continue to enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to
the conduct and growth of its businesses and to review such practices
from time to time to ensure that they comply with the HK CG Code.
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SREARE

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The primary role of the Board is to lead and control the Company’s
operations and affairs and to protect and enhance long-term value of
shareholders’. The Board oversees the management of the businesses
and affairs of the Group and is responsible for the overall performance
of the Group.

The Board monitors the financial performance and the internal
controls of the Group’s business operations.

The Board is in charge to promote the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective
manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to all shareholders of the Group for
the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed,
controlled and operated. A Director is required to keep abreast of his
responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for providing guidance to overall
management of the businesses and affairs of the Group. To facilitate
effective management, certain functions have been delegated
to various Board committees, namely Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, each of which has its
own written terms of reference and whose actions are reported to and
monitored by the Board. The effectiveness of each committee is also
constantly monitored.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code
Provision D.3.1 of the HK CG Code. During the Year, the Board
has reviewed the corporate governance policy and the Company’s
internal codes for securities dealing. The Board will review, consider
and determine the appropriate policy for corporate governance of the
Company from time to time.

Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and skill and
fiduciary duties as executive Directors. The functions of non- executive
Directors have included the functions as specified in the code provision
A.6.2(a) to (d) of the HK CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings

BExgmwm)
EEE2EE

The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the FR  KEERNEEE ERZES REELEEek
Board, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the HElZEE & 2 HEDREHIWOT ¢
Remuneration Committee during the Year are set out below:
Audit  Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
=g EREES REZES FMEES
Number of meeting held during the Year FRETEH 2 RE 4 2 1 1
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun (Note 1) OB E(MET) 1/4 = 171 -
Mr. HUANG Junlong HHELE 4/4 - - 11
Ms. LIU Ning 2=+ 4/4 2/2 - -
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai (Note 2) BEEE L (a2) 2/4 - - -
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERKE 4/4 - - -
Mr. WONG King Yuen BRREE 4/4 - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert FoxiEEL 4/4 2/2 - 11
Ms. CHEN Yanping GES . 4/4 - 1/1 1/1
Dr. SHI Xinping FHIEEL 4/4 2/2 1”1 -
Mr. HE Qi CEspa 4/4 - - -
Notes: Mt -
(1) Appointed as non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the chairman (1) BZZ—RFZA+\BREZTAINTES EFESIF

of the nomination committee of the Company with effect from 18 March 2016.
Due to business affairs, Mr. XU could not attend three of Board Meetings held
during the year. Mr. XU had appointed Mr. HUANG to act his alternate to attend

the Board Meetings held.

2) Due to business affairs, Dr. SO could not attend the two Board Meetings held

during the year.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee were recorded in
sufficient details of matters considered at the meetings and decisions
reached including any concerns or dissenting views raised by the
Directors. All the minutes are kept by the company secretary and are
open for inspection at any time on reasonable notice given by any
Director.

Directors can access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that Board procedures and applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

In addition, all Directors are regularly updated on corporate
governance and regulatory matters. On a continuing basis, Directors
are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters relevant to the
Group and attend briefings and seminars as appropriate. Guideline
is available for Directors to obtain independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company in the furtherance of their duties. The
Company has also arranged appropriate liability insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. XU Yongjun, a non-executive Director, is the chairman of the
Board. The chairman is responsible for leading the Board to ensure its
effectiveness on all aspects of its role and set its agenda.

Mr. YU Zhiliang, an executive Director who has been re-designated
from the chief financial officer to general manager of the Company
since 18 August 2016 is currently responsible for the Group’s strategic
development and operational plans, and in particular, the day-to-
day operations of the Company’s business, which are as same as
the duties discharged by a chief executive officer. Therefore, the
Company considers that the division of responsibilities between the
chairman and the role of a chief executive has been achieved within
the Company'’s written guidelines.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This
is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are responsible for their own training needs and report
to the Company. The Company will provide suitable training course
for the Directors at the Company’s expenses.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory
developments, as well as business and market changes, to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. During the Year, all Directors
have complied with code provision A.6.5 of the HK CG Code to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills by attending seminars, in-house
briefings or reading materials on the following topics:

&)
ARR AR ERNEERRUNEEBETISE
b MESRUENEA  UWHDHEEBETRE - F
N 2REECETHEELERERTATRIKXE
A65HSESEZ XY - BBLEFHAT IR
ZBE - NN RBEME - BRITHEZEZM
B IREE

Attending seminars/
Reading materials

SHEHE FEMR
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun FOKERE v
Mr. HUANG Junlong =yl St v
Ms. LIU Ning BlEL+ v
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai B L v
Mr. YU Zhiliang REREE v
Mr. WONG King Yuen BEHRELE v
Independent non-executive Directors BUHBITESE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert FoxEE L 4
Ms. CHEN Yanping PRECE 22+ v
Dr. SHI Xinping SEETTE L v
Mr. HE Qi Al By 4 A v

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated functions that are necessary and incidental
to carrying out the decision of the Board or to facilitate the day-to-day
operation of the Group in the ordinary course of business to the senior
management and divisional heads of different units.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board
to senior management include execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate internal
controls and risk management procedures, and compliance with
relevant statutory requirements and rules and regulations.
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Directors are provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information in such form and of such quality as will enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all
other cases, an agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent in
full to all Directors in a timely manner and at least three days before
the intended date of a Board meeting.

Management is aware that they have an obligation to supply the
Board and its committees with adequate information in a timely
manner to enable them to make informed decisions. The information
supplied must be complete and reliable. The Board and each Director
have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management for making further enquires where necessary.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised of three members:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. XU Yongjun (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Director:
Ms. CHEN Yanping (Member)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is regulated by a set of terms of reference.

The Group has a formal, considerate and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Director to the Board. The Group has
adopted a nomination procedure and the Board, based on the criteria
established, evaluate and select candidates for the directorships.

In assessing, selecting and recommending candidates for directorship
to the Board, the Nomination Committee will give due consideration
to the factors including but not limited to:

(@) reputation for character and integrity;
(b) accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in

which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

() commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

(d) diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service;

(e) contribution that the candidates can potentially bring to the
Board; and

(f)  plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered the effectiveness of
the Board as a whole and its board committees in addition to the
contribution by the chairman and each individual director to the
effectiveness of the Board on an annual basis. The performance
evaluation criteria include an evaluation of the structure, composition
and size of the Board, the Board's access to complete, adequate
and timely information, Board’s procedures and accountability.
The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company.

The Nomination Committee will ensure that Directors appointed
to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and
knowledge to enable balanced and well-considered decisions to be
made. The performance criteria that the Nomination Committee will
consider in relation to an individual Director include the Director’s
industry knowledge and/or expertise, time and effort dedicated to
the Group’s business and affairs, work commitments, attendance
and participation at the Board and Board committee meetings. Each
member of the Nomination Committee shall abstain from voting on
any resolutions and making recommendation and/or participating in
respect of the matters in which he is interested.

The Nomination Committee shall hold at least one regular meeting in
a year. Additional meetings shall be held as and when required. The
independence of each Director is reviewed annually. The Nomination
Committee satisfied that the independence of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors meets the requirements set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nominating Committee
has assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and is satisfied that there are no relationships which would
deem any of the independent non-executive Directors not to be
independent. The Board is able to exercise independent judgment
on corporate affairs and provide the management with a diverse and
objective perspective on issues.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board
representations, the Nomination Committee and the Board are
satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the
Directors to the affairs of the Group.

The Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects of
its business. The Board Diversity Policy was adopted since September
2013,

Diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to professional
qualifications and experience, cultural and educational background,
race and ethnicity, gender, age and length of service. In forming its
perspective on diversity, the Company will also take into account
factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. The Nomination Committee would review the measurable
objectives under the Board Diversity Policy and the progress of
attainment, so as to ensure effective implementation. The Nomination
Committee is satisfied that the current board composition has
achieved a diversity and would enhance the quality of performance of
the Company.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting and
the committee has performed the following duties:

— reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

- recommended re-election of the retiring Directors after assessing
their contribution and performance, and has reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the board in accordance with
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules; and

—  reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and made
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Code provision A.4.1 of the HK CG Code stipulated that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. The non-executive Directors and all the independent non-
executive Directors do not have specific terms of appointment which
is a deviation from the said HK CG Code. However, all of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting ("AGM") according to the Company’s Articles of Association.
The Board considers that the requirement has the same effect of
accomplishing the same objective as a specific term of appointment.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of the
Group.

The Remuneration Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:
Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman)
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Member)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal function of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure
that a formal and transparent set of policies and procedures are
in place for determining executive remuneration and for fixing the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and that no Director
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year,
the Remuneration Committee covers all aspects of emoluments,
including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination
of their office or appointment. In setting remuneration packages,
the Remuneration Committee takes into consideration the pay
and employment conditions within the industry and in comparable
companies, as well as the Group's relative performance and their
individual performance. The Remuneration Committee will seek
expert advice on remuneration of all Directors as and when necessary.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued) FNEES @)
The Remuneration Committee is regulated by a set of written terms of #FMZEE X EEBETERE - H X ERAEBIE
reference. Its key functions include:

e reviewing and recommending to the Board the Company’'s o ZBEERAQRABEHEZEEERaRERES

policies and structure for all Directors and senior management'’s B (B B35 ) RB IS E LALAR S| - B EE Kgk
remuneration as are competitive and appropriate to attract, BABKINEERARRMTERZEZTRER
retain and motivate Directors and senior management of EIE)ZBURREE  URRBRIEARAE
the required quality to run the Company successfully and on REZEFHEISMER  MESSELERS
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for B

developing remuneration policy;

e reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration o Z2ZEFG s MCEFHLEE  EHRIES
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and BEHEE
objectives;

e ejther determining (with delegated responsibility) or making e §%§$ALFTT£§;?%W%$AEE§TE‘J%?L
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of TEENEREIRE 2 FHNEF
individual executive Directors and senior management;

e reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive o EHEHERBITEELSAEIEEBEB AR
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination IEB R EE 2 ETESE LME%E%%E%E-\,\
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with BRBER B MARESORR - BHER
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and BINEBAY  THBEZ &

|:|

e reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relatingto o ER R AEREEZTARKE MR ERIELEH

dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that EEMPRBERE  URRZELHNES
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise BMEFR—2: WARESLER - BEEE
reasonable and appropriate. MERIREE -

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year and &R - HFMZE&RT A% WETATERE ¢
has performed the following duties:

- reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company, — i ANQTHEINE M 2E - UREE 2 FHH
and the remuneration packages of the Directors; and 8 R
- reviewed the remuneration packages of all Directors. - RIAPBEFHNH -
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DIRECTOR’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted its code of conduct for securities transactions
by Directors of the Company on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
to all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
Year.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities for
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group, and of results and cash flow for the period. In preparing
the financial statements for the Year, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; adopted
appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards; made prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimates and have prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors also warrant that the Group’s financial
statements will be published in a timely manner.

In presenting the interim and annual financial statements and
announcement to shareholders, it is the aim of the Board to provide
the shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and assessment
of the Group's financial position and prospects. The management
currently provides the Board with monthly update on the Group's
performance, position and prospects.

The senior management of the Group has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company is set out in the
“Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 108 to 117.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 24 January 2019,
pursuant to which in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account
the following factors:

(@) the Articles of Association of the Company;

(b) the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of
the Cayman Islands;

(c) any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company
is bound from time to time;

(d) the investment and operating requirements of the Company;
and

(e) any other factors that have material impact on the Company.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and shall be subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association of the Company. The Dividend Policy
will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can be no
assurance that dividends will be proposed or declared in any particular
amount for any given period.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard the assets of the Group and the
interests of shareholders and consider the governance of risk. Annual
review on the adequacy and the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group has been conducted by
the management and reviewed by the Board. The Audit Committee
is satisfied that nothing has come to its attention to cause the Audit
Committee to believe that the internal control system is inadequate.
Review will be made at least annually to monitor the adequacy and the
effectiveness of the risk management and the internal control system
of the Group.

The finance department carries out annual risk assessment on each
audit area and derives an annual audit plan according to their risk
rankings. During the Year, the Company has outsourced its internal
audit function to an independent accounting firm, Deloitte Advisory
(Hong Kong) Limited to perform a review of the internal control
system of the Group with a focus on the property business. During the
Year, the Group has complied with code provision C.2 of the HK CG
Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. Management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board
oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis.
Main features of the risk management and internal control systems
are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

e [dentification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2019, no significant risk
was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group maintains sound
and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets.

The internal control system will cover all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The components of the framework are shown as follow:

e Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

e  Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to
the achievement of objectives are carried out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

e  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and
implemented an inside information procedure. Certain reasonable
measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include the maintaining of a good
control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of
authority, reporting lines and responsibilities in accordance with the
Company'’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements. An effective
information platform has been created to enable relevant and timely
information are sent to the Board for decision making. Appropriate
control measures have been taken place to facilitate a good control
environment for handling and dissemination of inside information.
The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality. Confidentiality agreements are in place when
the Group enters into significant negotiations. Where necessary,
Directors to speak on behalf of the Company when communicating
with external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in the year of 2019,
no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of
these systems has been conducted at least annually. Several areas
have been considered during the Board's review, which include but
not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant
risks since the last annual review, and the Group's ability to respond
to changes in its business and the external environment (i) the scope
and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

Non-executive Director
Ms. LIU Ning (Member)

Most of them are independent non-executive Directors. Dr. WONG
Wing Kuen, Albert has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The Board
considers that Dr. SHI Xinping and Ms. LIU Ning have sufficient
financial knowledge and experience to discharge their responsibilities
as members of the Audit Committee. None of the members of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditor.

The Audit Committee adopted its revised terms of reference in
January 2019 which is applicable to the Company’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Audit Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Group’s corporate governance, financial
reporting, internal control and risk management.

Its key functions include:

e reviewing the audit plans and results of the external auditor
of the Company and the internal auditor’s evaluation of the
adequacy of the Company'’s system of internal controls, the audit
reports and management letters issued by the external auditor
and the co-operation given by the Company’s management to
the external auditor;

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor and internal
auditor, and to review the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

e reviewing the nature and extent of non-audit services provided
by the external auditor;

e reviewing cost effectiveness and the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor;

e  reviewing the significant financial reports so as to ensure the
integrity of the financial statements of the Company and focus
in particular on the changes in accounting policies and practices,
major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit
and compliance with financial reporting standards;

e reviewing interim and annual financial statements and
announcements before submission to the Board for approval;
and

e reviewing effectiveness of the Company’s material internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management and reviews the findings of the internal
auditor of the Company.

The Audit Committee shall hold at least two regular meetings in
a year. The Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of
the changes in accounting polices and practices but also on the
compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and relevant
legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view from the Board
regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
Company’s external auditor.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2019
published on 27 March 2020 was reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held meetings twice and has
performed the following duties:

— met with the executive Directors and management of the
Company to review the interim and annual results, the interim
report and annual report and other financial, internal control,
corporate governance and risk management matters of the
Group and made recommendations to the Board;

—  considered and discussed the reports and presentations by the
senior management and the external auditor, with a view to
ensure that the Group’s consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong;

— met with the external auditor without the presence of
management and discussed about the interim financial report
and its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements and
key audit issues;

—  assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for evaluating,
establishing and maintaining effective systems of internal
control;

— carried out the annual review on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group;

— reviewed the adequacy of resources qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget;
and

- reviewed and discussed significant audit findings in a meeting
with the external auditor.

The Audit Committee also examines any other aspects of the
Company'’s affairs, as it deems necessary where such matters relate
to exposures or risks of regulatory or legal nature, and monitors the
Company’s compliance with its legal, regulatory and contractual
obligations.

The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee
have sufficient accounting or related financial management expertise
and experience to discharge the Audit Committee’s function.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board on any material issues,
and makes recommendations to the Board.
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AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of professional services
provided by the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is set
out as follows:

o 24 B 557 A
RER - RARRUETES « BERS &
BERY 2 HMBIINT

FTEDFTHR

(RMB’000)

(AR®TF )

Audit services EZIRTE 4,062
Non-audit services IEFX RS 188

Non-audit services include the professional services rendered in
connection with the continuing connected transactions review and
internal controls assessment.

The Audit Committee had considered the Independent Auditors’
independence and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accounts, reviewed the terms of their engagement,
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the findings of their review of
the engagement process, effectiveness, independence and objectivity
of the Independent Auditor.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board and the Board
has concurred with the nomination of Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, for reappointment as independent auditor of the Company
at the forthcoming AGM.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE RELEVANT
EMPLOYEES

Under the Hong Kong Code Provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the
Board has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code for Directors and relevant employees in respect
of their dealings in the Company’s securities. “Relevant employee”
includes any employee of the Group or a Director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, because of such office
or employment, is likely to be in possession of inside information in
relation to the Group and its securities. Having made specific enquiry
to all Relevant Employees, the Company confirms that all Relevant
Employees have complied with the written guidelines regarding
securities transactions during the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY DAEIME

During the Year, the company secretary, Mr. Ng Ho, undertook at R RaMER R ELEDETE D 15/ EEE
least 15 hours of relevant professional training, was an employee of ~ FHEEII M AKRABEES -

the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS RERAE
Details of Directors’ attendance records of the general meetings held ZBBEWFRNET2REAS 7 HFEDHEABHOT
during the Year were as follows:

WONG
XU HUANG YU WONG Wing Kuen, CHEN SHI

General Meetings Yongjun  Junlong  LIUNing SOShuFai  Zhiliang King Yuen Albert ~ Yanping  Xinping HE Qi
e HFKE B9k gz 150 RER BRR TxiE RE EHF A%
29 January 2019 N N Y N Y Y Y Y N N
“E-NE-AZthB

(EM/BREFIAE)
24 April 2019 N \f \/ N \f N \/ Y Y N
ZE-NEMAZ+EA

(AGM/BFEFKE)
6 June 2019 N Y Y N Y Y Y N Y N
ZE2-NERARA

(EaM/BREFIAE)
8 November 2019 N Y N N Y Y Y N Y N
ZE-NET-ANR

(EGM/REEFIKE)
COUNT/ & 0 3 3 0 4 3 4 2 3 0

N=Absent,” & &
Y=Attended, /B H /&
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Mr. Xu Yongjun, the non-executive Director and Mr. He
Qi, the independent non-executive Director, did not attend the annual
general meeting and extraordinary general meetings of the Company
during the year of 2019 due to other business. However, there were
sufficient executive Directors, independent non-executive Directors
and non-executive Directors present to enable the Board to develop a
balanced understanding of the views of the Company’s shareholders.

Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board should
attend the annual general meeting. Mr. XU Yongjon, chairman of
the Board, could not attend the annual general meeting held on 24
April 2019 due to other business engagement which was a deviation
from Code Provision E.1.2. However, he had appointed Mr. HUANG
Junlong, a non-executive Director as his alternate director who chaired
the annual general meeting and answered questions for shareholders
of the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

The Company established different communication channels with
shareholders and investors, including (i) printed copies of corporate
communications (including but not limited to annual reports, interim
reports, notices of meetings, circulars and proxy forms and other
corporate information) required under the Listing Rules; (ii) the
general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication
between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board
as well as the respective chairman of the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees are available
to answer questions for shareholders and stakeholders at the general
meetings; (iii) the Company’s registrars deal with shareholders for
share registration and related matters; and (iv) the Directors and/or
investor relationship team of the Company handles enquiries from
shareholders and investors generally.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue with
shareholders as well as to provide disclosure of information
concerning the Group’s material developments to shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders.

AGM of the Company serves as an effective forum for communication
between shareholders and the Board. Notice of the AGM together
with the meeting materials are despatched to all shareholders not less
than 21 days and not less than 20 business days prior to the AGM.

The chairman of the Board and of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective Committees, are invited to the AGM
to answer questions from shareholders. External auditors are also
invited to attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

The Company's last AGM was held on 24 April 2019 and
extraordinary general meetings were held on 29 January 2019, 6
June 2019 and 8 November 2019 respectively. All the resolutions
proposed at these meetings were approved by shareholders of the
Company by poll. Details of the poll results are available under the
“Announcements and Notices” section of the Company’s website at
http://ir.cmland.hk.

Vote of shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll in
accordance with the Listing Rules, unless otherwise required and
permitted. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will be explained
to the shareholders at the inception of general meeting to ensure
that shareholders are familiar with such voting procedures. Separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of general meeting in
respect of each substantial issue. The poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same
business day of the general meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, general
meetings can be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more members of the Company deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at:

Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the
written requisition of any one member of the Company which is a
recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong as set out above
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Group should announce its annual results and interim results in
a timely manner before the time limits set out in the Listing Rules.
Separate resolutions are proposed at the annual general meetings
on each separate issue, including the election of individual Directors.
In addition, procedures for demanding a poll at the annual general
meeting will also be included in the circular to shareholders dispatched
together with this report.

The Group maintains a website of http://ir.cmland.hk which enables
shareholders of the Company, investors and the general public to
access to the information of the Group on a timely basis. Financial
information and all corporate communications of the Group are made
available on the Group’s website and updated regularly.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar: Tricor Tengis
Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong.

IR R REF ()

ERFIAAR TERAEBELMBRAEE - X
EERAREEERY BERBEADRTATORTHZ
— 7 EHRA(HSAATREREAG 2 HEE) -
A ® Al A A T — B R E (B — R &
B (HEREAN))ZETEXMAN BB RE
FELRAATRBEE TELEMS - BehoRA
EIERRETELEBRAES  ERBRARE
EERY AEREARTATRORT D2 — 2 BERA
(MEADATREAG 2 IREE) - WEETSREE
Bk AR BRREREERFEZEAR (XA
SRESRBEEBENRNET)  BIERALS R
REBEFE2 DRERBELEA 2 TAERA
IREEEIEEeARAS 2 AR BRREL
& R RS RBEZLAAGTEREETHE
Sk BRF=EAENEEHN  BAADERERA
ERRERREESREBMASHEL Y FELR
BR -

B

AEE RN ETRRIAERSRIER M EFERS
KPS - RERRBFAE LBAZERERREZ
ERPRER - BREEEERNES - 1o Z2RPRBEER
BERNGABERBERRZEFHANERRRES
BTRRZBEA

AN B R S http://ir.cmland hk AR Uk A A TP R

BEERABATEBEERAEERER - AE@Z
MISER KA EBMAEAEBEWLERGE - g
TEHIE AT -

RIS 2 TR AT MERE - BrRAARRZEBR
NBEBDNESESERARATIREY - HitA
BEBEFABEI183IFES M 05418 o

—NFFR BEREHEGRAT 107



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BRI RS

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 118 to 271,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

108 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

=ED

2
BREREMERATEZRR
(REEHEZMA L2 HRAA])

=R

AREEN (AT [EM D EEXHENE118E271
BZHBEREMARAR([EXR ) RENE AR
(AR BRE]) ZGEMHERE - WEHAMBER
REBE_ZE-NFTZA=1+—BZHEEHBEHRREK
RBEZRALFEZGABRENEMEEKER « £
ARGEEPHRIGEERERNER - URERAHBERE
HE(BRIESFTERER)

BARA  meaVBRREREFTESTMRAG(EH
BEMMAE ) BEM2ERYBREEA([FBY
BREEL DEEATRE EXER-_Z-NF
T A=+ RZBEUBIRAMEREZALFE
ZIEAMBRELGEERSRE - YERREEAF
Pl BEREBEL R -

RREXE

BMRBEESSHMAG RN BB ZECER([EE
BBER ) ETEZ - RANZFEYN T2 EEE—
TREFIMEPZBEE B GRMBHRRZEE—
fifil o RIBFE GG 2 ERBESHER
SAITFRLD) - BB BERE - UREZER
ERSTRIBTTEMEREE - THfIEE - RAPTES
ZERBRRETR D LEEMARM B Re &L -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

38 M B B ]

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

REELER
MAREZFASRBERMANEXHE - RAHAHME
HAMBHBRIBERRRERZEE - ZFFENK
PMEZEAMBHRRLREABARERE  MEMTE
AR EEREHEFER

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
BEREZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMREZRUNMEESIE

Net realisable values of properties for sale
HRHEYHEZ ] #5EFE

We identified the assessment of the net realisable value
of properties for sale as a key audit matter due to the
management judgement involved in the determination of
the net realisable values and the estimation of future costs to
completion. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s properties for sale are RMB47,057,932,000,
representing 53% of total assets of the Group.

B HEEMEZ TSR FERANAEREZEE T
HREEAZEFERMAEINARARKNARELSERERN
HEr e RZZE—NFEF+=ZA=+—H  ESEHLEEY
X7 RAEEHAARES7,057,932,00070 © 1h BEEEEER
E253% °

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the properties
for sale included:

BAARHOEMEGHENEF S

e  Obtaining an understanding of the rationale of the
management in estimating the net realisable values and
writing down the amounts of properties for sale;

s WMBHERBEMFAERFERMBETHLEENS
CEGopEtr Pl 3

e  Evaluating the reasonableness of the management's
estimation on the costs to completion for properties
under development for sale by reconciling to the costs
to completion to the budgets approved by management
and, on a sample basis, examining the signed
construction contracts or comparing the estimated costs
to the actual costs of similar completed properties of the
Group and to relevant market information;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRERER

AREEZEE g

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMREZRNAEEER

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company conducted a review
of the Group’s properties under development for sale and
completed properties for sale as at 31 December 2019. Due
to a decrease in the expected selling price as referenced to
the actual contract selling price during pre-sale of the relevant
properties or the recent prices of similar properties during the
year, the directors determined that the net realisable values
of certain of the Group’s properties under development for
sale, located in Foshan, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), are lower than their carrying amounts. Accordingly,
the carrying amounts of the relevant properties under
development for sale are written down by RMB358,710,000,
in aggregate, to their net realisable values.

MG E MMM T22MEE R - NAFE+ A
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Assessing the appropriateness of the selling prices
estimated by management, on a sample basis, by
comparing to the market prices achieved by the same
project or comparable properties with similar size, usage
and location; and
EABARELEERR—AEOMEIBRLUKR/N - Bk Rz
ENAELBYEZRITMEETHER - AFAHEER
BEE: Rk

Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated selling
expense by comparing, on a sample basis, to the actual
selling expenses of similar completed properties of the
Group in recent years.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRERER

FRREXEE®)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMREZRNAEEER

Recoverability of amounts due from joint ventures and
associates
BREETERBERRFIEZ TKEIEE

We identified the recoverability of amounts due from
joint ventures and associates as a key audit matter due to
the management judgement involved in determining the
recoverability of the amounts. As at 31 December 2019, the
carrying amounts of amounts due from joint ventures and
associates are RMB9,325,568,000 and RMB1,414,999,000,
respectively, as disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BT RIS & 1 2 & A B FRIE 2 AT U E A2 2 5 Rl R e
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AR#9,325,568,0007T & AR #1,414,999,0007T °

Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of amounts
due from joint ventures and associates included:
BMEEARBKEEREREENFFENTREREE ZEF
BIE

e Obtaining an understanding of the management’'s
process for estimating the expected credit losses for
amounts due from joint ventures and associates;

s RETEERBMFIEKEEEEREEAAFKIENTER
EEEEMERAZBIE

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the individual
assumptions made by management in estimating the
expected credit loss of the amounts due from joint
ventures and associates by reference to the current
budget of property development projects held by the
relevant joint ventures and associates;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRERER

AREEZEE g

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMREZRNAEEER

The Group measures the loss allowance on amounts due from
joint ventures and associates by estimating the amount and
timing of future cash flows and the assessment of whether
a significant increase in credit risk exists. These estimates are
driven by a number of factors, such as the market condition
and budgets of the joint ventures and associates.

EXEEFE A AKREREZ 2B RERURTEREEE
EREBRAEDRELAGTERKSERERBMERNRIREZE
B ZELAXETERZZE (et ERBER
AR 0 &

The directors of the Company concluded that the amounts
due from joint ventures and associates are at low credit risk
and the amount of expected credit losses are not significant
as at 31 December 2019, accordingly, no impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2019.
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Evaluating the reasonableness of the parameters, such
as the expected market prices used in the budgets by
comparing, on a sample basis, to market information
achieved in the same projects and other comparable
properties; and
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Assessing the reasonableness of management’s
assessment on whether there are significant increase
in credit risk by reviewing the operating result of the
relevant joint ventures and associates, on a sample basis,
and taking into account of adverse changes in the real
estate industry in the PRC, if any.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRERER

FRREXEE®)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMREZRNAEEER

Accuracy of land appreciation tax (“LAT”) calculation
T IEEF ([ L HIEEE )it &2 EEE

We identified the accuracy for LAT calculation as a key audit
matter due to the management estimation involved in the
amount of deductible expenditures calculation of LAT.
BBt HEERAE 2 ERERA RREREREE - Tl
WA E LI ER N AR A X R E S E R B AT o

The Group has property development projects in a number
of cities in the PRC and is subject to LAT in the PRC. As
disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
the provision for LAT of RMB1,600,752,000 was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2019. LAT has been provided at ranges
of progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less estimated deductible expenditures including
land costs, borrowing costs and the relevant property
development expenditures.
EEERTRRZHTHEFMERZEER @ WAESMHTP
B+ IR E R o AR S M IE IR R FTORTIRER - ARK
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Our procedures in relation to the accuracy of LAT calculation
included:

BMBERLRENRTE C BRE ZRF B

e  Obtaining an understanding from the management of
the Group about the basis adopted by management of
the Group in arriving at the provision for LAT;

o B IR BRI S HE B R B TR
CFETE

e Assessing the correctness of the Group’s computation
of the provision for LAT with reference to relevant rules
and regulations with the assistance of our taxation
specialists;

s ZEMRBRANERTEBRBERKE Tt BEEE
THIEER BN E R R

e  Evaluating the judgments applied by the management
in estimating the amount of deductible expenditures
by comparing their estimates made in previous years to
actual results as well as current year’s estimates; and

s KBEFENGERKRERFEZHNMETLER - 7
HEREMF A HRFZ TR AE R

e  Checking the correctness of financial information, such
as land costs, borrowing costs and the relevant property
development expenditures, being used in the calculation
of provision for LAT to the Group’s historical financial
data.
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Other information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors of the Company and
Those charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statement

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

38 3 % B ]

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BRI RS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yeung Yu Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meaEmRkAtEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-)\F
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
Kz AR¥T R ARETT
Revenue U 25 5 19,453,295 11,955,899
Cost of sales SHER A (13,123,667) (7,967,879)
Gross profit EF 6,329,628 3,988,020
Other income HA 7 370,897 289,246
Net foreign exchange gains (losses) B 5 Weas (8518 ) )5 58 44,482 (143,582)
Selling and marketing expenses SHE R H (507,007) (348,037)
Administrative expenses TR (247,011) (162,740)
Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments ~ #74 4T A2 AT (EEE = (27,696)
Fair value gain (loss) on financial asset at fair value 3% /A F(EzT A8
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") (MEAFERARRE])
B Rl & E 2 W (B1R) 3,031 (2,039)
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HESE N EZ W 34 18,013 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKE ARz M= 32 204 1,818
Share of profits of associates BaX (=1 /N e | 433,017 326,002
Share of profits of joint ventures DEEEREZHT 40,423 386,509
Finance costs A& A 8 (733,006) (511,180)
Profit before tax B AR A 10 5,752,671 3,796,321
Income tax expense FrS R > 9 (3,052,935) (1,590,809)
Profit for the year REE A 2,699,736 2,205,512
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax Hin2EWA - HBRFEH
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HEAEN 7 EE Bz
profit or loss: ZIEH :
Exchange differences arising on translation of BREBINEBEEZ
financial statements of foreign operations [EN =58 14,190 10,342
Total comprehensive income for the year KREEFE2HEUWA AR 2,713,926 2,215,854
Profit for the year attributable to: AT ATEEARER &M
Owners of the Company IN/NETEZ Z= N 1,794,470 1,216,132
Non-controlling interests FEFE R 905,266 989,380
2,699,736 2,205,512
Total comprehensive income for I TALTEERFE
the year attributable to: E N
Owners of the Company ViN/NCTEZ 2 =N 1,808,660 1,226,474
Non-controlling interests eI RS 905,266 989,380
2,713,926 2,215,854
RMB cents RMB cents
AR¥ES ARES
Earnings per share BREF 13
Basic HAK 36.58 24.79
Diluted | N/A RER 24.74
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

As at 31 December 2019
R-ZFE-—NFF+ZHA=+—H

At 31 December

Rt+t=A=+—H
2019 2018
—E—hE =—ZT—N\£F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Hta ARETRT ARETT
Non-current assets FIRBEE

Property, plant and equipment YE - R NMERE 14 289,943 222,947
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 32,275 -
Investment properties LEY 16 4,065,318 2,571,070
Goodwill EES 17 160,210 160,210
Interests in associates AN RN o - X 18 2,232,629 711,547
Interests in joint ventures RELDE DS 19 3,528,493 3,761,580
Financial asset at FVTPL BALETABRSENEEE 20 104,492 16,711
Other receivables H b fE W SR IE 23 3,200,762 5,608,301
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 21 1,022,890 741,121
14,637,012 13,793,487

Current assets REEE
Properties for sale AR E Y 22 47,057,932 41,163,479
Deposits paid for acquisitions of land use rights W& + HifF AR S - 290,228
Trade and other receivables 2R G HoAth e U FR IR 23 17,191,986 8,425,494
Contract costs N )N 5] 72,942 75,625
Prepaid income tax TE TS L 504,240 656,091
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREIRE 24 8,957,799 6,866,261
73,784,899 57,477,178

Current liabilities REBEE
Contract liabilities EH8E 5 14,288,848 14,886,338
Trade and other payables 2% K Ho{th FE < 5708 25 18,338,632 11,015,791
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 22,521 -
Loans from non-controlling interests IR HE TR B K 27 736,546 1,408,924
Loans from an intermediate holding company R A B E X 28 3,098,298 3,287,611
Bank borrowings B1TEE 29 1,289,292 1,095,980
Income tax payable B ETER 4,350,852 2,743,268
42,124,989 34,437,912
Net current assets MEVEEFE 31,659,910 23,039,266
Total assets less current liabilities EELERARBER 46,296,922 36,832,753
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e P RIR R

As at 31 December 2019
RZFE-—NFF+ZHA=+—H

At 31 December

R+=—B=+—H
2019 2018
—E-hFE —ZZF-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARBTR ARETET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Loans from non-controlling interests JEE Hﬂ& = Eﬁ/’( 27 3,262,640 4,936,731
Loan from an intermediate holding company — FE#EIZM A B E 28 200,000 200,000
Bank borrowings fﬁfﬂﬁ“ 29 11,474,256 5,818,890
Bond payable ERES 30 1,900,000 1,900,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 254,813 =
Deferred tax liabilities EEREARE 21 375,646 180,104
17,467,355 13,035,725
Net assets EEFE 28,829,567 23,797,028
Capital and reserves ERE #HE
Share capital R& A 31 39,132 39,132
Reserves fEfE 9,466,609 8,078,761
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 782 &% B A FE(h s 9,505,741 8,117,893
Non-controlling interests JEI PR FE RS 45 19,323,826 15,679,135
Total equity ERARE 28,829,567 23,797,028

The consolidated financial statements on pages 118 to 271 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27

March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

YU ZHILIANG
%/u E

Director

BEF

120 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

FN8E2/NAZFAUBHRERBEZTERN _T_-F
FoZAZHERAERBRERITREATEFTARE

=

WONG KING YUEN

EBIR

Director

EBEF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+=—A=1—HAIFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company
KARRRERAES

Non-
Translation  Retained controlling Total
reserve profits Total interests equity

EimfE REER @ FEREE  ERAE
RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETZ

(Note i)
(Hizk)

At 1 January 2018 R-E—N\E—A—R
Profit for the year RERER

Other comprehensive income for the year: AEEEZARA
- Exchange differences arising on translation 2 B8N MM R
of financial statements of foreign EEZERER
operations

23317 4364992 741459 14,356,628 21,771,226
- 1216132 1216,132 989,380 2,205,512

10,342 = 10,342

10,342

Total comprehensive income for the year AEEREMAEE

10342 1216132 1,226,474 989,380 2,215,854

Partial disposal of subsidiaries without change 2 5IEREZE T 55

= = 10,180 (10,180) =
= = - 1327197 1327197

- = - (78,053) (78,053)

- 281,974 (132,355) - (13235)
= = - (905,837)  (905,837)
= - (401,004) - (401,004)

33659 5863098 8117893 15679135 23,797,028

= (15,868) (15,868) (15,538) (31,406)

of control HERBAR
Capital injection by non-controlling interests & JFiEfkiE# 2T 4
Partial disposal of subsidiaries resulting BHLENBAR(IRAX
in loss of control )
Redemption of convertible bonds O AR ES
Dividend declared to non-controlling interests ~ [EFFRRER SRS
Dividend declared (Note 12) BERRE Hi12)
At 31 December 2018 R=F-\F+-A=1+-H
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 ERERBRHBREENE 163
(Note 2) e (HiH2)
At 1 January 2019 (restated) R=Z-NE—A—R(EE5)
Profit for the year REEEF

Other comprehensive income for the year: REREMEERA :
- Exchange differences arising on translation ~ —# €890 EH A B KRR
of financial statements of foreign EEZEREE
operations

33659 5847230 8,102,025 15,663,597 23,765,622
- 1,794,470 1,794,470 905,266 2,699,736

14,190 - 14,190 - 14,190

Total comprehensive income for the year AEERENAER

14190 1,794,470 1,808,660 905266 2,713,926

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary M@ A FIAEIMES
(Note 33) (Hi33)

Deemed acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) B /EKEBHBAR (H7234)

Capital injection by non-controlling interests ~ 3EiEiRigz T4

Dividend declared to non-controlling interests ~ 3ERMRIER & RAE S

Dividend declared (Note 12) BERRE (Ait12)

= = (59,736) (34,909) (94,645)
= = - 311220 311,220
3,309,845 3,309,845
= = - (831,193)  (831,193)
= - (345,208) - (345,208)

At 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+-A=t-A

47,849 7,641,700 9,505,741 19,323,826 28,829,567
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

Notes: Hfat

(0) Included in retained profits of RMB1,171,420,000 (2018: RMB810,017,000) (i) HAREHEMEARYN,171,420,0000( ZF—/\F : ARKE
represents statutory reserve of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic 810,017,0007T) AR EARLMBE ([ E])pKZ 2K BA
of China (the “PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the PRC, wholly foreign- RIZEEME - RBEPRBRER  RNPEZIIEBECER
owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer their net profit after tax, as AERFEEADRKRER - BEERREMNFE(RTERS
determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non-distributable reserve SRPIFEE) ETAIDIRFEFEES - BRREEES AT BEER
fund before the distribution of a dividend to equity owners. Such reserve fund can SHIEAM B A RBEFEZEE - BERIFER - TRIZEEE
be used to offset previous years’ losses of the relevant subsidiary, if any, and is non- RPN

distributable other than upon liquidation.

(i) The other reserves comprise of: (i) EfbEEeE

(@)  The deemed consideration from the immediate holding company arising (a) BEFEEHETKAMEEREERTRABDZKRIER
from the completion of restructuring in prior years; 18

(b)  The consideration of the sales shares arising from the restructuring in prior (b) BEFESHMEEHERD ZEIERREDIRRE :
years as deemed distribution to the shareholder; and &

() The difference between (i) the consideration of the restructuring; and (ii) (0 ()EEZRE: EAH2HEAMEERARFEZEEE
the paid-up capital of the entities involved in the restructuring contributed HERREEBHzBHRAZZE - HIBRARRR
by an intermediate holding company at the date of restructuring, deducted SH B2 RAERDREE o

by the share capital and share premium of the Company at the date of
restructuring.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AR HER
:én"';% A RE JILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—®-hE —T-)\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AR®ETR

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of investment properties
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments
Fair value (gain) loss on financial asset at FVTPL

Gain on disposal of a joint venture

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

(Gain) loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Impairment losses on properties for sale

Finance costs

Interest income

Share of profits of associates

Share of profits of joint ventures

Unrealised foreign exchange losses, net

R
B B A1 v 5,752,671 3,796,321
KRB AR
HEMENE 160,187 47,381
ME - BE REETE 21,934 17,249
FAEEERE 17,095 =
TEEmITAEZ AFERE = 27,696
BEAFEFABSNSREEY
NE (W) EBE (3,031) 2,039
HEASME R (18,013) =
k=1l )N el g (204) (1,818)
HEWE - BE REBH2 (W) EE
(4) 9
A EYE 2 RERE 358,710 419,650
Bh& A AN 733,006 511,180
FEWBA (337,415) (251,170)
FEAEB & R B2 5 F) (433,017) (326,002)
FEhEEE 2= (40,423) (386,509)
REIFE H EEFE 17,166 353,121

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Increase in properties for sale

Decrease in deposit paid for acquisition of land

EEESHINKEBRERE

6,228,662 4,209,147
A S Y SEE N (7,042,942) (8,722,846)
W B - b 55 FR A P A< 0w >

use rights 290,228 824,772
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables SRS N oAt e W mkIE (38 40) 5k A (942,822) 182,150
Decrease (increase) in contract costs &R A (B2 n) 2,683 (75,625)
Decrease in restricted bank deposits 48 ZE TP RS2 BR B SR T 50

for operating use - 69,890
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EHEECHD)IE N (597,490) 7,613,346
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables e T H A e S 2R IE 1 0 Ot 4> 6,474,058 (905, 100)
Cash generated from operations KEPEHEE 4,412,377 3,195,734
Income tax paid B FTEH (1,485,450)  (2,201,605)
Interest received B UF B 353,012 258,587
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETE SRS FE 3,279,939 1,252,716
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-hAFE —Z-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARETTT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Advances to associates ElA=INSIEES (930,988) (774,805)
Repayment from associates e lNET b E 293,911 823,361
Advances to joint ventures FAa &S ER (3,310,832) (3,131,895)
Repayment from joint ventures SEPEER 841,546 1,526,405
Advances to non-controlling interests [ FEFE AR s B R (3,560,281)  (3,773,585)
Repayment from non-controlling interests FEIERR IR B K 1,196,192 2,863,289
Advances to fellow subsidiaries EIEENGIEYNSIE-E A (31,770) (7,514)
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries EEA I PNGI 5N 1,659 1,348
Advances to intermediate holding companies M EE R A B (963) (55)
Repayment from intermediate holding companies 81 I& A G138 & 208 269
Advance to a third party M—ZEBE=FBK - (194,790)
Repayment from third parties E=FEX - 594,790
Advance to an investee M—BIREHRAR (15,000) -
Capital injection to associates A EATEE (1,351,291) (3,315)
Capital injection to joint ventures AeETEITE (477,918) (550,120)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 74 B YT B A 70 A B E K E AR
accounted for as assets acquisition ZHRERLFE - (439,273)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of subsidiaries &4 & H & B A &7 (B2 L 1 %14E)
resulting in loss of control ZHe R S (7,090) (33,298)
Cash inflow arising on deemed acquisition of a RIEWEE — R B A RITEERN
subsidiary WEMA 6,539 -
Dividend received from associates SR NG E T ¥ 268,300 -
Dividend received from a joint venture B —Ea & EWERR S 300,000 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME - KE R&E (89,105) (103,539)
Proceeds received on disposal of property, HEWE  BEMREBEHE
plant and equipment 191 72
Addition of investment properties RBEZREME - (59,475)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETBHEAESFEE (6,866,692) (3,262,130)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AR HER
:%?B A RE JILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITEE ZAMEFAE 7,769,010 5,935,550
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIRTEE (1,920,332) (2,771,709)
Advances from associates iR NCTE-E 603,495 207,078
Repayment to associates BEASUNGIFEEA (153,780) (57,737)
Advances from joint ventures BEDFEIRK 82,268 631,249
Repayment to joint ventures m& & bEER (45,900) (3,976)
Advances from non-controlling interests FEIZE I A 2 EA R 3,169,419 4,198,219
Repayment to non-controlling interests A IEFE AR R RS B X (1,779,018) (3,082,813)
Advances from intermediate holding companies R R A B K 4,315 4,022,862
Repayment to intermediate holding companies mEEERA T}ffﬂ (1,516,020) (18,456)
Advances from fellow subsidiaries EEINIENGIEEN 156,665 3,866,521
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries Ml H?Mﬂ% Tk%m (161,116)  (5,500,078)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds BITEHRZ TSR = 1,900,000
Repayment of bonds BEES - (3,446,811)
Redemption of convertible bonds B [0l FTHR AR (E 55 - (1,924,119)
Interest paid B 15 F 8 (1,217,786) (795,134)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREARE (22,833)
Dividends paid B E (686,403) (465,805)
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary UG BE BT B8 N R R IME = (94,645) =
Capital contributed by non-controlling interests of ~ AEE M E A &) JEIE i+

subsidiaries of the Group 1,504,845 1,131,197
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEESHESBE 5,692,184 3,826,038
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R&RZERIIRELEREINFEE 2,105,431 1,816,624
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FPRENZEHEBELER

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,866,261 5,030,802
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES [EX& &5 (13,893) 18,835
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF FRBRERZERKRELEH -

THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash RIRTTHEB LIRS 8,957,799 6,866,261
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

1.

GENERAL

China Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as a limited liability company
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address
of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section
to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 44.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Success Well,
a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”). One of its intermediate holding company
is China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holding Co., Ltd.
(“China Merchants Shekou”), which is established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") and listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange Limited. The ultimate holding company of the
Company is China Merchants Group Limited ("“CMG"). CMG is
a PRC enterprise regulated and directly managed by the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the State Council and is owned and controlled by the PRC
government.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative

HKFRS 9 Compensation
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
HKAS 28 Ventures
Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2015 -2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases”

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases” (“HKAS 17"), and
the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) - Int 4 “Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease” and not apply this standard to
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a
lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts which
already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January
2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance
with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether
a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and measured right-of-use assets at the carrying
amounts as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since commencement
dates, but discounted using the incremental borrowing rates of
the relevant group entities at the date of initial application by
applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(i) transition. Any difference at the date
of initial application is recognised in the opening retained profits
and comparative information has not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2.

—AFTZA=1—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following practical
expedients to leases previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to
the respective lease contracts:

relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous by
applying HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets” as an alternative of impairment review;

i. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months
of the date of initial application; and

iii. excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use
assets at the date of initial application.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied incremental
borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the date of
initial application. The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied is 4.89%.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019

2. ERFTREETEEHBHER

A(TERMBREER ] @)

RAFERBER2HITREETERY

| EER (A1)

EBMBRELENE 165 [HE |(H)

1EREFAA(E)

R=ZE-NF-A-—BHWHEER

RMB’000
AR®T T
Operating lease commitments disclosed M2018F 12 A31 BT 2 & &R EAE
as at 31 December 2018 404,747
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental RIS ERF R RNEEAE
borrowing rates 328,597
Less: Recognition exemption — short term leases B EREE - RHEE (31,554)
Lease liabilities relating to operating leases recognised RZE—NF—A—REAEBUERE
upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 ERIF16HEERMLCEHERE - HE
=N 297,043
Analysed as: DR
Current portion ENER D 21,632
Non-current portion FERENEL 275,411
297,043

Right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2019

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2019

REEB-NF-A-—AZERAEEE

R-BE-NF-HA - RAEAREEZREEERS

comprises the following: AR EIA
RMB’000
ARET T
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases recognised 7 & A7 i B 75 3R &5 7 Bl 55 1 658 14 FE R B 4K
upon application of HKFRS 16 EHEEMFERAEEE 258,748
By class: RER DA
Land and buildings T RIEF 45,293
Motor vehicles i 953
Impact on right-of-use assets HERAREE & 46,246
Impact on investment properties (Note 16) HIREYE 2 & (Misk16) 212,502
258,748
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

Effective from 1 January 2019, leasehold lands which were
classified as properties for sale are measured under HKFRS 16
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group considered
refundable rental deposits paid as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applied under other receivables. Based
on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to use of the
underlying assets and should have been adjusted to reflect the
discounting effect at transition. The directors of the Company
considered that such adjustment has no material impact to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16,
except for sub-leases in which the Group acts as an intermediate
lessor, the Group is not required to make any adjustment on
transition for leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for
these leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial
application and comparative information has not been restated.

(@) Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts entered
into but commence after the date of initial application
relating to the same underlying assets under existing
lease contracts are accounted as if the existing leases are
modified as at 1 January 2019. The application has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 January 2019. However, effective 1 January
2019, lease payments relating to the revised lease term
after modification are recognised as income on straight-line
basis over the extended lease term.

(b) Effective on 1 January 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS
15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS
15") to allocate consideration in the contract to each lease
and non-lease components. The change in allocation basis
has had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current period.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. EAHIIERKEIIERBMEREE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING AT EBTYHHREER D) @)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are REFEBFAERZHTREBEITEEBY

mandatorily effective for the current year (continued) BHREER (&)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued) EAMKREERE 165 [HE [(F)

As a lessor (continued) EREMA(E)

(c) At the date of initial application, leased properties under (0 RBEXRERBH 2HBTITHHEEMER
subleases were assessed and classified as an operating lease BZAMNEHERDHENS T E L H R IF
individually based on the remaining contractual terms and HEBFELSOBRKEHE - RERE
conditions of the head lease and the sublease at that date. EEMAKREMENSTERE  RERER
All leased properties under subleases of RMB212,502,000 HEApHEET AKH¥212,502,0007T &
as at the date of initial application were classified as FIEMHEMERSEAKZHE NG
operating leases and measured at cost at the date of initial RIEFRBHEHAERATE -

application in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies for investment properties.

(d) Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental deposits (d) REABEHBMELERE1650 - RE
received were considered as rights and obligations under EiGE AR B ER SR AR ER
leases to which HKAS 17 applied under other payables. RENERABA S ERZ17RMEEE
Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS THREMNREF - REEBT RS ER
16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right- F1FETHENRZEE F ZFReW
of-use assets and should have been adjusted to reflect JEEAEECAER@AAONE - WET
the discounting effect at transition. The directors of the FARARMBE 2R TE  c KARES
Company considered that such adjustment has no material R ZABRHAEENGS P BFRKI
impact to the consolidated financial statements of the mEARE -

Group.
The following table summarises the impact of transition to HKFRS TRBER-_ZE-NE-A-—BREZFEH
16 on retained profits at 1 January 2019. TR R 6P SR B R TR 2 o
Impact of adopting
HKFRS 16 at
1 January
2019
R-ZZE—h%E
—HA—H
RANE BRI RS
ZAIE16RHNTE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Retained profits IRER i A
Rental expenses recognised in accordance with HKAS 17 REXRERAEBYHREELFE 165
before date of initial application of HKFRS 16 EHARBEE B ERE 175
RLZBEFX 27,778
Amortisation of right-of-use assets upon adoption of RER N BB T5 3RS 2R B 165718 2
HKFRS 16 EREEEEN (34,269)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities upon adoption of RERNE BB SRS 2R E 16571 2
HKFRS 16 HERENEMX (12,211)
Adjustment to share of results of joint ventures upon RIRME B IEREERFE 165818
adoption of HKFRS 16 (note) AESEEE R EEE (M) (1,369)

Tax effects M E 4,203

Impact at 1 January 2019 RZZE-—NF-—A—BzZx2 (15,868)

Note: The initial application of HKFRS 16 resulted in a net decrease in interests Hiit - BRERAB B BREERE 165K GHNA & B
in joint ventures of RMB2,684,000 with corresponding adjustments to RS E R AR ¥ 2,684,0007T BB R HFI R
retained profits and non-controlling interests. SRR (R AR R SR ©
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
1 January 2019. Line items that were not affected by the changes

have not been included.

J& P #T BT B A%

BRI B BMBRELE

A(TERMBREER ] @)

RAFERBERZHITREETETRAY

| EER ()

ERMBRMELEANE 165 [HE (H)
HR_Z—NF—A - ANSEEMBLRRARA

ERNEREEL TIIHE - K

BETEEENA -

4 45K Th B2 4B
e EMIE

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16
31 December at 1 January
2018  Adjustments 2019
R-E-h&
RZEB-N\%F —H-H
+ZA=+-H REEBHER
BEZHMN HERIE165RH
REE ik EHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARET R
Non-current assets REBEE
Right-of-use assets FHREEE - 46,246 46,246
Investment properties LB 2,571,070 212,502 2,783,572
Interests in joint ventures SEPFERERS 3,761,580 (2,684) 3,758,896
Deferred tax assets EETRIAE B 741,121 9,573 750,694
Current liability REBE
Lease liabilities HEARE - 21,632 21,632
Non-current liability ERBER
Lease liabilities HEAE - 275,411 275,411
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company  7< /A 5] I% 38 FE (L E 25 8,117,893 (15,868) 8,102,025
Non-controlling interests JEER R 15,679,135 (15,538) 15,663,597

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities under
indirect method for the year ended 31 December 2019, movements in
working capital have been computed based on opening consolidated
statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed above.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, “the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards”, will be effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements
in the foreseeable future.

134 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

ERHIREEITEBYHRREE
AT EERMBREER D) )

C M B e R A Rz # 5] RAME R] BB Bt
B|EER

RSB AR R AR AN S AR E W R A ZFTR]
NMEERT BB M S AR

BRI ERELEA REBRA A

E1758
BB RS £ EBHTER?
F3| B
BEMISHRELER BEEEEBENRS

F10REBRG RERRECHAHLER
AR 285 2 1EFT EANRE?

BREGENF TR BAUNER
BE e EAFER

fEs]
BB ISR Rl B 5

Fo5R - BB EHER
F30R R BB R
SHERIE TR 2 1EE]

‘ R-Z=—F— A — Rk KRB FEHRER
2 BANKERSRR T _TF— A B ZARBNE
EFERRMGE R EETHREBA M REERE

3 RIS EEE R B sk 2 (R B M F R HR A 2K
= R-ZE-ZF— A B2 &RRNFEHRRER

B Lt # AT RGBT B A M B mEEAI - =
E-N\FREMRETOMERERIER
HIAEMERT - B [HEBHBRE LTS
EROSIBNERT] SR _F_FF—A—H
2 R R SR B AR

BT XAl 2 7] R IERT BB M S8R5 2 Al
Sh - ARREEERY - EREMEA] REER]
BEMBREENRATRRKE TS H S
BHRRELBEATE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition of a Business”

The amendments:

e  add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The election on whether to apply
the optional concentration test is available on transaction-
by-transaction basis;

e clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set
of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs; and

e narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by
focusing on goods and services provided to customers and
by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition
date is on or after the first annual reporting period beginning on
or after 1 January 2020, with early application permitted.

The optional concentration test and the amended definition of
a business are not expected to have a significant impact to the
Group.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of
Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

e include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

e replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

e include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad
when deciding what information to disclose in the financial
statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group but may affect
the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
"New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:

e  reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

e introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and
a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the
definition it replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;

. discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

e  states that the primary measure of financial performance
is profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances
other comprehensive income will be used and only for
income or expenses that arise from a change in the current
value of an asset or liability; and

e  discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references
in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework,
whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions
of the framework. These amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier
application permitted. Other than specific standards which still
refer to the previous versions of the framework, the Group will
rely on the New Framework on its effective date in determining
the accounting policies especially for transactions, events
or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the
accounting standards.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS
17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

138 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

3. FEEFHER

BARBREDERESRHTAREGLE
BRI EEENEE o 1O BAMBEREE
EHRAES L HRARESATEIIRES
EARE -

RAEWBHRRTDRELKANERE  ERER
EHEAERRATEFEZETERIAR
BRoN - R T XEFI S S RRBE -

B R —RIEX B KR KRR EZ A
FERE -

AFEAME2EERAERMETZIARFR
STRHEEEMSREREEMNTZ2ER - T
o ok (B 16 2 B B & B SR A H b i (E 5T m
BEHATS - AT EEXA B2 AFER @ [
AERAMME2EES - HEEXABEER
SR REERABERE - MAKENEAFKE
EXBEFH - St B2 R IRGA M BEREK
BEME @ A FERUEEETE  EFEMK
WEERNE25R [ AR AERN K IBE A IR
B RERZNRZS  BREFEMBHREE
AFE16R(BE_F—NF-A—BR)XFTES
AHERIFE175 (RERE AR BHREERF 165
AN RBEERS - REAFEEFDALUEL
FRFEZFEMEFESTERF2R (75
ZAERFEXBTLEGHEAFEI6H [EER
EBEIZEREBKN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Llevel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it
power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote

holders;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instrument” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that
deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a
business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that
do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance
of the purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at
the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and
not larger than an operating segment.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwiill (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. If the
associate and joint venture uses accounting policies that differ
from those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments have been made
to conform the associate’s and the joint venture’s accounting
policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group'’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's share
of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment
is acquired.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill,
that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and
the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of
HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value
at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group; and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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HE=

3.

T AFF A=t —ALTE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under
the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains
a significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the
Group adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
The relevant interest expenses during the period between
the advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the same
basis as other borrowing costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would
not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset
if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that
is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its sales of properties
for sale, e.g. construction of the properties and recognises as
properties under development and for sale. The Group first
assesses whether these costs qualify for recognition as an asset
based on the following criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the Group can specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the assets relate.
The asset is subject to impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of land and buildings and motor vehicles that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHEEm®@

(continued)

Leases (continued) HEE

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in AEEEREEAA(RBNZ2NBERAETE

accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued) B HREERE165:%) (&)

Right-of-use assets EREEE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: EREEEZKABLE

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; s HEBEVIHTAEZEE

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement o FA B EIs 2 AT{E B E A 8 & N ROR
date, less any lease incentives received; FTER 2 E R EE R

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and o AEEEAZEMABEERAE &

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in o AEBITHREBHRIEEEE  MEZEE
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring FEfL B it & E B EHE 2 1R
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying RGHE T B2R 2 ARG EE 2 BRI A -
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated ERAEEERKNANRERNRITE RREEE

depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any A2 W EaENEMERTEFEEFAE -

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to ArEEGEREREBARSSNEHBEE

obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end BEMBEZEAEEESRKBABREEME

of the lease term is depreciated from commencement date RERNE - TR - FREEERE(EFTAIE
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets RERBBRARESE BE)IREHEETE -

are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
and inventory are presented within “investment properties “and
“properties for sales” respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
when the lease term has changed, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease incentive from lessor by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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HE=

3.

T AFF A=t —ALTE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Rental income derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business is presented as revenue.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on
the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2) (continued)

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production
or for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets”
upon application of HKFRS 16 in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building
(continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than properties under
construction less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Effective 1 January 2019, investment properties also include
leased properties which are being recognised as right-of-use
assets upon application of HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group
under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Properties under development and for sale

Properties under development and for sale under current assets
are properties (under development or completed properties)
held for future sale in the ordinary course of business. Except for
the leasehold land element which is measured at cost model in
accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets
upon the application of HKFRS 16, properties under development
and for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes the costs of land, development expenditure
incurred and, where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value is determined based on the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, which is estimated based
on prevailing market conditions, less applicable variable selling
expenses and the anticipated cost to completion, if any.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale to
investment property at cost when there is a change in use to
hold the property to earn rentals or land for capital appreciation
rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which
is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to
another party.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities,
other than those classified as fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL"), are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE=

3.

T AFF A=t —ALTE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortise cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are not derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as other income.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is not
held for trading.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “fair
value gain (loss) on financial asset at FVTPL" line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including amount
due from related parties, trade and other receivables and bank
balances and cash). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on trade receivables is assessed individually for all
debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instruments as at
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s internal credit rating;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; significant increases in
credit risk on other financial instruments of the same
debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

162 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

3. EESHBEM@)

ST A

SMEE (M)
SRAEAE(H)

() (BB 10 ()

HEm= @ HEEERRE SREIE NG
ZETIER :

o ERTIANAINEEFRERLIAS
BREEE

. 25 MBEREERROTERES
THEBEREEREBARTLE
BEENENAETH ;

s EBANKEXEBERAAEHNEES
Z HREBANELSRTANE
ERERREE

o BEHANEE  QEBEXARMBREER
o TR B 3R B ORI B B i 8 BUE
ABITEEBEEEEE N AR TR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
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Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it has
an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade”
as per globally understood definition.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitments
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i)  Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

e when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence
of credit-impairment includes observable data about the
following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

e a breach of contract such as a default or past due
event;

e the lender of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession
that the lender would not otherwise consider;

e the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties; or

e the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount
that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHEE®@®

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) ST AE)

Financial assets (continued) SREE(E)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) SREEREBEE)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) TEHEEEBREZFERER
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability BEEEEENGERENTE  ELIE
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the KE(NEHNRNBREE) REDRRE
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The BHEL - BAM R REBROBRETIENBE
assessment of the probability of default and loss given ATHE M B R AR A B EEURETE - THEE
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward- EBEENGIREERBEMETSSE -
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased NEEENNERBEERTE -

and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual FEHEEEERTABRBESNENAER
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with WFT A & QE &2 HEA S B R WEAY
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to BemE (RN B RERREE < BRI
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined #1IR) 2 MR ZE%E ©

at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required MU BEREOME @ NEBEAEEE
to make payments only in the event of a default by the ANEBRREXEERIBER TIELERK o
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that It - BHEEREREEREAMELR
is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected loss allowance is EEENERNRBRERNSERBRRREE
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit A~ ERSA SR E A T WA R B 58 o

loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the R BEREANEHEEBEMS - M
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group BERAEELETE  AEESRA ] R
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market EAMSHEERREENTHRESR
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that ERFERRIBIRE - HEE RERNH
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent BURERTZERZERR - MIFARR
that, the risk are taken into account by adjusting the BEFRHEITALIRN o

discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being

discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to
cater for cases where evidence of significant increases in
credit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

. nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
and other receivables are each assessed as a separate
group);

. past-due status;
e nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e external credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each separate group continues to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances
are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9 and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debts and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, loans from
non-controlling interests and an intermediate holding company,
bond payable and bank borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

e the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs (other than
goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets and contract costs to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual cash
generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the costs
which relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not been recognised as expenses. The assets capitalised as
contract costs are then included in the carrying amount of the
cash-generating unit to which they belong for the purpose of
evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
require or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leaves and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising
on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and
interests in joint ventures and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on
right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the
Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax
authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities in their income
tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each
uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or
the expected value.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group'’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition from sales of properties

Under HKFRS 15, control of the asset is transferred over time
when the Group'’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date. Significant
judgment is required in determining whether the terms of the
Group's contracts with customers in relation to properties with
no alternative use create an enforceable right to payment for
the Group. The Group has considered the relevant local laws
that apply to those relevant contracts. Based on the assessment
of the Group’s management, the terms of the relevant sales
contracts do not create an enforceable right to payment for the
Group and accordingly, the sales of properties is considered to be
performance obligation satisfied at a point in time.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated write down of properties under development
and for sale

The Group records properties under development and for sale at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value of
properties for sale is determined based on the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, which is estimated based
on prevailing market conditions, less applicable variable selling
expenses and the anticipated cost to completion, if any.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated write down of properties under development
and for sale (continued)

The Group writes down properties under development
and for sale to net realisable value. If there is an increase in
costs to completion or a decrease in net sales value, the net
realisable value will decrease and this might result in write
downs of properties under development and for sale to net
realisable value. Write downs are recorded where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be realised. The identification of write downs requires the use
of judgements and estimates. If the expectation is different, it
will impact the carrying value of properties under development
and for sale in the period in which such estimate is changed.
The carrying amount of properties under development and
for sale of approximately RMB47,057,932,000, net of write
downs of RMB674,419,000 (2018: carrying amount of
RMB41,163,479,000, net of write downs of RMB419,650,000)
as at 31 December 2019 are set out in note 22.

Impairment of amounts due from joint ventures and
associates

The Group assesses impairment of amounts due from joint
ventures and associates individually. The measurement of ECL of
amounts due from joint ventures and associates under HKFRS 9
requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount
and timing of future cash flows when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, such
as the financial information and the business plan of the joint
ventures and associates. The Group has obtained the business
plan of the associates and joint ventures at the time when
advances are requested. The Group reviewed and assessed the
profitability of those investees, the future economic outlooks and
the timing of the collection and assessed a credit risk rating to
those investees. Changes in these factors can result in different
levels of allowances. At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for
exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of
default occurring over the expected life, which is associated with
the business plan of respective joint ventures and associates,
between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of amounts due from joint ventures and
associates (continued)

The directors of the Company anticipated that the amount
of ECL on amounts due from joint ventures and associates
are not significant as at 31 December 2019 and the carrying
amounts of amounts due from joint ventures and associates
are RMB9,325,568,000 and RMB1,414,999,000 (2018:
RMB6,856,282,000 and RMB777,922,000) respectively.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC, of which the
implementation varies amongst different tax jurisdictions in
various cities of the PRC. LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the land appreciation value. The Group
recognises the land appreciation value as the proceeds of sales of
properties less the estimated deductible expenditures including
cost of land use right, borrowing costs and all relevant property
development expenditures.

The Group recognises LAT in its consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income when properties are
delivered to the buyers, at the time when the final amounts
of LAT payments have not been approved by the local tax
authorities in the PRC. The Group recognised the LAT based
on management’s best estimates on the appreciation of land
appreciation value. The final tax outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the period in which such tax is finalised with local
tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets of RMB1,022,890,000 (2018:
RMB741,121,000) mainly in relation to tax losses and LAT have
been recognised at 31 December 2019 as set out in note 21. The
reliability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future. The directors of the Company determine
the deferred tax assets based on the enacted or substantially
enacted tax rates and the best knowledge of profit projections
of the Group for coming years during which the deferred tax
assets are expected to be utilised. The directors of the Company
will review the assumptions and profit projections by the end
of the reporting period. In cases where the actual future profits
generated are less than expected or there is a downward revision
of estimated future profits, a reversal of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period
in which such a reversal takes place.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Financial asset at FVTPL amounting to RMB104,492,000 (2018:
RMB16,711,000) as at 31 December 2019 is measured at fair
value with fair value being determined based on unobserved
inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the
relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these
factors could affect the reported fair values of these instruments.
Further disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of
these financial assets are set out in note 38.

BERETHE RMATAMEETHE
RAEZETERFR &)

ERETBURNE K ¥ E (&)

EER
FEHEBEEBE R T MIEER AR 2 BT A
B EANRK1,022,890,0007T (=& — )\ £ :
AR®741,121,000) R=ZFE—LE+ = A
=+ —BRBHF21ATED B T LR o KT
MIBEEZA IEEZERK B & 2% 5k e
RO EZEERREET RN - RARIESR
BEEMXEAE R 2RI REEFNL
REBRBHBESRABELEHRIBEE 2 R REF
HEZ &= FTER  BEREEHREEE - A2
EEBERSREPHLEE BRI BRI RGN E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

5. REVENUE 5. &
An analysis of the Group'’s revenue for the year is as follows: REEZFARZSITHOT
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
By types of goods or services 1275 dn S AR T A A
Sales of properties for sale SHER L EYE 19,143,720 11,768,295
Properties operation income MELEIA 36,257 33,691
Asset management services income BEBERBEA 1,361 -
Rental income from investment properties A EEFEZ WA (FTaE10)
(Note 10) 271,957 153,913
19,453,295 11,955,899
By timing of revenue recognition FRTER N 75 B [
At a point in time A —REE2h 19,143,720 11,768,295
Over time 8 B S 37,618 33,691
Revenue from contracts with customers RS X8 19,181,338 11,801,986
Rental income from investment properties EMENES A 271,957 153,913
19,453,295 11,955,899

The Group enters into a sale and purchase agreement at the
stage the construction of the properties is still ongoing. Upon
completion of the negotiation with the customers, the Group
receives certain percentage of contract value as deposits from
customers and recognised as contract liabilities under HKFRS 15.
The Group may provide guarantee to banks in connection with
mortgage granted to the customers to finance the advanced
payment to the Group and the directors consider the amount
of consideration allocated to this performance obligations not
significant and no allocation of transaction price allocated to this
performance obligation.

The Group considers the advance payment arrangement
contain financing component and accordingly the amount of
consideration will be adjusted for the effects of the time value
of money taking into consideration the credit characteristics of
the Group if it is significant. As this accrual increases the amount
of the contract liability during the period of construction, it
increases the amount of revenue recognised when control of the
completed property is transferred to the customer.

180 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

AEBRMERZRDELETORRILEE D
& TREERFERE - AKEATFPENA
HWEENETADLERES  UREBEEHM
BHREENFISRERSANEAE - NEHT
BERL MR PR MM RB M MRITIRHEHER - A
BNRAEEELHNRR - EFZRR - PEE
HEAEENRESBELTEXR - BAERR
SERIEEMBOEE

AEERBRBERZHEARMERD - KR
AEEHNEEFB(HERNR  RENSEH
REENRRERE BRUEEAERARIRE
HEENAMNBENSE  ROCRIYEMNE
HEEBERPE  HeENoERkans
B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

5.

REVENUE (continued)

For contracts entered into with the customers on sales of
properties, the Group recognises the revenue from sales of
properties for sale at a point in time when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point that the
customer obtains the control of the completed property.

&3 )
REEYEMEAR ST INANTS - AEH
RERTYEERTELNSRSERHNEYD
LS BEFRED BT YEMEEIE -

Contract costs BHRA
2019 2018
—E-hEF —F—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Incremental costs to obtain contracts EEAS LM SR A 72,942 75,625

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2019 and 2018
relate to the incremental sales commissions paid to property
agents whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into
sale and purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which
are still under construction at the reporting date. Contract costs
are recognised as part of selling expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which revenue
from the related property sales is recognised. There was no
impairment in relation to the costs capitalised during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The Group applies the practical expedient and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating to the sale
of completed properties as an expense when incurred if the
amortisation period of the assets that the Group otherwise
would have recognised is one year or less.

RZB-NEFER_ZE-NEF+-_A=+—HH
BEAEEHORAEINTHERDEHEFR
BERHARAEEEEZMETLEEHHEN
MERENEEHEMSEH - S WK AERE
BRI EHE WA RN S BER P HER
REERXH—FD BE_Z-NAFR T
—N\E+_A=T—HALFELEEE ALK
AERZRIE °

AREERBATERENDE  MASERAE
TAERNZEEENBERER —FHMN
AN AREEARBREGEFEECRTINENS
# PR AR IR B AR AR o

Contract liabilities BREE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —F—)\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥EFTT
Deposits received in respect of pre-sale of BRTEEYEZRS
properties 14,288,848 14,886,338

As at 1 January 2018, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB7,272,992,000.

RZZE—-—NF—H—H
7,272,992,0007T °
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HE=

5.

T AFF A=t —ALTE

REVENUE (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)

Contract liabilities are classified as current as they are expected to
be settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

=3¢ )

BRaE#H)
MENBERINAEE—
:ﬁ ’ E'JAA*EE/AL@J

R & E B A&

TERFBIIRAFEARREHEEBENARL
WS HR °

2019 2018
—E—NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥ETTT
Revenue recognised that was included in the REEAHEEYETATIEL
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the & f& 48 2 BRI
year in respect sales of properties for sale 14,054,150 7,011,219
Leases HE
2019
—E-hEF
RMB’000
ARBTT
For operating leases: L LTHE M
Fixed lease payments EEHE H 271,957
SEGMENT INFORMATION 7 & K

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”, which
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal report about the components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers
("CODM") in order to allocate resources to segments and to
assess their performance. The CODM is the Company’s executive
directors.

For the management purpose, the Group was organised
into the following two operating and reportable segments:
(i) Development and sales of properties and property leasing
("Properties Segment”); and (ii) Sales of electronic and electrical
related products and building related materials and equipment
(“Trading Segment”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.
Each of which was considered as a separate operating segment
by the CODM.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019

#HE=

6.

T AF+-A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
commenced the business engaging in asset management along
with the listing of China Merchants Commercial Real Estate
Investment Trust, an associate of China Merchants Shekou,
and asset management for office premises and shopping
malls (“Asset Management Segment”) is considered as a new
operating and reportable segment by the CODM. No prior year
segment disclosures have been represented to conform with the
current year’s presentation.

Moreover, Trading Segment was discontinued in the current
year. No impact to the consolidated financial statements was
noted for both years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
The amounts for these discontinued operations are nil thus
the segment information reported below and notes to the
consolidated financial statements do not include any amounts for
these discontinued operations.

DEBER (#)
BE-—T-NE+-A=+-BIEE 4%
EEAREREEEEREEHES (BB
BOMBEAT) FHBAREEESE Ml
ﬂ*%%&%%%%mééﬁﬁuéﬁﬁﬁ%
SR EBLBERAEERATLCERT 28D
W WWEFBEELHSBRE - LEAE
EHE5|— -

HH

o - BHDHERAFERLE -BE_T

—NER-E-N\F+-A=+—BILFEY
EHEAMGBRBRYE - RECKITE

EBNBERT AR TXRENDBERK
REMBBRRMEILTERBZSFEORIEREE
BEERESE -

Segment revenue and results PEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue and results by AN RIRAZ2|MREED HE D 2 N E W=
reportable and operating segments. REBEDHT
Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEEDH MED B me
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTRT AR¥®TR AR®BTR
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HEZE—-Z—hFE+=A
=t—HBLEHE
Segment revenue 2B EE
— external customers — NI 1,361 19,451,934 19,453,295
Segment results DEPELE 589 6,374,952 6,375,541
Unallocated net foreign exchange gains RO BCRE H UG 55 F 58 68,980
Unallocated income RO EUA 3,835
Unallocated expenses A H (62,143)
Unallocated finance costs RO RVE KA (633,542)
Profit before tax B 54 A g2 A 5,752,671
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DBER @)
Segment revenue and results (continued) D EBULER IR SR AR (47
Trading Properties
segment segment Consolidated
B9 E8 Y% 5 =B o)
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTIT ARETT ARETT
For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZEZE=-Z— \§F
TZA=t+—BLEFE
Segment revenue o E MR
— external customers — NI - 11,955,899 11,955,899
Segment results DEPELE - 4,372,678 4,372,678
Unallocated net foreign exchange losses &% Bo & H &5 18 /558 (143,575)
Unallocated income R BLUTA 6,177
Fair value losses on derivative financial MTEeMI A A FEEBE
instruments (27,696)
Unallocated expenses ROBZH (35,114)
Unallocated finance costs RO FEE KA (376,149)
Profit before tax BR A% Al A1 3,796,321

There was no inter-segment sales during both years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of unallocated corporate costs, fair value
loss on derivative financial instruments, net of certain finance
costs, certain interest income and certain net foreign exchange
gains/losses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+=—A=1—HAIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DHER @)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAERE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by INTRIRAZ[REEDHE D 2 AEBEE
reportable and operating segments: REBEI :
Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEES M LIE S me
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTRT AR¥®TR AR®BTRT
At 31 December 2019 R=-ZB—hF
t=A=t+—H
Segment assets DEEE 12,091 86,540,096 86,552,187
Goodwill kS 160,210
Other unallocated assets Hih kDB EE 1,709,514
Total assets BERE 88,421,911
Segment liabilities HEEE 1,320 43,971,881 43,973,201
Other unallocated liabilities H koL A& 15,619,143
Total liabilities BEMRE 59,592,344
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) DEBER ()
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PTHEEREEH)
Trading Properties
segment Segment Consolidated
B9 E8 Y% 5 =B o)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTIT ARETT ARETT
At 31 December 2018 R-ZZE—N\F
t=A=t—8
Segment assets DEEE - 70,415,255 70,415,255
Goodwill 2 160,210
Other unallocated assets HERDBELERE 695,200
Total assets BEBE 71,270,665
Segment liabilities DEEE - 35,516,531 35,516,531
Other unallocated liabilities Hivr R ELBE 11,957,106
Total liabilities B &M 47,473,637

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

e all assets, other than goodwill and assets of the investment
holding companies, are allocated to reportable and
operating segments; and

e all liabilities, other than bonds payable, loans from an
intermediate holding company of the investment holding
companies and bank borrowings of the investment holding
companies, are allocated to reportable and operating
segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Other segment information
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or
segment assets.

o EE R 7)
Hih o EpER
HE D BRI SRS S BB R 20E -

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEE
288 LE S RE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRE AR%®TR AR®BTR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EHZE-ZF—hF
TZA=t—HLFE

Addition to non-current assets (Note) IERBEERE (M) 12 1,926,512 1,926,524

Interest income FIEW A - 345,509 345,509
Depreciation of property, M BERRETE

plant and equipment - 21,934 21,934

Depreciation of investment properties REMETE - 160,187 160,187

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENE - 17,095 17,095

Impairment losses on properties for sale At HEWEE 2 REFIE - 358,710 358,710

Trading Properties

Segment Segment  Consolidated

B9 8 L/ E Skl ae)

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREBETE ARETT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=E—Z—N\fF
TZA=+t—BLEE

Addition to non-current assets (Note) IERBEENE (Mit)

Interest income SN ON

Depreciation of property, Y - BE REETE
plant and equipment

Depreciation of investment properties KEYETE

Impairment losses on properties for sale  AJ{t HE Y% 7 FEE1E

= 2,139,752 2,139,752

= 272,277 272,277
= 17,249 17,249
= 47,381 47,381
= 419,650 419,650

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial asset at FVTPL.

The Group's revenue from external customers is derived from
the PRC, including Hong Kong. No single customer of the Group
contributed 10% or more to the Group'’s revenue for both years.

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets, excluding
deferred tax assets and financial asset at FVTPL are located in the
PRC.

Hit : SERBBENBBREHARE RRAFEFAREN
EREE °
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s Properties Segment is located in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Nanjing and Jurong, Chongging, Xi‘an and Hong

Kong.

Information about the revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations. Assets
of Properties Segment and Asset Management Segment are

presented based on the location of the assets.

DEER @)

32 & R
FEEZMESBLREL BN BREE
nEE - ARRES o

BREXBIIREPHREZERTIEREE L
BEV - MEEEDHMREEEEDBIHERN
BEMEZS -

Revenue from

external customers

Segment assets

RENBEE 2 Wz APHEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F —E-NF —T-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTT AR%T R ARETFTT
Foshan #1L 3,449,775 3,928,201 15,548,423 15,210,485
Guangzhou B 4,896,172 1,359,500 10,433,847 7,870,838
Nanjing and Jurong BAREAA 5,441,516 2,579,408 30,782,681 24,564,880
Chongging ) 3,440,677 3,880,841 22,101,689 18,674,530
Xi'an fiitl oy 2,164,456 178,720 3,777,265 2,237,141
Hong Kong a5 60,699 29,229 3,908,282 1,857,381
19,453,295 11,955,899 86,552,187 70,415,255

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HflA

2019 2018
—ZE-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARBEFIT
Bank interest income ERITH BUA 72,305 39,543
Interest income from associates REHEREZFBHA 39,414 30,205
Interest income from joint ventures REGERFEZFBWA 225,696 95,829
Interest income from third parties (Note) REE=H 2 FEWA(HaE) - 85,593
Others Hifb 33,482 38,076
370,897 289,246

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2018, the amount represented interest
income of RMB85,593,000 which arose from advances to independent third
parties for acquisitions of equity interests in their subsidiaries. These advances
were unsecured and interest bearing ranging from 8% to 10% per annum.
The acquisitions have subsequently been cancelled and the advances have

been repaid from the third parties in the same year.
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e P BHmRE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMRAK
2019 2018
—E-hEF —F—)\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR% TR ARBEFIT
Interest on: g :
— bank borrowings —iRITIEE 611,084 280,511
— lease liabilities —HEAE 13,919 -
— loans from an intermediate holding company — R AR Z B 204,379 157,861
— loans from non—controlling interests — IR S 2 B 209,560 250,436
— bonds — &% 97,961 170,764
— convertible bonds — AR ES = 67,326
Total borrowing costs BIEE R 1,136,903 926,898
Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost of B BERNEREEREEKRAZ
qualifying assets RIE (403,897) (415,718)
733,006 511,180
Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development SANMIEE27 ~ 28 ~ 29 R30I E - EERMEA
for sale were determined by the contracted interest rates of AHEEERPMEZEERARSFEERE
respective borrowings as disclosed in notes 27, 28, 29 and 30. ZERINREE °
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BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FiIBHixH
2019 2018
—E-hEF —F—)\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T R AREEFIT
The income tax expenses (credits) comprise of: FrisBiR (L) BiE
Hong Kong Profits Tax ERENEH 129 -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") R 2 PTIS R ([ R 3EPTSH L)
— Current year —KEFE 1,628,795 1,001,774
— Underprovision in prior year —BEFERETR 15,209 11
LAT + b I (E L 1,600,752 733,504
3,244,885 1,735,289
Deferred tax (Note 21) RIERIB (M aE21) (191,950) (144,480)

3,052,935 1,590,809

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory EIT rate of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is
25%. Further, 5% or 10% withholding income tax is generally
imposed on dividends relating to profits earned by the PRC
entities that are owned by non-PRC entities within the Group.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales
of properties less estimated deductible expenditures including
cost of land use right, borrowing costs and all relevant property
development expenditures.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2019.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made as the

Group had no assessable profits in Hong Kong for the year ended
31 December 2018.

190 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

REFBEECERMASHA(TEEMETE]) ki
EFSBUREMIRD] - 7P Bl RE AL 2 Y&
RBEVZEEFLERERHER25% ° o &
SEETHTEERAEECTEER —RA
ShEL P BREUR M 2 BB AR5 % 5 10% 2 FRER P
575

IR ETIR T M EEZIEEARER E30%
E60% U - BIHEME 2 EFKBER AR
A (BRI ERERAE - FERARHM
BHEBMEERFAS)E -

ARBEERR  NEHMAHERREIY R
ZEBRHEAMBHREREAMSALTEAN - Bt -
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HLEFEZEH
MEHIRAE RGN 216.5%=1H -

HRAEEREBEE_Z—\F+-A=1+—H
LFEEFBRRAVGN - WAL BELTERN
SR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. FIEBixdH @
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the AEEMEHRY HBEGEEE REME2EKE
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss RABRT AN M ERRAT

and other comprehensive income as follows:

2019 2018
—B-hE —TNF
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBT T

Profit before tax B F5 A1 s ) 5,752,671 3,796,321
Tax at the income tax rate of 25% (Note) R25% PSRt E 2 BIE (M) 1,438,168 949,080
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax DATHE 2 S 2 IS s &

purposes 258,708 158,363
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes — HZERF 2 WA 2 Fii5 2 2 (78,472) (153,679)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously not &) fB KRR 2 FIEEE

recognised MR E (682) (1,598)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRBAEEB 2 RETE 32,585 5,079
LAT T B E T 1,600,752 733,504
Tax effect of LAT TR ER RS E (400,188) (183,376)
Underprovision in prior year MEFEREDNE 15,209 11
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not REEFZ A 153 E 05 =58 2 Fi 15 s &

recognised 164,523 176,180
Tax effect of utilisation of deductible temporary PRABARER MR ERERE 2

differences previously not recognised TR & (57,278) (25,384)
Dividend withholding tax expense BB TEE X 80,182 (74,190)
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions Hiha AR TR R 7 2 (572) 6,819
Income tax expense FRSHisZ i 3,052,935 1,590,809
Note: 25% represents the tax rate where the operation of the Group is Hfat - 25% RSB RIS HEBFIEH 2 BIEK o

substantially based.

—NFFR BEREHERAT 191



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

10. BR% A1 A

2019 2018
—E-hEF —F—)\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBT T
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging B B BT A A 0B (B &) 131
(crediting): FIERFH :
Employee benefits expenses EERMAX (BEESEHM) :
(including directors’ remuneration):
Salaries and other allowances e RHEMERL 399,824 341,402
Pension scheme contributions RIKEETEIHR 30,416 26,538
Total staff costs BIFAXMAERE 430,240 367,940
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties under B BEENMEARNHREEHESD
development and for sale I (256,628) (208,797)
173,612 159,143
Gross rental income from investment WEWMEBEBSIA (M :E5)
properties (Note 5) (271,957) (153,913)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred W TEEZEEKEERY 345,267 204,540
73,310 50,627
Cost of properties for sale recognised as expenses RYER S 2 Al E W KA 12,777,650 7,763,339
Depreciation of investment properties KREYETE 160,187 47,381
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREENE 17,095 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BRERRETE 21,934 17,249
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEE & 4,062 3,783
Impairment losses on properties for sale Al E Y 2 REEE 358,710 419,650
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, LEYE -« BE &KEE
plant and equipment (Yeas ) B 18 (4) g
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BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

(@ The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten (2018:

eleven) directors were as follows:

For year ended 31 December 2019

M. EEBEREEZFHFN

(a)

ENSEMI0GR(ZE—NFE: 11R)ES
ZEHMES AT

BE_B-hAF+-A=t—-HILEE

Dr. So Mr. Yu Mr. Wong
Shu Fai Zhiliang King Yuen Total
HREEL REREE ERRLLE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T ARET R AR%T R
A. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A. HBTES:
Fee paid or payable in respect of a REBARRRENB
person'’s services as a director, ARESMRE
whether of the Company and its %2 Bk
subsidiaries ik = = - -
Emoluments paid or payable in respect ~ SABATEEEH
of a person’s other services in ARRREHKB
connection with the management of NAIEBAMREZ
the affairs of the Company and its Hib %z BBk
subsidiaries ANER
Other emoluments: Hth -
Salaries and allowances e RRhh 35 1,003 35 1,073
Performance related incentive =B BB RE TR
payments bonus (Note (i) - 1,276 = 1,276
Retirement benefits RINEHE I
scheme contributions - = 2 2
Sub-total INaF 35 2,279 37 2,351
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@ The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten (2018:
eleven) directors were as follows: (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

M.EEREEZEFM @)

(@) BffsiEMI0E(ZZE—NF: 118)ES
ZEHMEINNT - (&)

BE_Z-hF+-A=+t—-HLEFE

(#&)
Mr. Huang Mr. Xu Ms. Liu
Junlong Yongjun Ning Total
BN L AFKERE flEat st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT AR¥TR ARBTT

B. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B. FHTES:
Fees paid or payable in respect of a person’s REAADNAIREHB A
services as a director, whether of the EEMEMzRBZER
Company and its subsidiaries FEHE 35 35 35 105
Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Ms. Chen Dr. Shi
Albert Yanping Xinping Mr. He Qi Total
TxERT REELL PHFEL % %4 @zt
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT
C. INDEPENDENT C BUEHTES:
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Fees paid or payable in respect of FERARRRA
a person’s services as a director, WEARESM
whether of the Company and its REZRBZE
subsidiaries NkEREE 119 119 119 119 476
Total emoluments ekl 2,932
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

M"M.EEREEZFMN @)

(@ The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eleven (@) ENHEMNMB(ZE—+HFE: NB)ES
(2017: eleven) directors were as follows: (continued) ZEME ST - (&)
For year ended 31 December 2018 BZE—E—_NE+-—A=+—AILEE
Dr. So Mr. Yu Mr. Wong
Shu Fai Zhiliang King Yuen Total
R T RERTE ER e et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
A. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A BTEES:
Fee paid or payable in respect of a RIEBARRRENEB
person’s services as a director, UNGIE i 673
whether of the Company and R BRIk ER
its subsidiaries ik = - - -
Emoluments paid or payable in respect HEBAALEEEMH
of a person’s other services in ARAIREMBA
connection with the management of GE St
the affairs of the Company and its iR BT SE
subsidiaries E
Other emoluments: Eth -
Salaries and allowances e L2 34 973 34 1,041
Performance related incentive FH B RE T
payments bonus (Note (i) TEEL(HT()) - 785 - 785
Retirement benefits RIKRR AT
scheme contributions = = 2 2
Sub-total NG 34 1,758 36 1,828
Dr. Yan
Mr. Huang Chengda Mr. Xu Ms. Liu
Junlong (note v) Yongjun Ning Total
Yan Chengda
it
YR L (Fiztv) SPKELE EL+ @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTIL ARETT ARBTT ARBTL ARBTT
B. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B. F#TEZ:
Fees paid or payable in respect of R (=Y NG
a person’s services as a director, HNBARES
whether of the Company and its PRt 2 152
subsidiaries BT AN 34 21 34 34 123
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@ The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eleven

(2017: eleven) directors were as follows: (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

M.EEREEZEFM @)

(@) BERNHEMNIZB(ZZE—FF: 11R)ES
ZEHNEFIIT (&)

BE-Z-\F+-A=+—HLFE#H)

Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Ms. Chen Dr. Shi
Albert Yanping Xinping Mr. He Qi Total
FoxERL RAE L eHTEL L E s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETx
C. INDEPENDENT C BUEHTES:
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Fees paid or payable in respect of RIEARDRR
a person’s services as a director, HiBARZES
whether of the Company and its Pl b pARA N
subsidiaries i3pLika 114 14 114 114 456
Total emoluments ke 2,407
Notes: Biat -
(i) The discretionary bonus was determined with reference to the (i) BYIBTEAL IR A RRETE ©
individual performance.
(i) The Company does not have any chief executive for which the (i) AARMEFMNTHRAR(EBEREBATESE
functions are carried out by all the executive directors. 17) °
(i) There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed @iy MRMEFEA - GEEFBLNEXRBHETAHE
to waive any remuneration for both years. &
(ivy  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as (iv) AEEBEEAEAEREZAF - SERE AR
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for AZRER B 2 #2Eh ok (A B B (8 -
loss of office.
(v)  Resigned on 13 August 2018. v) RZZB-NFNAT=HEHE
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

M"M.EEREEZFMN @)

The five highest paid employees of the Group during (b) AFEAREELEZRFIMALTTBIE—
the year included one director (2018: no director) whose Z(ZBE—NEFE :ZBER)EF - EHWRN
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 11(a) EXHsE11(@)IBE - B THEZ(ZE— N
above. Details of the emoluments for the year of the F:RR)ESTMATZEHMAOT :

remaining four (2018: five) highest paid employees are as

follows:

2019 2018
—B-NE —T-)\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Salaries, allowances and other benefits
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes
Discretionary and performance related incentive

e o R R EMER 3,028 6,073
RARAEFIFT &I R 382 500

B 15 Ko R ERAERE R R 1 3K

payments 6,731 6,217
10,141 12,790
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five AEBBERNENRAE S S A TS5
highest-paid employees as inducement to join or upon B - DAVEAE A SR I A K £ BB 2 88 E) 5k
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. ESHBREE -
Their emoluments were within the following bands: WEHFMN AT EE :
Number of employees
EEAH
2019 2018
“E-NF —E-N\F

HK$2,000,000 to HK$2,500,000

(2019: approximately RMB1,763,401 to

RMB2,204,250; 2018: approximately

RMB1,687,800 to RMB2,109,750)
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

(2019: approximately RMB2,204,251

to RMB2,645,100; 2018: approximately

RMB2,109,751 to RMB2,531,700)
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

(2019: approximately RMB2,645,101

to RMB3,085,950; 2018: approximately

RMB2,531,701 to RMB2,953,650)
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000

(2019: approximately RMB3,526,801

to RMB3,967,650; 2018: approximately

RMB3,375,601 to RMB3,797,550)

78%2,000,0007t 2 78%2,500,0007T

(ZZ-NEF : HARE1,763,401 T2

AR#2,204,2500 : —E—N\F: 4

AR#1,687,8007cE AKE2,109,7507T) 2 -
752,500,001 T E 5 %3,000,0007T

(ZZ-NE : HARE2,204,251TF

ARE2,645,100C : —T—\F : 4

AR#2,109,751 L2 AR¥2,531,7007T) 1 3
713,000,001 .27 %3,500,0007C

(Z2-NF : HARE2,645,101TE

AR%3,085,9500 i —E—\F : 4

AR#2,531,701 T2 AR#2,953,6507T) - 1
78%4,000,001 7T 278%4,500,0007T

(ZZ-NF : HARK3,526,801 T2

AR#3,967,6507 : —E—N\F: 4

AR#3,375,601 02 ARE3,797,5507T) 1 1
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HE=

12.

13.

FAFFZASt—ALEE

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a final dividend
of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) HK$0.08 per ordinary share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 (2018: HK$0.1 per
ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017)
was declared and paid to the shareholders of the Company. The
aggregate amount of final dividend paid from share premium
of the Company during the year amounted to approximately
RMB345,208,000 (2018: RMB401,004,000).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 of HK$0.14
(equivalent to approximately RMBO.13) per share has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject to
approval by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming
general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

12.

13.

BRE
REE-Z-—hAE+-_A=+—RHIEFEE K
ARERBEEZE=_TE—/\F+-_A=1+—HLF
B2z KA B FRR L @MAR S ([7E%1)0.087T
(—E—N\F :BE-_ZT—+4&+-_B=+—8
I FESREBREE01T) » LAAR AR
RIR - REARR SRS 54 AR 345,208,000
T(ZZE—N\F : AR¥401,004,0007T)J5AF
R E AR R D & IR

RBEHEEERR A AR ESEEREN
AT —NF+_A=+—HILEFEZ
REARR B IR B 0. 14t (HER PO ARK0.13
TC)  AFARARIBRREREREBRREASHE
% FO{EE °

BREF
AR A A RE (5% 2 B8 R T T
BRE &

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBT T
Earnings B F
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share, STEERERBF(BIAARF]
being profit for the year attributable to owners of A ABGFARF) 2
the Company Z7 1,794,470 1,216,132
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEEE L RRE
— Fair value changes on convertible bonds — A MRESH 2 A FE
25 - 27,696
— Interest on convertible bonds (Note 8) — Al AR E A A B (H:E8) = 67,326
Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share HEERESEN 2 ER 1,794,470 1,311,154
2019 2018
ZE-NF —ZE-)N\F
Number of shares REOEA
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the STESRERRF 2 EBR
purpose of basic earnings per share HOAE 35 8 4,905,257,860 4,905,257,860
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEBETERRZE
Convertible bonds A # R (B 55 N/A ~EA 393,696,134

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of diluted earnings per share

AESREERN ERK
pillt= Bk

N/A iEF 5,298,953,994
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 1% - BERZE
Owned Leasehold Motor Office
properties  improvements vehicles equipment Total
FEENE HEWERE RE BRERE @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARETR ARRTT ARETE ARETR

cosT B
At 1 January 2018 R-_Z—-N\F—HF—H 28,453 114,394 9,143 13,572 165,562
Additions NE - 99,486 941 3,112 103,539
Disposals HE - - (539) (312) (851)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 32) HENBAR(H732) - - (561) (238) (799)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE—\F+-A=1—H

1 January 2019 k=F-nF—HF—H 28,453 213,880 8,984 16,134 267,451
Additions NE - 85,703 658 2,744 89,105
Disposals HE - - (1322) (591) (1,913)
Deemed acquisition of a subsidiary ~ BEHE—RNEA A

(Note 34) (Hiit34) - - - 12 12
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+=-A=F+—H 28,453 299,583 8,320 18,299 354,655
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION BiiE
At 1 January 2018 R=E—-\F—HA—H 6,239 7,765 5927 8,743 28,674
Provided for the year FREHE 1,026 12,887 895 2,441 17,249
Eliminated on disposals P& 8E - - (478) (292) (770)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 32) HEMBLR(M:#32) - - (457) (192) (649)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE—-\F+-A=1—H

1 January 2019 k=E-nF—A—H 7,265 20,652 5,887 10,700 44,504
Provided for the year FREE 1,026 17,440 1,220 2,248 21,934
Eliminated on disposals AR - = (1,243) (483) (1,726)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+-A=+-H 8,291 38,092 5,864 12,465 64,712
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+=-A=F+—H 20,162 261,491 2,456 5,834 289,943
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+_A=+—H 21,188 193,228 3,097 5,434 222,947
The Group'’s owned properties are erected on land located in the REBFEBNMEEZNPRE LM E -
PRC.
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Lt - BB REREE B L E B HE G F
depreciated using the straight-line basis, after taking into BEBEATFEFRUNERETENE
account of their estimated residual values, at the following rates
per annum:
Owned properties 5% or over the lease terms of the FTER Y= 5% 3k (1HERAE ) i AR A 11

relevant land, if shorter FHEA
Leasehold improvements 5% or over the lease terms of the HEMERE 5% (WERE)IZIEEYZE
relevant properties, if shorter THEA

Motor vehicles 15% - 20% TE 15%—20%
Office equipment 15% - 20% YN ] 15% —20%
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For both years, the Group leases various offices, and vehicles for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 4
months to 14 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for motor
vehicles and office equipment. As at 31 December 2019, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-
term leases to which the short-term lease expense included in
administrative expenses.

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB277,334,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of RMB32,275,000 and
investment properties of RMB195,180,000 as at 31 December
2019. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EAREEE
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
THRETF "E @ct
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T AR®T R AR®T R
As at 1 January 2019 R=Z-hF—HB—H
Carrying amount BREE 45,293 953 46,246
As at 31 December 2019 R=B-AF+=B=+—H
Carrying amount BRMEE 31,810 465 32,275
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_ZS—hE
TZA=+—HLFE
Depreciation charge nEEHA 16,607 488 17,095
Expense relating to short-term leases and other &R HAFA S A i &
lease with lease terms end within 12 months RN RERES
of the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 B R & 42 RIE 165k B HA
1218 A A fE i e A A & 3,816
Total cash flow for leases HERGREMATE 40,568
Additions to right-of-use assets NECRESE 3,124

RREFE  AEEBEEZ @M A ERTE -
REEZE - iHEANME - HIRAMEE
RE A =145 o WAL E R EXERER - B
WEZ BT RGER RGN - REERAMRGF
TR ARERNRER - REEERAS O
EBEREESOTRITH -

AEBEEHILEBAERRAERENE
HHEE -82—F-NF+-_A=t—RH &
HEENAS B ARTRXHMNEREES
HEE A B -

o R=ZT—NAF+=_A=+—8 "  EER
FHEBBEARK277,334,0007T K #1 B8 (5 A #&
BEAR®32275000C REEMEARE
195,180,0007T - BHAAFENHEEEFH
ERERN  MERZEL T EINEMZE - A
EEETAEEREENRR -
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REW=

The Group leases out various apartments and retail stores
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 12 years, with unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees
only. Majority of the lease contracts contain market review
clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total cash outflow
paid for leased properties under sub-leases is RMB17,154,000
For the year ended 31 December 2019, income from subleasing
of right-of-use assets amounted to RMB43,330,000.

AEERBEREHELEZEALRBERETER
W omMESASAXN  HELENH KR
—E12F RAABATEIEAEEEREE
VIEHER - KBOBEEEHEF TS DR
(R AEATTEERBERER) o

AEEYERBELHMERINEER - RE
AAEHEEONEBRERNABDEER
B HESHLTBENBEBERRE X
HAREMZEREEYROER -

BE-_ZT-NFE+-_A=1t—BItEE  #H
HETHHEMEEINORERLEEAA
R#17,154,0007C - HE=-T—NLF+= A
=+—HLFE  RKEFAEEENDHKA
A AR¥43,330,0007T °
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. REW = @)

Total
et
RMB’000
ARET T
cosT R
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\F—H—H 1,223,507
Additions through acquisition of assets (Note 35) BBWEEEZANE (K7E35) 488,370
Additions NE 59,475
Transfer from properties for sale EE T HEEE 825,338
Exchange realignment bE 5, o # 62,610
At 31 December 2018 RZE—-—N\F+=-A=+—H 2,659,300
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 16 RIERBEBHMEHELERF165RE N FHE 212,502
At 1 January 2019 (restated) RZT—AF—A—B(EE7)) 2,871,802
Transfer from properties for sale HEA R EYE 1,419,663
Exchange realignment FE H 23,098
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+-H=+—8 4,314,563
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Rt e
At 1 January 2018 R=ZE—\F—H—H 39,944
Provided for the year FREE 47,381
Exchange realignment BE 5, S 905
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R-E—N\F+-_A=+—HBK
—E-NF—A—H 88,230
Provided for the year FREE 160,187
Exchange realignment PE i FH 2 828
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+=ZA=+—H 249,245
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-—NF+=-A=+—H 4,065,318
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—H 2,571,070

The Group's investment properties are erected on land located in

the PRC and Hong Kong.

202 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019

AEBREVEENTEREE LI L -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. REW = (@)

The fair values of investment properties as at 31 December
2019 and 2018 of RMB4,418,000,000 and RMB3,020,600,000,
respectively, have been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out on the respective dates by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“Jones Lang”), an
independent qualified professional valuer, not connected to the
Group.

As at 31 December 2019, the fair values of investment properties
of RMB1,728,000,000, RMB101,000,000, RMB1,308,000,000
and RMB1,281,000,000 (2018: RMB1,723,000,000,
RMB27,600,000, Nil and RMB1,270,000,000) in Nanjing,
Guangzhou, Chongging, the PRC and Hong Kong respectively,
are determined based on the income approach, by taking into
account the net rental income of a property derived from its
existing leases and/or achievable in the existing market with due
allowance for the reversionary income potential of the leases
which have then been capitalised to determine the fair value at
an appropriate capitalisation rate.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
Group had changed the use of certain properties, of which had
commenced the operating lease to outsiders during the year.
Accordingly, it results in a transfer from properties for sale to
investment properties.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 of
the investment properties of the Group are at Level 3. There
were no transfers between fair value hierarchies during both
years. There has been no change to the valuation technique on
the investment properties in Guangzhou, Nanjing and Hong
Kong, used in the prior years. In estimating the fair value of the
properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their
current use. The fair values of certain investment properties have
been adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued operating lease
income to avoid double counting.

The fair values of the investment properties were determined by
Jones Lang Lasalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected to
the Group, by reference to investment approach of valuation
by considering the capitalised income derived from the existing
tenancies and the reversionary potential of the properties,
or where appropriate, by reference to the direct comparison
approach assuming sale with the benefit of immediate vacant
possession and by making reference to comparable sales
evidence as available on the market.

REMEZAFER-_E—NER_T—\F
+TZA=+—BH 5" AR 4,418,000,0007T
M AR#3,020,600,0007T @ Tz EL AN & E 7 45
MEZBIABEREXEGEMMEHTEET
HREAERAR (P27 A EE B HAT
TEMbEES -

R-Z—hFE+-_A=+—HB #EER &
N EERBEBREVELATEIIAARE
1,728,000,0007T * AR #¥101,000,0007T « A
R #1,308,000,0007T & A R ¥ 1,281,000,000
T (ZZF—/)\F : AK¥1,723,000,0007T * A
R#27,600,0007T + T & A K% 1,270,000,000
TL)  TIRBAEETE AT R—IEMEREHR
BHER /KRB AMS EAIER 2 BE KA
FE URZEHEZERRABNERE &
5 BERCEREEENMELEERTUAEREIA
ETATE -

HE_ZT—NWEFER-ZE—N\F+=-A=+—H
WHFE AEBEERETHENAR @ EF
RENEEINRA LT AL - Hitt - HE
A EYEE B E Y -

REEREMELZRATFELZINR-Z-NFR
TE N\FFTA=T—HRE=H - XMIE
FEA  RTPERMHEESEGR - BEFE
BN RREBREWMEMAZ GERIMYE
BEY - AFAREWELATER  ZFWE
BRizAgRERSMRERE -BETRED
ERRATFESERRE  UMBRAEMSEFLE
HEWA  EMEEEEAE -

BEWEZ NV EHERNEEIWEEE BT
AEREEMEMFERITERFERERE
RARKSEREMEE  ZEERCRAHM
KRB ARMERFTENR(ER) IREE
HEZAEMABEXEBERTRKEL2ETS £
RENATELREEREMETE -
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

16. REW X m)
AR TE R EAAH B E -

Leasehold land and Over the shorter of lease terms or HELTHIEFT IRHEBANSFREZRES
building 25 years
17. GOODWILL 17. 58
RMB’000
AR¥T
COST AND CARRYING VALUE AR REE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and R-ZE—N\F—F—H —E—\F+=A4
31 December 2019 =t+—HERE=F—hE+=—A=+—H 160,210

Goodwill was arising from the restructuring during the year
ended 31 December 2013. Goodwill has been allocated to
the group of cash generating units (“CGUs") comprising
the Properties Segment, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition in prior years.

The directors of the Company have performed the assessment
on impairment and determined that the recoverable amount of
CGUs was higher than the carrying amount of goodwill based on
the profitability of the CGUs.

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

HEBERERBE_Z—=F1+-_A=+—HI
FEZEM BECOIREEBEHRXERNEESF
BWEZHRBEZEARDELBZERESESL
B ([BReELEM AR

AATEFERREL T L RRSELS
fir 2 BRI DB R B S 2 e B T M R
BEEAESS -

18. NIt & Nz =

2019 2018

—E-hEF —F—)\F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T AR®ET T

Costs of investments in associates WEBE N T Z KR 1,685,046 328,681
Share of post-acquisition results, AW ER EE - HRERRE

net of dividend received 547,583 382,866

2,232,629 711,547
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REF&E N T 2w ()
Details of the principal associates as at 31 December 2019 and RZZE-HhER_ZE—N\E+-_A=+—H8H2
2018 are as follows: FEBEQARFEHINNAT ¢
Proportion
of effective
Place of ownership interests Proportion
incorporation/ Registered indirectly held of voting
Name of company operation share capital by the Group power held Principal activity
iYL/ ARERREEL
ARER XY R i FRRZRLA TEEH

2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NE “5-\F ZE-pE “Z-\F

% % % %

Guangzhou Liansen Real Estate The PRC RMB200,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Company Limited* lG AR%200,000,0007 NEER
(“Guangzhou Liansen”)

BNBREDERRAA([EMBR])

Guangzhou Lianzhou Real Estate The PRC RMB200,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Company Limite* e AEE200,000,0007 NFER
("Guangzhou Lianzhou")

BB NEERRAR(EMNEH )

Nanjing Shizhaoquansheng The PRC RMB250,000,000 25 25 49 49 Property development
Property Company Limited* i AE#250,000,0007 IEZE
("Nanjing Shizhao")

BREREREXRRAR(ARLR])

Gezhouha Nanjing Property The PRC RMB50,000,000 15 15 30 30 Property development
Company Limited* G AE50,000,0001C NFER

ENEEREXARAA

Nanjing Merchants Ningsheng The PRC RMB60,000,000 16 16 31 31 Property development
Property Development Limited* G ARE60,000,0007 NELR
("Nanjing Ningsheng")

ERAAERRHERRAA(HRER])

Nanjing Merchants Xingsheng The PRC RMB50,000,000 16 16 31 31 Property development
Property Development Co, Ltd.* lG ARE50,000,0007 MELR

(“Nanjing Xingsheng")
ERARREEHERRAA(FHRER])
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. Rt E N T 2 X ()

Proportion
of effective
Place of ownership interests Proportion
incorporation/ Registered indirectly held of voting
Name of company operation share capital by the Group power held Principal activity
i/ FEBERERL
ARER ks kA RERRLRLD FERERLE  TEEH
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-AE ZF-\E ZE-AF CT-)\E
% % % %
Xian Wocheng Property The PRC RIMB10,860,000 £t} 3 3 33 Property development
Development Co, Ltd.* B AE10,860,0007C NEER

R R EHEREERAA

Plenty Thrive Investment Limited British Virgin Island~ US$86,900,000 25 = 25 - Investment holding and

REREARAR RERAEE 86,900,000 T property development

REBRRDZER

Joy Origin Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10 30 - 30 - Investment holding and

("Joy Origin”) & BEI0T property development
REEBARAR(HR]) REERRNZLR
Nanjing Shansheng Property The PRC RIMB9,000,000,000 2 - 2 - Property development
Development Limited* B AE9,000,000,0007 NEER
AREREHEREERAT
Xixian New District Wenmao Properties The PRC RMB10,000,000 50 100 50 100 Property development
Development Limited* ("Xixian Wenmao”) ~ H & AR%10,000,0007 NE%E
(Note 32) (Note)
BRHE KR ERRAR ([ERE)
(Witz2)(Wit)

S Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. * FEHRXEE  EHBE -

Note: The Group is able to appoint one out of three directors in the board of Hrat c ARBEREREARXKEEG=RESEHED—Z - M
Xixian Wenmao and relevant activities of Xixian Wenmao require consent PR RS AR SRR X ESSRALHE
with more than half of the directors in the board of Xixian Wenmao, ENRE MAEEREHEARNKEEERNZE -
thus the Group is able to exercise significant influence in Xixian Wenmao. It EABRAAREEBE AT -

Accordingly, it is accounted for an associate of the Group
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REtE AR 2= ()

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in ZEBERA NN ELREMBERRFEAERE
these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the AR e RRRIESRAE REBEE_Z—NLFK
directors of the Company, Guangzhou Liansen, Guangzhou - %—/\i‘f‘ “A=+—RHIFE - BME
Lianzhou, Nanjing Shizhao and Joy Origin are material associates CBEMEON EREERHEREATER 2
of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. EKH&%%*@ Al REBEERBMERTZHMBKE
Summarised financial information of the Group's material BEZERINO T (AEBEAEESARERE L
associates are set out below, which represented amounts shown FHERNTMBHRERAN 2 E5) °

in the respective associates’ financial statements prepared in
accordance with the accounting policy of the Group.

Guangzhou Liansen & JN B Fx

2019 2018
—E—NF —E-N\EF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBETTT
Current assets MENEE 1,123,971 2,290,057
Non-current assets SEMBNEE 198 51,141
Current liabilities mEEE 557,711 1,675,607
Revenue W zs 1,172,161 2,365,587
Profit and other comprehensive income for the year s M) K2 2 E A 300,867 585,723
Dividend received from the associate during the year FRERE N WEZ IR 136,000 -
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented B PR B 7 R BT R B N Bk AR A a2 BR

above to the carrying amount of the interest in Guangzhou HEESRSFIAT

Liansen was set out below:

2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®BTE

Net assets of Guangzhou Liansen BB AR 2 B EFE 566,458 665,591
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in AN E P iS E B AR A

Guangzhou Liansen B 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group'’s interest in REBEMFHEMNBRER 2

Guangzhou Liansen BREE 192,596 226,301
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. Rt E N T 2 X ()

Guangzhou Lianzhou & N B8t
2019 2018
—Z-hEF —ZE—N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Current assets MENEE 1,628,518 2,565,940
Non-current assets JEMENEE 99,602 22,350
Current liabilities mBEE 750,387 2,455,340
Revenue Wi 3,246,199 -

Profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (expense) R H (E18) &

for the year Htp 2 EHRAFI) 844,783 (3,287)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Guaugzhou

Lianzhou was set out below:

EEHRHEFIMT

SRR B B R 2 R RN B M R 2 2 B

2019 2018

—E-hF —T-)N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBTTT

Net assets of Guaugzhou Lianzhou BN 2 B A 977,733 132,950
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in INER B P B M BN S e

Guaugzhou Lianzhou Rzl 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in AN P E BN i o 2

Guaugzhou Lianzhou BREE 332,429 45,203
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REtE AR 2= ()
Nanjing Shizhao PRt
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E=-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETET

Current assets mENE E 317,882 645,074
Non-current assets FERENEE 1,982 19,552
Current liabilities MEEE 27,894 104,009
Revenue U 25 7,204 14,439
Profit and other comprehensive income for the year FREF REMEEmEA 1,353 3,707
Dividend received from associate during the year FRBEEE A RIWEZIRE 132,300 -
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented EXZ27HBBEERSEHEE Rt B ER 2
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Nanjing Shizhao BREE 2 SRS T -

was set out below:

2019 2018
—2-AF TR
RMB'000  RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Net assets of Nanjing Shizhao MR tR .z BEFE 291,970 560,617
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest RNE BRI A
in Nanjing Shizhao Tz Ll 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REEPFE R RER
in Nanjing Shizhao Z BREE 143,065 274,702
Joy Origin e
2019
—E-AF
RMB’000
ARBT T
Current assets mENE E 12,981,984
Current liabilities mEBE 3,261,435
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 6,310,296
Revenue s —
Loss and other comprehensive expense for the year FAEBRAEMZESH (59)

“ToNFER BARBEHAERAR 209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT-A=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REF&E QAR 2% (@)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented EXIRMBERBEAR T SRS 2 REE
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Joy Origin was set HEREFIWAT
out below:
2019
ZE-NF
RMB’000
ARBTT
Net assets of Joy Origin sz BEFE 3,410,253
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Joy Origin 7~ &= [ Fr 5 13 5 ¥ /& 2 4 %5 Lt 171 30%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Joy Origin AEBAFIN SRS ZREE 1,023,076
The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate, RS L TEANREEREARZAEER
of the Group's interests in associates, that are not individually B NAEs EEMBEN R RMERTES
material and are accounted for using the equity method are set HTR -
out below:
2019 2018
—E-NF —N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBETTT
The Group's shares of profits and total REESRRNE
comprehensive income ZEBALREE 42,851 126,158
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group'’s interests in ANEEE R IEE KB & A A
immaterial associates a2 REE BT 541,463 165,341
19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. RE X RS
2019 2018
—E-F —T)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBFT
Costs of investments in joint ventures REGEDE KA 3,343,759 3,400,681
Share of post-acquisition results, FEME R 45
net of dividend received 0k B W% & 184,734 360,899
3,528,493 3,761,580
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REELE RS @)
Details of the principal joint ventures as at 31 December 2019 RZZE-HhER_ZE—N\E+-_A=+—H8H2
and 2018 are as follows: FEEECEFBOT :
Proportion of
Place of ownership interests Proportion
incorporation/  Registered indirectly held by of voting
Name of company operation share capital the Group power held Principal activity
HEL/ AEBEEREE 2 HER
ARER EXY EBRA G Eahid] fsRERA  FEXK

2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NE “Z-\fF ZE-nE —Z-)\F

% % % %

Nanjing Aojian Property Company Limited* The PRC RMB2,000,000,000 3 3 6 6 Property development
(Note ) hE AR2,000,000,0007 VS

ARRREXARAR M)

Nanjing Zhaoyang Property Development The PRC RMB20,000,000 pL A% 46 46 Property development
Company Limited* (“Nanjing Zhaoyang") e AK#20,000,0007 NEER

ARAEEEREERAT(HRAE])

Nanjing Huilong Real Estate Company Limited* ~ The PRC RMB1,500,000,000 17 17 3 33 Property development
("Nanjing Hullong”) (Note j E AR%1,500,000,0007C NEER

AREREERRAR( BRER ) HiH)

Foshan Dingtu Property Development Co,, Ltd. ¥~ The PRC RMB1,100,000,000 50 50 50 50  Property development
("Foshan Dingtu”) (Note j el ARE1,100,000,0007 NELE

BUSERNEERAR(HLEE])H:H)

Guangzhou Xinhe Property Development The PRC RMB100,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Company Limited.* (Note j e AKF100,000,00070 NEER

AR ERRREATNL)

Nanjing Hongweisheng Property Development The PRC RMB765,000,000 17 17 34 34 Property development
Co., Ltd.* (“Nanjing Hongweisheng”) (Note )~ ARH765,000,00070 WELR

ARAAR R EREARAR (PR ])
(i)

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan Property Development  The PRC RMB3,000,000,000 17 17 34 34 Property development
Limited* (“Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan") (Note ) % El AR%3,000,000,0007C NFERE

AREERRERLARAR (FHREEE])
(i)

Chongging Hanzhi Merchants Property Development  The PRC RMB440,000,000 50 50 50 50 Property development
Co, Ltd.* ("Chongging Hanzhi") (Note ) e AKRH440,000,00070 LR

ERHERERNEREERAR

([ZZHE )3
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

19. RE&E RS @)

Proportion of
Place of ownership interests Proportion
incorporation/  Registered indirectly held by of voting
Name of company operation share capital the Group power held Principal activity
AL/ AREERRE HER
ARER CESuL kA R FEREELE  TEER
2019 2018 2019 2018
- NE “T\F ZR-NE CTNF
% % % %
Nanjing Huihe Zhiye Co., Ltd.* (Note j The PRC RMB10,000,000 I 7 14 14 Property development
HREREFARAT W) hE AR10,000,0007C NEER
Nanjing Tiesheng Business Management Co,, Ltd.*  The PRC RMB10,000,000 28 28 55 55 Property development
(Note ) e ARE10,000,0007 VETHE
AREREEERERAA W)
Nanjing Ximao Zhiye Co., Ltd.* (Note ] The PRC RMB20,000,000 I 7 13 13 Property development
HREREFARAT ML) hE AR20,000,0007 NEER
Nanjing Zhaohui Place Management Co., Ltd.* ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 26 2 51 51" Property development
(Note ) e ARE10,000,0007 VETHE
ARRELZERERAA W)
Nanjing Dingjiazhuang Trading Co., Ltd* The PRC RMB981,400,000 3 31 60 60 Property development
(Nanjing DJZ Trading) (Notes i and i) hE AE981,400,0007 NEER
BRI FEBZARAR
([ERTFUBR)) (Witiki)
Guangzhou Runjia Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (Note ) The PRC RMB50,000,000 50 - 50 - Property development
ENRREXERAR M) hE ARE50,000,0007 NEER
Guangzhou City Suiyun Property Limited* (Note ) The PRC RMB40,000,000 25 - 25 - Property development
ENTREERERAA M) hE AR40,000,0007 NEER
Foshan Baohua China Merchants Real Estate The PRC RMB20,000,000 51 - 51 - Property development
Company Limited* (Note hE AB#20,000,0007 NELE
BURERBRDERRARA W)
Nanjing Yuening Property Development Limited* ~ The PRC RMB50,000,000 EE] - 3 - Property development
(Note ) il ARE50,000,0007 NEERE
BARNERNEREERAA W)
L Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. * FEFEXEE - (EHREE -

Note i: The decision making process about the relevant activities of these
companies requires unanimous consent from the Group and other parties
pursuant to the signed agreements and accordingly, these entities are
accounted for as joint ventures of the Group.

Note ii: On 1 July 2019, Nanjing DJZ Trading has become the subsidiary of the
Group (Note 34).
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. A LE R @)

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, Foshan Dingtu, Nanjing
Hongweisheng, Nanjing Zhaoyang, Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan
and Nanjing Huilong are the material joint ventures of the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. Summarised
financial information of the Group’s material joint ventures
are set out below, which represented amounts shown in the
respective joint ventures’ financial statements prepared in
accordance with the accounting policy of the Group.

BECERARBENZERAMBRRA
R ARAEERR RBEE_FT-AFR-
Z-N\F+-A=+—HIFE  HLREE -
MRCAEE ERAE  mRETERBERE
ESAEEEARELE - AEHEERAED
EZHBERREIN T - H2FIRRALE
BEtBRBEIUBRRAZINEAELE
ZEHE

Foshan Dingtu L RE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREET T
Current assets BB E 2,618,552 2,086,196
Non-current assets EmBEE 3,651 44
Current liabilities mEAE 1,501,480 718,043
Non-current liabilities JEmBAE 60,000 280,000
Revenue Wz 115,513 -

Loss and other comprehensive expense FABERAMEESH

for the year (27,474) (8,024)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Foshan Dingtu
was set out below:

EXFRMBE MG E BN LR E RS R
EEHRHEFINT

2019 2018

—E-NEF —ZT-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®T T ARBFT

Net assets of Foshan Dingtu BB S E 7 BEFE 1,060,723 1,088,197
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in 7 5 & Fr 4336 L) 52 [B] 48 75 12 42 25 £ £

Foshan Dingtu 50% 50%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in ANEBE AL R ERER ZRAE
Foshan Dingtu 530,361 544,098

T NFER BERERARAF 213



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT-A=+—HIFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

19. RE&E RS @)

Nanjing Hongweisheng RN
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
Current assets mENEE 1,626,836 3,117,960
Non-current assets EMENE E 1,791 8,027
Current liabilities REBEE 444,534 2,391,328
Revenue Wz 2,227,407 -

Profit (loss) and other comprehensive FRmA (EE) REMEH

income (expense) for the year WA (ZH) 449,434 (20,100)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Nanjing

Hongweisheng was set out below:

ZAREELRREN T -

EXENNZHEER R BN R AR EE R

2019 2018

ZE-NF —ZE-N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBFT

Net assets of Nanjing Hongweisheng F R ShAB R 2 BEE R E 1,184,093 734,659

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in N5 B T4 P AR oA BN B R A R 2

Nanjing Hongweisheng te 151 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in N5 B P R AR SA B R M 2 2 BRTEI(E

Nanjing Hongweisheng 402,592 249,784
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. A LE R @)
Nanjing Zhaoyang ARiEE
2019 2018
—B-_nE -—T-N\&F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARET T ARETT

Current assets RENEE 220,887 610,184
Non-current asset SERBEE 4 8
Current liabilities mEaE 147,739 245,877
Revenue W zs 30,946 1,715,430
Profit and other comprehensive income FREAREMmEEURA

for the year 8,837 389,702
Dividend received from the joint venture FRNEEEREREZ

during the year 35 300,000 -
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented EXTRMBERNBERNERABEER R
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Nanjing Zhaoyang EEHERHFINAT :

was set out below:

2019 2018
=2-7%E —TN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Net assets of Nanjing Zhaoyang EREG 2 EEFE 73,152 364,315
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in -~ £ [# BT R RIS B B HEME 25
Nanjing Zhaoyang (Note) H Bl (Hizt) 100% 100%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in REBEMFERAGEZ 2 REE
Nanjing Zhaoyang 73,152 364,315
Note: Nanjing Zhaoyang owned two pieces of lands and pursuant to the respective Htet - IR A MR - RIBEREE ERE - A5ER
cooperation agreement, the Group and its joint venture partner are HALSPEBMNAESAMBEMIE > MZMRitRg
responsible for the development on each piece of land on its own and the B REENFEE - ARAEFEHBERABABARR
account records for these two lands are to be maintained separately. The HEA2PE  NHRERBEBREATHEAAE T8 -
directors of the Company have accounted for Nanjing Zhaoyang as its joint TR EEREE A BB NS - AR EE
venture as they considered that Nanjing Zhaoyang is one single entity in its DEERBEEETA100%:E ©

legal form. The financial information presented above only represented the
piece of land owned by the Group and hence the Group’s share of result on
Nanjing Zhaoyang is calculated at 100%.
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REELEZEE @)

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan MREREE
2019 2018
—E-NF —F—)\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Current assets mENEE 11,208,194 10,806,995
Non-current assets EMENE E 15,968 5,682
Current liabilities mEAE 7,840,962 7,826,609
Non-current liabilities FERHERE 428,012 -
Revenue g - -

Profit and other comprehensive income s A S L 2 EURA

for the year (30,880) (14,694)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented

above to the carrying amount of the interest in Nanjing HEEHERSHHIAT -

Shengxiang Yuan was set out below:

EXENZHBERMBERNEREER 2K

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFT

Net assets of Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan ERERERECEEFE 2,955,188 2,986,068

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in AREBFTIEME REEEEA EER

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan Lt Al 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AREBE AR EEER ZRAE

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan 1,004,764 1,015,263

216 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+=—A=1—HAIFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

19. A LE R @)

Nanjing Huilong ARERE
2019 2018
—E—-hE —E-N\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT
Current assets RENEE 3,174,721 4,213,658
Non-current assets IERBEE 7,400 837
Current liabilities mEaE 1,671,424 2,057,616
Non-current liabilities FERHERE - 660,000
Revenue Wz 2,114,922 -

Profit (loss) and other comprehensive FREA(EER)REtEm

income (expense) for the year WA (ZH) 13,818 (756)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
above to the carrying amount of the interest in Nanjing Huilong

was set out below:

EXENZHBENBEERNEREEER 2
FREEHRHINDT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E=-N\F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT

Net assets of Nanjing Huilong M RERE 2 BEFE 1,510,697 1,496,879

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in ~ ZN& & pr i R IE[E A RS

Nanjing Huilong Lt Al 33% 33%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEBFFERERERS ZRAE

Nanjing Huilong 498,530 493,970
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HE=

19.

20.

21.

T AFF A=t —ALTE

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The aggregate information of the Group’s interests in joint
ventures that are not individually material that are accounted for
using the equity method are set out below:

19. RE&E RS @)

AEERA B0 E AL TEAY R R
AR 2 EAR BRI

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBFT
The Group's shares of (losses) profits and total AEESL(EE) &R REE

comprehensive (expenses) income () A 48%8 (101,546) 12,898

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEERIEERGEDLEERT L
interests in immaterial joint ventures FRE{E4R% 1,019,094 1,094,150

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

The amounts represented the Group’s investment in 15%
equity interest in the registered capital of an unlisted company
incorporated in the PRC, which is engaged in property
development. On 30 October 2019, the Group and the other
equity holders of the unlisted company had passed a resolution
to capitalise the advances to the unlisted company as its
registered capital. Accordingly, the investment in the unlisted
company has increased by RMB84,750,000 (2018: nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a fair value gain
of RMB3,031,000 (2018: loss of RMB2,039,000) has been
recognised.

DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

20. RAFEFABENEREE

21.

ERSEEAEERN —MEF R FEMKIE
FHAREMERT15%ERMIRE - ZAT
REYEBE -R=_F—NF+A=1+H &
SEEELETRARNEMERSITE ABBRRE
= BEMNELTARBRREALAEEME
Ko EHt  RIELEMARZIRECHEMARE
84,750,0007C(=ZZF—N\F : &T)

BHE_ZT-—-NE+_A=1t—BHItEE B
RARM3,031,0007tH A FERZE(ZZE—N\
& AR¥2,039,000THIEE) ©

I SE B TH
AT RIEIE BB A # 2 DI LAVERI TS B 3R 2 9 -

2019 2018

—E-NEF —F-)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREFT

Deferred tax assets EIEFIEE E 1,022,890 741,121
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEE (E (375,646) (180,104)
647,244 561,017

218 CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F-—ANFIT=-A=+—HIFE

21. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

The followings are the deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised

21, EEFIE &)
ATARENERY T ERERBEE(AE)

and movements thereon during the year: REMEEE -
Others -
temporary  Temporary
differences differences
Fair value ondeposits  related to
Temporary adjustment receivedin  right-of-use
differences onproperty  Dividend respectof assetsand
on LAT under  withholding  pre-sale of lease
provision  Tax losses development tax  properties liabilities Total
BfERE
THEER Bft-Bh EEREE
A R RENERE BREFEZ

EBZE  REER <0VERR  RERNE CEEMER  ERER #;
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO  RMBOO  RMBOO0  RMBIN0
ARBTR  ARMTR ARBTR ARWTR ARBTR ARMTR  ARMTR

At 1 January 2018 R=Z-\F-A-H 539414 56,154 - (254294) 75,263 - 416,537
(Charge) credit to profit or oss (Note 9) REE (B A HH9) (29.403) 39,263 - 74,190 60,430 - 144,480
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\5+-A=t-H 510,011 95,417 - (180,104) 135,693 - 561,017
Adjustment (note 2) BR(H) - - - - - 9573 9573
At 1 January 2019 (restated) RZF-NE-A-B(EE]) 510,011 95,417 - (180004 13569 9573 570,590
Deemed acquisiton of a subsidiary (Note 34) RIELE-RNBAR W) = 64 (115360) = - - (11529)
(Charge) credit to profitor loss (Note 9) B (B )t A(Hits) 27,005 (16,457) - (80,182) 58,685 2899 191,950
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AF+-A=1-8 737,016 79,024 (115,360) (260,286) 194 378 124712 647,244

At 31 December 2019, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately RMB486,132,000 (2018: RMB424,092,000),
available to offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of such losses of RMB316,093,000
(2018: RMB381,665,000) at 31 December 2019. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
RMB170,039,000 (2018: RMB42,427,000) as at 31 December
2019 due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.
Included in the unrecognised tax losses as at 31 December 2019,
no tax loss (2018: RMB2,271,000) will be expired in five years
from the dates they were incurred.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had unrecognised
deductible temporary differences of RMB788,257,000 (2018:
RMB614,046,000) attributable to the capitalised interest
expenses arising from the intra-group borrowings and
RMB674,419,000 (2018: RMB419,650,000) attributable to the
impairment losses on properties for sale. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

RZBE—-hNhE+-_A=+—"8 x&EE#H
A AR IEEREO AR 486,132,0007T (=
T — N\FE : AR#¥424,092,0007T) + 74K
HB®BEAN - HEEEAR316,093,000
T(ZZE—N\F : AR%¥381,6650007T) °
ER-_Z—hAhE+_A=+—BHBEREBEL
MIBEE ° AR AR TER &R K m F R
WR—_FE—hAhE+-_A=+—BIEHHT
AR #170,039,000 (T —N\F : ARK
42,427,00070 ) ERIELERIEEE - R=ZFT— N
F+ZA=+—HNRERHBEEES (==
—)\F : AR#¥2,271,0007T) & BEEFIEEE
BREA BRI REFEER -

R-ZE—hF+-A=+—0H  ~AEEHKRE
A THRE R =% AR 788,257,000t (=
T—N\F : AR¥614,046,0007T) © LT85 A
REBARMEEEEZENMEFERA - M
AR #674,419,000 (=T —\F : ARK
419,650,0007T) RIS A A Al it 5 EWZE 2 B E
E548 o AR AN AT TR 2R 2 A SRR - MUl 4% 7
RIEEFRIBEE -
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22. PROPERTIES FOR SALE 22 W[ EYE
2019 2018
—B-hE —TN\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T R AREEFIT
Completed properties for sale BTt S 7,227,926 6,947,704
Properties under development for sale Al HEEERYE 39,830,006 34,215,775
47,057,932 41,163,479
2019
—E-hEF
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Analysis of leasehold lands: HE Ltz A4
As at 1 January 2019 R=ZB-hE—-HF—H
Carrying amount BREE 29,182,958
As at 31 December 2019 R=Z-h&E+=H=t+—H
Carrying amount FREIE 34,822,563
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_E—hE+-A=+—HLEE
Total cash outflow RE M85 11,370,056
Additions NE 11,370,056

Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold
lands is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual values are
determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold
lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at
31 December 2019.
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22. PROPERTIES FOR SALE (continued) 22. A HEYE @)

Included in the properties under development for sale as
at 31 December 2019 is carrying value of approximately
RMB23,011,465,000 (2018: RMB23,858,605,000), which
represents the carrying value of the properties expected to be
completed and available for sale after twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2019, land with carrying values of
approximately RMB6,348,122,000 (2018: RMB4,549,627,000)
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings amounting to
RMB1,501,276,000 (2018: RMB1,216,586,000) granted to the
Group (see note 29).

As at 31 December 2019, the directors of the Company
conducted a review of the Group’s properties under
development and for sale. Due to a decrease in the expected
selling price as referenced to the actual selling price during pre-
sale of the relevant properties or the recent prices of similar
properties during the year, the directors of the Company
determined that the net realisable values of certain of the
Group’s properties under development for sale, located in
Foshan, the PRC, are lower than their carrying amounts by
RMB358,710,000 (2018: RMB419,650,000), in aggregate.
The properties under development impaired in prior year
was sold during current year, the respective impairment of
RMB103,941,000 (2018: Nil) was written off. As at 31 December
2019, the carrying amount of properties for sale amounted
to approximately RMB47,057,932,000, net of write down of
RMB674,419,000 (2018: carrying amount of approximately
RMB41,163,479,000, net of write-down of RMB419,650,000) in
the PRC.

NR-E-AE+-A=t+—BafEtEEEREH
YER - BREELHARE23,011,465,000T(=
T— \F : AR¥23,858,605,0007T) 2 W% -
R AREHEEER BT T -EABET
RAl I EYHE 2 REE ©

NR-EBE-AE+-_A=1+—8 AEHEZEMR
BREEA B ARY6,348,122,000T( = — N\
& . ANR#4,549,627,0007T) 2 i - LAGLIR
FTAREEZRITEEAR1,501,276,000 7T
(ZZ—\F : AR¥1,216,586,0007T ) fEH &
RORMIEE29) ©

RZZE—NFE+-_A=+—HB ARREZEm
REBEMBERARASEEHEMELETERN -
HR2EFRNECEHEVENEREERE
PUENTPEEMETEE TR - AQF
EEEFASEMATREBELNE TERES
AEHENEZAERFESEARELRAE
K AR #358,710,000t (= — N\F : AR
#419,650,0007T) ° A F HBRFENEEF
MECRAFELE - BEBEHRRARE
103,941,000 (ZE—NF : T) o RZF
—NEFE+-_A=1+—8 " FEHAIHREEDE
BRI E 4 A R#47,057,932,000 7T (F1BR A
R#674,419,000 KM ) (ZZF — )\ F : BR
E{EX A RMA41,163,479,0007T @ Hkk AR
419,650,0007T HIHUR ) °
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. R R HAEKFRTE

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFT

Trade receivables (Note i) ER R (M i) 19,814 2,386

Other receivables H b fE Y SRIB

Other prepaid non-income tax Hb BRI IEFMBH 1,457,146 683,375

Other receivables and prepayments H A e U ROE K A A R O0E 350,905 226,651
Amounts due from intermediate holding JiE Uk R B B A B kI (K ain)

companies (Note i) 1,131 376
Amounts due from non-controlling interests FEU S N 4 2 3R IE (K 27 )

(Note i) 7,748,152 5,384,063
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Note i) FE U B BB A BRI (M atii) 48,101 17,990
Amounts due from associates (Note jii) JE A B 2 N B RRIA (T Al 1,414,999 777,922
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note iv) FEUR G & RIE (K aFiv) 9,325,568 6,856,282
Amount due from an investee JEUR I BB R A 26,932 84,750

20,372,934 14,031,409

Less: Amounts expected to be received after W TR — R IR ¢

one year:
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note iv) &L EZRBE(KZEiv) 2,512,813 4,904,194
Amount due from an associate (Note iii) JrE W — R B & A BRI (M atini) 687,949 704,107
3,200,762 5,608,301
17,172,172 8,423,108
17,191,986 8,425,494
Notes: Kizt -

(i) Trade receivables mainly arise from properties operation income and rental 0) HRmEIWHIE T EEAAQYES BN ELBRARE

income from the Properties Segment. A ©

The Group's credit terms with its trade customers are generally within
30 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding

receivables in order to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed MR A B EHIE AR o

regularly by senior management.

Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid in accordance with the

terms of the related sales and purchase agreements, normally within 60 days HBEHE0E R -

from the date of agreement.
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HE=-F

—AFTZA=1—HIEFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(ii)
(iii)

(iv)

(continued)
The ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period,
based on the invoice date, is as follows:

23. ¥ R EMEWFIE &)

Htat - (%)

(i)

(#)
W& RRAE ARERBEFE 2 2B RETURRR
DL

2019 2018

—B-hF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AREBFT

0 - 180 days 0Z=180H 10,871 1,678
181 — 365 days 181HAE365H 8,180 5
Over 1 year BB —F 763 703
19,814 2,386

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are customers with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB763,000 (2018: RMB703,000) which
are aged over one year and past due at the end of the reporting period for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. Before accepting
any new customers, the Group assessed the credit quality of trade and other
receivables based on historical default rates and the repayment records and
considered adequate allowance has been made at the end of the reporting
period.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable over one year.

Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2019, amount
of RMB314,685,000 (2018: Nil) is due from Xixian Wenmao, which is
unsecured, interest bearing at a fixed rate of 6% per annum and repayable
within one year. The remaining amounts of current receivables are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand for both years.

Included in the non-current receivables as at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable over one year.

The non-current receivables as at 31 December 2019 are unsecured, bear
fixed interest rate ranging from 6% to 7% per annum and repayable over
one year.

Included in the non-current receivables as at 31 December 2018, amounts
of approximately RMB568,980,000 and RMB951,776,000 are due from
Nanjing Huilong and Chongging Hanzhi respectively, which are unsecured
and repayable over one year. The amount due from Nanjing Huilong is
interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank
of China and the amount due from Chongging Hanzhi is interest bearing
at a fixed rate of 4.9% per annum. The remaining amounts of non-current
receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable over one year.

Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2019, amounts of
approximately RMB3,216,740,000 are unsecured, bear fixed interest rate
ranging from 4.9% to 8% per annum and repayable on demand. The
remaining amounts of current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2018, the amounts are
unsecured and repayable on demand. Except for amount of approximately
RMB1,678,942,000 is interest bearing at 5.7% per annum, the remaining
amounts are interest-free.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set
out in note 38.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

AN B RS FE WK IB A S N BRE B 4258 A R 763,000
T(ZF—)\F : AR¥703,0007T) & BRikBB—4F
REHRAE B0 - MASEY A EHREESE
Bl - REMEAFELA AEEERBEZENE
RESRGCHTHEBREMERFIEZEEER - TR
AERBEPREE AEL 8D 4 -

SEREER  RERN—FRER

—hE+-_A=+—ANnReEKZEA /\E
ﬁ%’314,685,0007t(2018¢ ) A TS B SR B R
H - HAEKR - L6e%MEEFFNRFTERR—FA

BE - MBERFUANABABEER - 2B REERR

M EFEAEER -
—NER—F-N\Ft-A=t—H0FRH

HSZ,AIEW Eiﬁ%,\, I 2R RN — Efétai&_n

—NE+ZA=+—AKEREERIE A EE
#F LA6%17%E‘JIE¢$‘JW+E&EC FIREER -

RZZ—N\F+_A=1+—HANFERBERFKIERN - &
*E%’J)\Ewﬁses 980,0007T & A R#951,776,0007T 2
SRR AEKEREEREEHERE - HAERER
ER—FREE - B ERRIET AR B ARRT
REMDARBEEERFRAS - MEKRERBERIE
Al LA4.9% & [E T8 F 7 R 51 B o 67 B FE WRIR I 45 41
REER  RERR—FEER-

REZFE-—AF+-A=+—BHnREELKRERN  £58
#NR™3,216,740,0007C & EIKIF - LA4.9% E8%H)
EEREGFBRIZEREE - RBEBFENERE
IR - 8 RIRERKIEE -

RZZ-—N\FTZA=+—HHRDERFIEAN - Z2
BERAEERRIZERER - KN ARM1,678,942,000
TCHVFRIALAS.7 % HISFF RGN - RERER -

EH R E M EUFOR 2 RERT i BB FE38

—E—

NFEFH BARERARAT 223



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 24,

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The
bank balances carry variable interest rates from 0.001% to 1.1%
(2018: 0.001% to 1.5%) per annum.

Analysis of bank balances and cash denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entities of the Group to
which they relate:

RITEHRRRAE
BITEBERGOERSRRINEA=EA
KA T ZRERITIER < |RITHEBBFNEN
F0.001%E1.1%(=F —/\F : 0.001% =
1.5%) 2 FBMEFE

NAEEHAERNEEENIINEEFEZR
THRESBNIREDITIT

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Denominated in HK$ LAVE S EHE
Denominated in United States dollars (“US$") MET([E7T])sHE

735,072 87,902
976 272,625

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25.

B RHMENKE

2019 2018
—E-F —FT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBET T

Trade payables (Note i) 276 S ERE (W 5Ei) 7,981,782 4,294,917
Other payables H th FE < 5018
Other non-income tax payables HAtnIERE B BRI /I 1,923,486 255,101
Other payables and accrued charges H i fE AT 738 & e R S 1,257,750 882,620
Amounts due to intermediate holding FE A B I R A B SR IB (B9 707)

companies (Note i) 1,515,874 2,838,266
Amounts due to non-controlling interests P& FEVE R A 2 SR IR (B aii)

(Note ii) 2,052,694 109,471
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note i) JE 5 [B) 2 B /B A B k8 (Kt aztii) 164,096 168,547
Amounts due to joint ventures (Note /i) FERTA 1> 2 200E (f52ii) 1,107,320 1,070,952
Amounts due to associates (Note /i) JE < Bé 44 X R 2R3E (B 32ir) 883,599 433,884
Dividend payable (Note ii) FERT AR B (B atii) 1,452,031 962,033

10,356,850 6,720,874

18,338,632 11,015,791
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 25. EB R HE MRS RE @)

Notes: Bt -

(i) Trade payables arise from Properties Segment comprise construction costs (i) WD B2 EG RN R BIEE RN A R E A 1E B HE
and other project-related expenses which are payable based on project X DIRBEBEEXN  BRSEBENRIEZ T
progress and the average credit period of these trade payables is 60 days. HIEEHAR60RA - AEBEE S EMBRRB BB © )
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all WRATA RN RIBHESEERRA -
payables are within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice AT RRREPEEE B RER AP E 2 EBRAR
date, at the end of the reporting period: HERER DT
2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBF T
0 to 60 days 0£60H 4,138,742 1,434,640
61 to 180 days 61£2180H 1,929,141 319,582
181 to 365 days 181%365H 1,138,470 1,546,752
Over 365 days 838365 H 775,429 993,943
7,981,782 4,294,917
(i) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. (i) ZESER/EER  ROWERERER -
26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEAE
31.12.2019
—E-hF
+=A=+-R
RMB’000
ARBTT

Lease liabilities payable: ENAEEE :

Within one year —FR 22,521

Within a period of more than one year but not more Bl —FE N RARERER

than two years 19,251

Within a period of more than two years but not more 8 8 W B iR B A B A

than five years 57,915
Within a period of more than five years HBAAFHER 177,647
277,334
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown & : 71218 B R 5| B 4 & &) 2518
under current liabilities (REBAEIIR) (22,521)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown W28 A& 2 Bl E 508
under non-current liabilities (RIERBBETIT) 254,813
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27. LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
Amounts represent loans from non-controlling equity holder of
subsidiaries of the Group.

The maturity of the loans from non-controlling interests is
analysed as follows:

27. FEREZER

FRcBEEASENBARNIFERESRE
ANEK e

FEERRERERNIBERSTAT

2019 2018
—E-7F —T-N\F
RMB'000  RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Within 1 year —FR 736,546 1,408,924
Between 1 and 2 years —EMF 33,956 1,255,843
Over 2 years B E N 5 3,228,684 3,680,888
3,999,186 6,345,655
Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown A R —F AR B FRIE
under current liabilities (REBAETIR) (736,546)  (1,408,924)
Amounts due after 1 year shown as R—F &2 HR I8
non-current liabilities (RIERBARETIR) 3,262,640 4,936,731

Analysis of loan from a non-controlling interest denominated
in currency other than the functional currency of the respective
entity of the Group to which it relate:

2019 2018
—2-h&E —T-)\F
RMB'O00  RMB'000

ARET T ARETTT

Denominated in United States dollars (“US$") LAETT([ T ) E

700,913 693,217
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27. LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

Details of the terms of the loans are set out as below:

27. EERESZER (@)

BEREROFBOT

Effective
interest rate
per annum 2019 2018
BRERE —E-NE —T-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Fixed-rate loans denominated in: LR EEAENTEESER
4.35% to 8%
RMB NG (2018: 4.75% t0 6.6%) 3,298,273 4,455,146
4.35%%8%
(ZB-N\E : 475%%6.6%)
us$ ey 4% (2018: 4%) 700,913 693,217
4% (ZF—\F : 4%)
3,999,186 5,148,363
Variable-rate loans denominated in: AT S8 EHERZ B E
RMB Benchmark Loan
Rates offered by the
RMB ARHEE People’s Bank of China - 1,197,292
HEARRITIRML
MARBEEERFIE
3,999,186 6,345,655
28. LOANS FROM AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING  28. BiZEER AT ERK
COMPANY
For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the current HE_Z hﬁ&_g NFE+=—_A=+—H
portion of loans from an intermediate holding company are IEFE - AEZERARERZ BB AEE
unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates PR ARRITREZ ARBEESZF
offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable on demand. TR ©
For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the non- BE_Z—hWFr_ZFE—/\F+=-—_A=+—H
current portion of loan from an intermediate holding company JJ:EJ* Fﬁ?ﬂ BRARERZIERE B AE
are unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates B - ?12¢'/\E$F'<fﬂm1 ZANREEEETIR

offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable in 2021.

MEFHE  WAR T —FEE -

—NFFHR BEREHEGRAT 227



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

29. BANK BORROWINGS 29. RITEE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZE-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T AR®ET T

Bank borrowings, unsecured (Note i) BERRITEE (7)) 11,262,272 5,698,284
Bank borrowings, secured (Note ii) BEBEITEE (B2 1,501,276 1,216,586
12,763,548 6,914,870
Less: Amounts classified as current liabilities B D BEARBEEZESRE (1,289,292)  (1,095,980)
Amounts classified as non-current liabilities DERERBEECSE 11,474,256 5,818,890

Carrying amount repayable:* JEEERHEE « *

Within one year —FR 1,289,292 1,095,980
More than one year but not more than two years #838 — {8 T3 1BRNE 5,476,554 894,700
More than two years but not more than five years 838 ™M {8 14338 1 4F 5,997,702 4,924,190
12,763,548 6,914,870

3 The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the o FEREDASRNERIBEANZ RERREPRELE -

loan agreements.

The Group’s bank borrowings were subject to variable-rate AEEZRITEESFIRARBEEEFHF =X
interest at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates or fixed-rate interest at REWZZHEEIAPBEARBITREZA
RMB Benchmark Loan Rates per annum offered by the People’s REBERMNESEM ZETE L XL - A5H
Bank of China at the respective date of borrowings’ agreements. HRITEEZERFEMENTL40%E55%(=ZF
The effective interest rates on the Group’s bank borrowings —N\F 1% ZE5.7%) °

ranged from 4.0% t0 5.5% (2018: 4.1% to 5.7 %) per annum.

Notes: Hfat

(i) Amounts of RMB2,919,454,000 (2018: RMB650,000,000) are bank (i) SRHARM2,919,454,000 (=T —NF : AR®
borrowings from China Merchants Bank (“CMB") which is an associate 650,000,0007T) % B B /& B 2 B & A 7 B R1T
of CMG. Also, included in the balance was borrowings of approximately ([HBERIT]) ZRITEE o I - BRABBRAHARE
RMB 180,000,000 (2018: RMB401,906,000) that are guaranteed by the non- 180,000,0007T (=2 — /A4 : AR#¥401,906,0007T)
controlling interests and by the Company. T EER R RAARERZEE °

(i) As at 31 December 2019, land with carrying values of approximately (i) RZZB-AFTZA=+—8  A5EEERKREE
RMB6,348,122,000 (2018: RMB4,549,627,000) have been pledged 9B ARH6,348122,000L (—E—N\GF : AR%
to secure bank borrowings amounting to RMB1,501,276,000 (2018: 4,549,627,0007T) 2 £ - ABRK FAREKE 2 R1T
RMB1,216,586,000) granted to the Group. BEEAR%1,501,276,000 (=T —N\F : AR%

1,216,586,0007T ) {EHH &R

(iii)  As at 31 December 2019, amounts of approximately RMB2,255,686,000 (i) MR=T—NAF+=-A=+—8  HAKR¥?2,255,686,000

(2018: RMB552,772,000) were guaranteed by China Merchants Shekou. THEHEABARAER(ZZE—NF : AR%

552,772,0007T) °
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30. BOND PAYABLE 30. EfSfEH
2019 2018
—E-NF —F—)\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTTT
Carrying amount repayable over one year BiE—FrEERREE 1,900,000 1,900,000
In December 2018, the Company issued a bond with aggregated RZE-—NF+ZA ' RARETACEHE
principal amounted to RMB1,900,000,000, interest bearing at A A KR #1,900,000,0007T & H  IREF|X
4.6% per annum, payable quarterly and will be mature in 2021. 4.6%:tE - BERERBER-_Z=-—F3H -
The Company did not issue any new bond in 2019. AARRZE—NFWEETEMPES
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BRA
Ordinary share capital of the Company ARRAZEBRRA
Number
of shares Amount
RS E k|
HK$’000
BETR
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each BREEA0.01TT TR
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, and 31 December R=ZE—N\F—A—H  —T—\F+=-A
2019 =+-BE=2-A&£+=A=+—A  30,000,000,000 300,000
Number
of shares Equivalent to
R%EE HER
HK$'000 RMB'000
BET T ARETR
Issued and fully paid: BRITRABE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and RZEBE-NF-A—HB ZZ-N1
31 December 2019 F+-A=+—HAK=Z—L&
+-—A=+—H 4,905,257,860 49,053 39,132
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32. DEEMED DISPOSAL AND PARTIAL DISPOSAL 32. REHEREERIHEBE AR Z

OF INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(I) For the year ended 31 December 2019

R
) 8Z2==EZ—"hF+=-A=+—HLt

On 20 March 2019, Xixian Wenmao, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary, entered into a capital injection
agreement with an independent third party (the
“Acquirer”) by issuance of new shares of Xixian Wenmao
to the Acquirer. Upon the issuance of new shares, the
Group's equity interest in Xixian Wenmao was diluted from
100% to 50%. The dilution of the Group’s equity interest in
Xixian Wenmao constituted a disposal of the Group’s equity
interest in subsidiary. The disposal resulted in the loss of
control over Xixian Wenmao by the Group, and the Group
accounted for the retained equity interest of HK$5,075,000
held by the Group as an interest in an associate. The gain
on disposal was recorded in the consolidated statement of
profit and loss account.

The fair value of the 50% retained equity interest in Xixian
Wenmao at the date on which control was lost were
regarded as the cost in initial recognition of the Group's

FE

MNZZBE-—NEFE=A=+H AR E(E—
REEE2ENB AR B—RBYE=FH
(TR 1) EBRIKEEFBEITARN R Z
FRMAEINEE WaE - RBETHRMNE
NE BB SR 2 AR B 100% #EE =
50% ° ZN & BT R 3K 2 AR SE R K
REERMBAR Z R HESE - B
EEEE NS B R EE R SUR 2 E
HE - T AN SR B A AN AR B R T R SR 2 AR
22 I HE 5 55,075,000 TT AR B &2 A R 2
AN - PERBCRGEAIBRERAR -

PSR K2 M B B RS 050% R B A
%2 AT ERRBDRERAEERE
DRV 2 A -

interests in associate.

Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date of disposal of Q
Xixian Wenmao are as follows: (ER U
RMB’000
AR®T T
Properties for sale Al E Y 662,048
Trade and other receivables ZET5 I HoAh e WOk 1A 263
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR KRR 7,090
Trade and other payables EEREMERNRIA (664,530)
4,871

Less: fair value of the 50% retained equity interest & : AN EIE B H50% IR Bz~ A F(E

held by the Group — classified as interest in — AN —HBE AR Ex

an associate 5,075
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHE ARz K= (204)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: EXBEE RS F5E :

Bank balances and cash disposed of BEHEZRITHEBRKEIE S (7,090)
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32. DEEMED DISPOSAL AND PARTIAL DISPOSAL
OF INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(I) For the year ended 31 December 2018

(i)

On 18 December 2017, Foshan Merchants Property
Development Co., Ltd.* (“Foshan Merchants”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an equity interest transfer agreement
("“Agreement 1”) with Foshan Yi Yun Property
Development Co., Ltd. * (“Foshan Yi Yun”), a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company to which
the Group has 50% interest of its equity. Pursuant
to Agreement | among other things, Foshan Yi Yun
has conditionally agreed to purchase 100% of the
equity interest in Foshan Merchants Brilliant Property
Development Co., Ltd. (“Foshan Brilliant”), a then
wholly-owned subsidiary of Foshan Merchants, at
a consideration of RMB2,110,201,000. The equity
interest transfer was completed on 19 January 2018.
Upon completion of the equity interest transfer,
Foshan Yi Yun holds directly the entire equity interest
in Foshan Brilliant and the Group holds, indirectly
through Foshan Yi Yun, 50% of the equity interest
in Foshan Brilliant. As the Group remains its control
over Foshan Brilliant through its control over Foshan
Yi Yun, Foshan Brilliant remains as a subsidiary of
the Company after the transaction which is then
accounted for as an equity transaction.

The difference between the fair value of the portion
of consideration paid by Foshan Yi Yun, to the extent
of interest not related to the Group, and 50% of net
assets in Foshan Brilliant amounted to approximately
RMB6,087,000 was recognised by the Group in equity
transaction reserve.

NR.BREHERHERIHBAR Z
= om)

nm B2==—N\E+=-A=+—HL
FE

)

R-ZZBE—+F+=-A+/7\H  XAdF
2EMBRAHLBEEHERRA
A (TEFILHBR ) AR F3E 2 & M B
REIBILEEREMESR AR ([ #L
KE] REBEREE=THEE50%
) Bl REE E A (B — 0%
&1 o RIEE—HiHE - ERaE
HBILEKEEKRGREBERLBE
ERNEZEKN BB ILBELE
BHEAR AR ([E#ILE])100%
fetE - REAARK2,110,201,000
Lo BREEEER_ZT—\F—A
THHETEK o RIREEETKE @
IWMEEEERFE BRI ESIIE -
mASEREEBEILKERFEHL
HES0% K - AR AKEFEBHE
R LK = By 1 I R D AR OR BB L S 1%
e EE P il - BRI R ZER R 5
(BRERRERZZAR)BDARBAE
NEIMHT B AT

MEREEEEANERTMS LK
EMTMREILD ZAFEED G
I ES0R EEFE LM EZEHA
R #6,087,000 T E AL E iR AR
mR G e
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32. DEEMED DISPOSAL AND PARTIAL DISPOSAL
OF INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(I1) For the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(i)  On 25 April 2018, Foshan Merchants entered into
an equity interest transfer agreement (“Agreement
[1”) with Foshan Yi Yun, pursuant to which among
other things, Foshan Yi Yun has conditionally agreed
to purchase 100% of the equity interest in Foshan
Merchants Zhonghuan Property Development Co.,
Ltd.* (“Foshan Zhonghuan”), a then wholly-owned
subsidiary of Foshan Merchants, at a consideration of
RMB1,735,041,000. The equity interest transfer was
completed on 9 May 2018. Upon completion of the
equity interest transfer, Foshan Yi Yun holds directly
the entire equity interest in Foshan Zhonghuan and
the Group holds, indirectly through Foshan Yi Yun,
50% of the equity interest in Foshan Zhonghuan. As
the Group remains its control over Foshan Zhonghuan
through its control over Foshan Yi Yun, Foshan
Zhonghuan remains as a subsidiary of the Company
after the transaction which is then accounted for as an
equity transaction.

The difference between the fair value of the portion
of consideration paid by Foshan Yi Yun, to the extent
of interest not related to the Group, and the 50%
of net assets in Foshan Zhonghuan amounted to
approximately RMB4,093,000 was recognised by the
Group in equity transaction reserve.

(i)  On 26 November 2018, the Group disposed of 20%
equity interests in Nanjing Ningsheng and Nanjing
Xingsheng respectively to an independent third party,
and leading to loss of control upon completion of
the transaction. The transaction was accounted for
as disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries resulting
in loss of control. After the completion of the partial
disposal, Nanjing Ningsheng and Nanjing Xingsheng
became the associates of the Group. The fair value of
the 31% retained interests in Nanjing Ningsheng and
Nanjing Xingsheng at the date on which control was
lost were regarded as the cost in initial recognition of
the Group's interests in associates.
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(iii)

RZZE—N\FOA=+HH ' #HIL7E
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BB AT -
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32. DEEMED DISPOSAL AND PARTIAL DISPOSAL
OF INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(I) For the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
(i) (continued)
Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date in loss of
control of Nanjing Ningsheng and Nanjing Xingsheng
are as follows:

NR.A|AELHERELERIHBELARTZ
= om)
nm B2==—N\E+=-A=+—HL
FE#E)
(i) (#&)
KEMAER MR EERNTTIEE
BEUEERNEERBENT ¢

RMB’000
AR¥T T
Property, plant and equipment (Note 74) Y% - BB REE (ML 14) 150
Properties for sale A EE 23,868
Trade and other receivables, prepayments and IR H M EIERIE « AN RIE RIS
deposits 125,457
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRNIEE 64,485
Trade and other payables 5 RAEMER IR (54,672)
159,288
Less: Fair values of 31% retained equity interest ¥ : NEEE A N31 %R B2 AFE
held by the Group - classified as interests in — DR RREE R TR
associates 51,866
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M2 78,053
Consideration received by cash LAIR & I (X (B 31,187
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHB R B A = (1,818)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEBEAMIBERLIFEE
Consideration received by cash PATR & YER B R (B 31,187
Bank balances and cash disposed of EHEMNRITEHREES (64,485)
(33,298)
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33.

34.

FAFFZASt—ALEE

ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN
A SUBSIDIARY

On 31 May 2019, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into an agreement with DGW Jurong Investment Alpha
SP, a non-controlling shareholder of Torch Investment Company
Limited (“Torch Investment”), a 70% owned subsidiary of the
Company, to further acquire the remaining 30% equity interest
of Touch Investment and its subsidiary at a cash consideration of
HK$110,800,500 (equivalent to approximately RMB94,645,000).
The acquisition was completed on 31 May 2019. Upon
completion, the Company holds 100% equity interest in Torch
Investment, which became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

DEEMED ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2018, Nanjing DJZ Trading was 60%
directly held by the Group, and remaining 40% was held by
Nanjing Dingjiazhuang Logistics Center Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing DJZ
Logistics”), an independent third party to the Group. Nanjing
DJZ Trading was accounted for as a joint venture as the decision
making process about the operating, investing and financing
activities of Nanjing DJZ Trading requires unanimous consent
from the Group and Nanjing DJZ Logistics pursuant to the signed
agreements.

Pursuant to the revised memorandum and association dated 1
July 2019, the Group is able to exercise control over Nanjing DJZ
Trading and accordingly Nanjing DJZ Trading became a subsidiary
of the Group.
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34. DEEMED ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. RIEWE — R E QR @)

(continued)

Amounts
recognised
at the date
of deemed
acquisition

R
Wi B 5
BRAZLE
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of ~ FAEEUREE B ERFTUCES 2 & & K PR

deemed acquisition: ZB8fE

Equipment (Note 14) = (Ffat14) 12

Deferred tax asset (Note 21) RERIEE E (Mat21) 64

Deferred tax liability (Note 21) BB aE M F21) (115,360)

Property under development BRI 888,035

Other receivables H i fE U IR 495

Bank balances and cash IRITHER LR & 6,539

Trade and other payables EE R EMEN IR (1,736)

778,049

Carrying amount of interest in a joint venture RZZE-NFLA-—BREEREZ

asat 1 July 2019 Rz RHEE (448,816)
Add: Non-controlling interests b0 SRR AE RS (311,220)
Less: Net assets acquired W gz EEFE 778,049
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HEE SRR 18,013
Analysis of inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEWENBATIZRE RERIESIER

respect of deemed acquisition of a subsidiary: SEADHTIT

Bank balances and cash acquired BUYEERITESREE S 6,539
The 40% non-controlling interests in Nanjing DJZ Trading BRI REMENIE B HmERA40%IEE R
recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to Bm V2 EZ0 R REREC EEFE
share of net assets of Nanjing DJZ Trading. mEEE °
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY ACCOUNTED
FOR AS ASSET ACQUISITION
(i) Cheuk Tat Acquisition (i)

35. IWEEFT B D Bl A BRSIEE E U EB

ERREEER

On 18 August 2016, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) with China
Merchants Properties Development Limited (“CM
Properties”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company, to
acquire the entire share capital of Cheuk Tat Development
Limited (“Cheuk Tat”), a subsidiary of CM Properties,
and all outstanding shareholder loan of approximately
HK$239,681,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB194,118,000) owing by Cheuk Tat to CM Properties
at the date of completion of the aforesaid acquisition for
a total consideration of approximately HK$608,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB492,000,000) (the
consideration is subject to adjustment as defined in the
Acquisition Agreement but capped at HK$609,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB493,121,000)) (the
“Cheuk Tat Acquisition”). The adjusted consideration
was approximately HK$609,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB492,924,000) which was paid by cash.
The Cheuk Tat Acquisition was completed on 28 February
2018. Upon completion, the Company holds 100% equity
interest in Cheuk Tat, which became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Cheuk Tat is principally engaged in property investment in
Hong Kong and up to the date of acquisition, Cheuk Tat has
not carried out any significant business transaction except
for holding certain completed properties in Hong Kong. The
Cheuk Tat Acquisition has been accounted for by the Group
as acquisition of assets.
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY ACCOUNTED 35. WEBHi B AR A BRI IEEE IS
FOR AS ASSET ACQUISITION (continued) (4%)
(i) Cheuk Tat Acquisition (continued) (i) =BWKE=EEE)

Net assets of Cheuk Tat acquired: Frik i 215 2 EEFE ¢
RMB’000
ARBT T
Other receivables H i fE U ZRIE 309
Investment properties (Note 16) BREWME(HF16) 488,370
Bank balances and cash IRTTRESBR R ® 4,247
Other payables H At fE 3IE (2)
Shareholder loan BRERER (194,118)
298,806
Satisfied by cash consideration for Shareholder loan  HAIR&HREBAERRER 194,118
Net assets of Cheuk Tat BiszEEFE 298,806
492,924
Consideration KRB
Cash paid BB 443,520
Deposit paid in previous year RAI—FEBE NS 49,404
492,924
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition WIEEA 2R R FE
Cash paid BENERE 443,520
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B BIRNEBIRITAERKIRE (4,247)
439,273
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36. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

(i)

(ii)

Plans for Hong Kong employees

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all its
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

Plans for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes.
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37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. 62k ER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of lease liabilities,
loans from non-controlling interests and an intermediate holding
company, bond payable and bank borrowings net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity, comprising share capital, share
premium, various reserves and non-controlling interests.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital, cost of debts, gearing
ratios and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues,
the payment of dividends as well as the issue of new debts or the
repayment of existing debts.

Group entities which were established in the PRC maintained
RMB denominated bank balances, the remittance of these funds
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the
PRC government.

The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting period
was as follows:

AEEEREEES  MERAEEZERB KR
WARERETAEE  RABTERERTE
BEBERA 2 ZERATASRRFNK AL
o ARBEBRMELEFRITTE o

AEEZEARBRERERE  FERER
REEZEBRARER - BN ESF K RERITE
B RNEReLERBASHEBUALER (B
A~ BREVEE - RERBRIFERER)

ARREZERRMAENERE - ERRE — 8
D RNARBFEBEAKAE - BHRA - &
ERBLERZTBEAEBRZAR - BRAR
REZEZHBRER  AKEMBEETHR K
NERBARETHEXEEREEY  FEHE
BRERGERE -

RPBRIZAREERFEAARKFEZ
RITHES  BPBEERZERRBETHEK
TE 2 LR

REERREHEERER2ERBELENOT

2019 2018

—E-hE —T—N\fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARET T

Debt (Note i) B (M aEi) 22,238,366 18,648,136
Bank balances and cash RITEHRKIRS (8,957,799) (6,366,261)
Net debt FET 13,280,567 11,781,875
Equity (Note ii) WS (BT aEii) 28,829,567 23,797,028
Net debt to equity ratio TRETS SRR R 0.46 0.50
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37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 37. Ec R EE @)
Notes: B -
(i) Debt is defined as lease liabilities, loans from non-controlling interests and an (i) BEDERATEAE  FEREZREEERARE
intermediate holding company, bond payable and bank borrowings. ;o BRAEHFARRITEE ©
(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and non-controlling (i) HEVEASREMEEARRGEEARIEERERS -
interests.
38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. €@ T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) TRITEDE
2019 2018
—E2-nE —B2-\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial asset at FVTPL BAVEFABENECHEE 104,492 16,711
Loans and receivables =5/ 95% 1 &8

(including bank balances and cash) (BRERITEBRIRE) 27,841,433 20,187,623
Financial liabilities sHMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEERATEZEHERE 38,364,486 29,336,970

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEREREEEEREEK

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, bank balances and cash, financial assets
at FVTPL, loans from non-controlling interests and an
intermediate holding company, trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, lease liabilities and bond payable. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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38. T H @)
(b) MERBREERERBE M)

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk TG Rk

Currency risk Bk

The Group has foreign currency denominated other RNEEZ B A EYCRIR - IRITASRURE
receivables, bank balances, and other payables, fib FE {5 SRIB LA SNEE SH1E ?E;ﬁlzli‘ilﬁﬁ
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The INERR - BIRERE %Wl\”#%?ﬂ
management has closely monitored foreign exchange TSR EE 212 7 S R

exposure and will undertake necessary procedures to
mitigate the currency risk.

AEBIMNEHEZEREERER AR
RBERREER ZEmEWT :

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE =L
2019 2018 2019 2018

—2-hE T\ ZB-AE —T)\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AR®TE AR®TR ARETR

HK$ ks 3,425 100,427 165 101,788

us$ e

976 272,625 885,039 2,466,705

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk from
assets and liabilities denominated in HK$ and US$. No
sensitivity analysis is presented for RMB, against the
functional currency of respective group entities in HK$
because the risk is considered insignificant.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2018: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB, the functional
currency of respective group entities, against US$ which
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding US$ denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2018: 5%) change in
foreign currency rate. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit where RMB strengthens 5%
(2018: 5%) against US$ and vice versa.

BURRE DT
AEET2AF BB R ETHENEE
MEBEERRAR - BREITLRUAR
KEEREEER 2R EEERKZS
BRERIETERK -

TRAMAEBRARE (HHEEEER
O EE) RETAERRES%(ZF
—NF 5%)2;1”? EZ@&Z@ETJ%?

- MEREDWE a%b&%ﬁ%ﬂﬁz%%
HEWIER  URNREHMEEE BRI
[ERZ5%(=F—/\F : 5%)EEPRHEH
BmE o PTEBETREAREHLET LI

5% (=F—/\F : 5%) BRI 1% 5 A 2 38
MERE - RZTR -
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38. M T B (@)
(b) MEEAREERERKE (&)

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

TG E KR (4F)
B (&)
BRE DT (&)
2019 2018
—E-NEF —F-)\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TT ARETT

Profit for the year F R )

36,911 91,603

Interest rate risk

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate interest bearing receivables and
payables, including amounts due from joint ventures, bank
balances, bank borrowings, loans from an intermediate
holding company and loans from non-controlling interests.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
its fixed-rate loans from non-controlling interests, amounts
due from associates, amounts due from joint ventures, bank
borrowings, lease liabilities and bond payable.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy in relation to fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk. However, management of the Group
monitors interest rate exposure on an on-going basis and
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of RMB Benchmark Loan
Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been prepared assuming
these financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis points (2018: 50 basis points) increase or decrease
is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis
points) higher/lower for variable-rate interest bearing
financial assets/liabilities and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year would
decrease/increase by RMB7,511,000 (2018: decrease/
increase by RMB3,513,000).

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from:

e the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the end of each reporting
period; and

e  the amount of financial guarantees provided by the
Group as disclosed in note 42.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of
bank balances. At 31 December 2019, approximately
51% (2018: 41%) of the bank balances were deposited at
CMB. Except for approximately 14% (2018: 24%) of the
bank balances deposited at China Construction Bank (Asia)
Limited and approximately 9% (2018: 10%) of the bank
balances deposited at Agricultural Bank of China, deposits
in other banks are individually less than 10% of total bank
deposits and bank balances. The credit risk of these liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are either state-
owned banks located in the PRC or banks with high credit
ratings.

38. T H @)
(b) MERBREERERBE M)

™% Bk ()

RSN AG )

BRRE DT

AT BRERE DN RN IS HEEE R
ZHERBESHTANBFREENR
B o QAR T BEIE A B & R E
PR LTt e NRESOEER (T — N5 :
SOfEEEL) » ARz STE A aE

WA B KT EZEREE,BEME
EA/THRS0MEEZ(=ZF— /\4F : 501@
B )MATBEEMERRIFZITE  A5£E
F R Bk mémﬂha/d/PMAE%
7,511,000 (= — N\F : {Pd A
R #3,513,0007T) °

FERR
AEERRZH T REEE ,if?cﬁﬁ%\@(
AEBEELMBIERZ & KT% DA

o EWREHHLERLGKAETBHKARA
FrolSEEEEReMEEZRE
B &

o HEAMEA2PTERANEEREE M
BHEREH

AEEBZRITEHBBEERBREFRIER
RZF—NF+ZA=1+—8 ' RIT&EH
#951% (ZF—\F : 41%) FRABE
BT - BRIRITAEBRN14%(ZF—\F ¢
24%) K #19% (= F— )\4F : 10%) FHHA
REEZBIT(EMNBRARRFEEE
RITHN - BRI E A IRTTIF SR D R ERITTF 5K
FIRITHBBERE Z210% - HRR U F A
MAPEZBEERITIEASEETR R
7 BHETHESZ EERREBR -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

38. M T B (@)
(b) MEEAREERERKE (&)

policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of
amounts due from intermediate holding companies, non-
controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates, joint
ventures and an investee. In order to minimise the credit
risk on these amounts, the management of the Company
continuously monitors the credit quality and financial
conditions of intermediate holding companies, non-
controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures and the level of exposure to ensure that follow
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Based on the
assessment on the market condition and current budget
of property development projects held by the relevant joint
ventures, associates and subsidiaries of the Group held
by non-controlling interests, the directors of Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk in respect of these
balances is insignificant.

The Group provides guarantees to banks in connection with
certain customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to finance
their purchase of the Group's properties. If a purchaser
defaults on the payment of its mortgage during the period
of guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may demand
the Group to repay the outstanding loan and any interest
accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to repossess the properties for resale. Therefore,
the management of the Company consider it would
likely recover any loss incurred arising from the guarantee
provided by the Group. No such repossession of properties
occurred during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
nil).
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. 2@ T B @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MERBEEBERBEE (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued) FERR(E)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment REEHAIEERRTRTEEEAT
comprises the following categories: 15l
Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
REEE TR it EBEWRIEA HihemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12-month ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts impaired
ERR HFEFMEARRRE BVEETMEATIE 2HEHEEEE-KREE 2EAEREEER
RE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL - not credit- ~ 12-month ECL
but usually settles in full impaired
BRRE BEHEARERIBEZER  HEE2HEE 2HRNGEEHE-REE 2EAEDREEER
A
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - not credit-  Lifetime ECL - not credit-
credit risk since initial recognition impaired impaired
through information developed internally
75t NHFEEFTNENBREERRENARERE 2HBAREEFE-—REE 2HRHBEEEE-—REE
PN A B
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset Lifetime ECL - credit- Lifetime ECL - credit-
is credit-impaired impaired impaired
&8 BEBRRABECEERE ZHEBEEEE - KEE 2HEHREEEE - KEE
RE BB
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off

is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

iz EERARBEBARRNREVBERRE - A% MEEHETE WisH B B RIE
I 4% Bl TR R Y A OB
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL

38. M T B (@)

(b) BMBEREEBERBERHE)

FERR(E)

TRAMAEENSRBEE(HRRIAY
EERRFGHNEERRBA

assessment:
Internal credit 12-month or Gross
rating lifetime ECL carrying amount
1EAHZH
RABEETR BHEEER BEREE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
[z ARETT ARETFT
Amounts due from related parties 23 Note 12-month ECL 18,564,883 13,121,383
FE U Rk 7 3R 0E Bt zE REABHREERSE
Bank balances 24 N/A 12-month ECL 8,957,799 6,866,261
RITHEER TER REAEHEEEE
Other receivables 23 Note 12-month ECL 298,937 197,593
H U RIB Bt aE REAEHEEBRE
Trade receivables 23 Lowrisk Lifetime ECL 19,814 2,386
SBRENGE ERE B 2HRHEEEE

Note: For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, there is no significant increase in credit risk of the
amounts as the amounts are either not past due or with no fixed
repayment terms.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding generated from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings and issue
of new debts. The directors of the Company closely monitor
the liquidity position and expect to have adequate sources
of funding to finance the Group’s projects and operations.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. €Ml T A
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEREEEERKE (&)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REEERARE)
The following table details the Group’s expected remaining TRAFMAEFBIEITES R B ENTEST T
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial HAMBIHER - ZEBEAEFEIHE
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the TS S R R SR ANE A

undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest

o URREBEABZIAMARSRE -
ZREENERACHERE - EFER

and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows ERFHMERE RBEHHEET AR
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from AhIR SRR B FI 4R -

interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

Weighted ~ On demand Total

average  orwithin  61to180  181t0 365 1-2 2-3 Over3 undiscounted  Carrying

interestrate 60 days days days years years years cashflows  amount
nE  &ERE AURRE

TH95%E  R60AA  G1Z180F  181%365A 150E 223 BB fEHE EEE
RMBOOO  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000
AE®Tn ARETR ARETR ARETn ARMTn ARETn ARETR ARETR

At 31 December 2019 RZB-NETZR=1-R
Trade and other payables ERREMENE - 16403454 - - - - - 16403454 16403454
Lease liablities REak 4.80% 6,360 11,691 17,246 31,082 29,160 261,767 363,266 277,334
Loans from non-contralling interests FEERER &3 5.22% - 48T 910849 204883 3332538 - 4475757 3,999,186
Loans from an intermediate holding. EERATER

company 475% 312249 - 209,500 - - - 3331990 3,298,298
Bank borrowings RIS
- fixed rate -8 4.83% = 612,186 69324 1792795 3415728 - 5800033 5431176
- Variable rate -%8 5.05% 5,133 38,704 628,052 4140677 2,905,656 345537 8114759 7332372
Bond payable &% 4.60% - 43,700 43,700 1,987,400 - - 2074800 1,900,000

19,588 437 733,768 1878671 815,797 9,683,082 613304 40,654,059  38,6413820

Finandial quarantee contracts— B1BERAY 4467492 - - - - - 4467492 -
At 31 December 2018 RZF-NETZA=1-H
Trade and other payables ERRANENE - 1068883 = = - - - 1068883 10,688834
Loans from non-controlling FERERET

Interests 4.69% - 143845 29754 1431826 1176671 2780424 7047130 6,345,655
Loans from an intermediate BRERARER

holding company 475% 3313281 - 9,500 209,500 - - 353281 3487611
Bank borrowings RTHEE
~fixed rate -8 5.08% 20,142 650,855 712879 785,234 2,056,475 403273 3988858 3,632,591
- Variable rate -8 5.22% - 150,527 226,591 180,255 2,722,050 46475 3725898 3,280,279
Bonds payable Efif5 4.60% - 43,700 43,700 87400 1,987,400 - 2,162,200 1,900,000

14022257 2283537 572424 2694215 794259 3630172 31145201 29,336,970

Financial quarantee contracts ~ BIBERAH 417233 - - - - - 4172353 -

“TNFER BERBRERAT 247



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NF+-A=1—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(o)

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantors. Based on the expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee, which is a function of
the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparties that are guaranteed by the Group suffer any
credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. €T A

(c) Fair value (continued)
The below tables summarised the financial instruments
measured at fair value:

Fair value
Financial instrument Fair value hierarchy
$RMIA AFE AVFEER
2019 2018
“E-NE —E-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBT R

DN¥EE)
TERBARAFEFENSRTA

Valuation techniques and
significant key or unobservable inputs
HEFTEREATESTAREAARE

Financial asset at FVTPL 104,492 16,711 Level 3
BATESAERREREE E=;

Note: A slight increase/decrease in the discount rate used in valuation would
not result in a significant change in the fair value of the financial asset
at FVTPL.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated
based on expected return, and the contracted
investment costs, discounted at a rate that reflects the
internal rate of return of the underlying investments.
BRALNE - AR RENREEBERMA -
& AR &R A T R BB RE 1R & /) 3D e 3R M R E T
B3 -

Wit : RERAZ R R MREY L TR TEE
BEATEFAREHSRAZ 2 AT ELRE
KEW -

BHE_Z— W&k ZE—N\F+=-A
=+—HILFE  WEEASNEEE=L -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value (continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of financial

38. M T B (@)

DNVEE)
BATEF =R ENEREELR

asset
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE—\F—H B 18,750
Fair value change recognised to profit or loss BREERNAFEED (2,039)
Balance at 31 December 2018 R-ZE—N\E+_-_A=+—HH% 16,711
Capital injection (Note 46) &ﬁ(/fﬁﬁ}%w 84,750
Fair value change recognised to profit or loss BREBRNATEZS) 3,031
Balance at 31 December 2019 —NF+ZA=+—AKNEH 104,492

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted
cash flow analysis.

Valuation processes

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurement are
determined by the directors of the Company.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified valuers to perform the valuation
when considered necessary. The directors of the Company
work closely with the independent qualified valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model. The directors of the Company review the cause
of fluctuations in fair value of the assets and liabilities semi-
annually.
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 39. MEEHZABHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group'’s liabilities arising TRANAREERBE G 2 BEZS  BER
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash e RIFREEY  MEETHELEZBENER
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for RERBEHARKRERENGERERERF
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified SHERMERDHEERECAR -

in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

Non-cash changes
3k 4
Non-cash

1 January Financing Exchange Finance New lease Dividend transactions 31 December
2019 cashflow  adjustment costs incurred entered declared (Note 46) 2019
ZB-NF L FrEEH FRERS ZB-0F
-A-H RENE EXE HERE  AINHEE EERRE (Wi46) +=B=1-8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARMTT ARMTR  ARMTZ  ARBTR  ARETR AR®TR

Amounts due to intermediate  FEREEERAT

holding companies B 2,838,266 (1,322,392) - - - - - 1,515,874
Amounts due to non-controlling  FEf3EERRER
nterests 7B 109,471 1,943,223 - - - - - 2,052,694
Amounts due to fellow ERRZNEAA
subsidiaries B 168,547 (4.451) - - - - - 164,096
Amounts due to joint ventures ~ FERASA%HE 1,070,952 36,368 - - - - - 1,107,320
Amounts due to associates EABELANE 433,884 449,715 - - - - - 883,599
Loans from non-controlling SHEREREH
nterests 6,345,655 (552,822) 11,353 - - - (1,805,000) 3,999,186
Loans from an intermediate ~ EERRARER
holding company 3,487,611 (189,313) - - - - - 3,298,298
Bank borrowings RTEE 6,914,870 5,848,678 - - - - - 12,763,548
Bond payable Efi5 1,900,000 - - - - - - 1,900,000
Lease liabilities HEafE 297,043 (36,752) - 13,919 3124 - - 277,334
Interest payables (incuded in -~ FERFIS (A%
trade and other payables) REMERZE) 80,883  (1,203,867) = 1,122,984 = = - -
Dividend payable (incudedin ~ ERRE(GIA%HE
trade and other payables) REMERTE) 962,033 (686,403) - - - 1,176,401 - 1,452,031
24,609,215 4,281,984 11,353 1,136,903 3124 1,176,401 (1,805,000) 29,413,980
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

30. MME R B 2 EEYHR®)

Non-cash changes
FR2EE
Non-cash
1 January Financing Exchange Finance Dividend transactions 31 December
2018 cash flow adjustment  costs incurred declared (Note 46) 2018
“I-\% BA FEER FHRERS “3-\&
-A-H RenE ERAE HEARAE BEERRE (Wit46) +=R=t1-R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RIB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Amounts due to intermediate holding EfBRERAANE
companies 833,865 2,004,401 - - - - 2,838 266
Amounts due to non-controlling interests EffIEERES T 427613 (318,142) - - - - 109.471
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ERFAZNBARZE 1,802,104 (1,633,557) - - - - 168 547
Amounts due to joint ventures ERAE0ETE 443,679 627273 - - - - 1,070,952
Amounts due to associates EfBEARTE 284,543 149,341 - - - - 433,884
Loans from non-controling interests FERBERER 5,071,395 1433548 36,712 - - (196,000) 6,345,655
Loans from an intermediate holding Bk ARER
company 1,487,606 2,000,005 = = - - 3,487,611
Bank borrowings RIHE 3,751,029 3,163,841 - - - - 6,914,870
Bonds payable EfE% 3,231,826 (1,546,811) 214,985 = - - 1,900,000
Convertible bonds mEkES 1,691,604 (1,930,887 171,957 67,326 - - -
Interest payables (included in trade and EMFEGIAEBR
other payables) EfbEREE) 9,677 (788,366) - 859,572 - - 80,883
Dividend payable (included in trade and ERREGIAEER
other payables) EfbEREE) 120,997 (465,805) - - 1,306,841 - 962,033
19,155,938 2,694,841 423,654 926,898 1,306,841 (196,000) 24312172
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40. OPERATING LEASES 0. K&HE
The Group as a lessor AEBEREHEAA
All of the investment properties held have committed tenants for Bz 2R EMECHPERFENT—F2
the next one to twel